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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

RESULTS

The consolidated turnover of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31
March 2021 amounted to HK$206,605,000
(2020: HK$153,288,000, restated) of which
HKS$8,207,000 (2020: HKS$8,333,000) was
atfributable to the business of publishing and
intellectual properties licensing; HK$198,394,000
(2020: HKS$144,821,000) was attributable to
digital marketing: HK$4,000 (2020: HKS$134,000)
was atfributable to retailing and wholesales
business. Loss for the year attributable to equity
holders, taking info account of taxation, was
HKS$57,191,000 (2020: HK$58,235,000). The loss
per share was HK4.1 cents (2020: HK4.2 cents).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors has resolved not to
declare any final dividend for the year ended
31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FRBEE

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year, the Digital Marketing ("Digital
Marketing”) business continues to thrive and
achieved significant growth in this second year
of full-year operation against the backdrop of a
global economy still plagued by the pandemic
of Covid-19. Its revenue has increased 37% from
HK$144,821,000 in 2020 to HK$198,394,000 in
2021.

The Group’s two 55%-owned subsidiaries in
Beijing, including Beijing Skyvior Technology Co.
Ltd ("Beijing Skyvior”) and Hyperchannel Info
Tech., Ltd ("Hyperchannel Info”), specializing in
Digital Marketing. They apply big data analysis
in matching IPs to assist customers in marketing
products and services, working closely with
customers engaged in consumer products
distribution or social media platforms, such as
Taobao/Tmall, Tik Tok, Xiaohongshu, Kuaishou,
etc. During the year of pandemic, the Group
put emphasis on strengthening business
relationship with customers and improving
operation efficiency. During the year, the
original plans for business development and
increased manpower were scaled back due to
the Covid-19 pandemic; as business are picking
up again, developing business in Key Opinion
Leaders (KOLs) management and production
of short videos for our customers or KOLs will
ensue, broadening the scope and base of
Digital Marketing business.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Another 55% Digital Marketing subsidiary,
Egmen Technology Limited ("Egmen”), which
is principally engaged in the digitalisation and
commercialisation of IPs, content creation and
digital marketing. The pandemic had a adverse
effect on business which depends much on
direct contact and interaction with customers.
At the same time, customers are also reducing
its marketing activities, promotional events
or gifts. Revenue dropped significantly from
HK$34,819,000 in 2020 to HKS$14,921,000 in
2021. The collaboration of Egmen with certain
prominent IPs owners, including the Palace
Museum* (¥ = & ¥ Fx ) and the development
and launch of “IP Express” (IPH & & ) business
in cooperation with the National Copyright
Administration of the PRC (B = iR # /& ) were
adversely affected or delayed.

The Group had plans for further expansion of
the Digital Marketing business and new business
development at the end of last fiscal year,
these plans had to be held up or scaled back
as affected by the pandemic. As business were
adversely affected and disrupted, expenses
incurred were higher than usual, coupling
with growth being hampered, goodwill and
intangible assetfs related to investment in
subsidiaries are impaired. Total impairment
on goodwill and intangible assets, although
non-cash, amounted to HK$15,158,000. As
the Covid-19 pandemic is receding when
vaccination program continues tfo expand
rapidly, global economy is also gradually
recovering. The Group is focusing on reviving
new business developments with emphasis
on consolidating and improving operational
efficiency to strengthen and build the overall
Digital Marketing business to be more resilient
and competitive.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FRBEE

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Publishing and IP Licensing Business

The Publishing and IP licensing business is rather
static. Revenue, mainly from licensing, were
HK$3,774,000 in 2021 and HK$3,884,000 in 2020.
Since the Group modified its business model
from collecting our royalties directly from the
printing houses instead of from licensees, credit
monitoring and overall results improved. The
Group continues to put more effort to broaden
the scope of licensing business and enticing
customers to encompass the use of digital
images. This should enhance and improve the
marketability of IPs of the Group.

Retail and Wholesales Business

The Group’s premium wine inventory has
narrow target customer profile, sales and
distribution channels have to be focused on
or targeted at high-end consumer groups or
restaurants. The Group is working fo expand
sales and distribution channels including online
platform and wine dealer for its premium wine.
While marketing plan has been formulated,
implementation has been delayed due to the
Covid-19 pandemic.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

PROSPECT

The Group has successfully built a strong Digital
Marketing business by putting a primary focus
on building a strong marketing and technical
team of professionals. While the Covid-19
pandemic had caused adverse effect on
business and slowed down or delayed new
business development, the Digital Marketing
business has still been able to achieve
significant growth during the year. The total
number of employees in the Digital Marketing
segment increased from 140 at beginning of
the fiscal year to 208 in mid-year but scaled
back to 133 at the end of fiscal 2021. The total
number of employees of the Group reduced
from 177 in 2020 to 162 in 2021. The Group is
focusing on building strength and operational
efficiency while moving steadily and cautiously
in fostering new business development.

The Group has a strong commitment fo
become a prominent player in the Digital
Marketing and IPs Commercialisation markets.
The Group will focus on streamling operating
structure while deploying more resources in
Digital Marketing. The monitoring of costs
and expenses will be strengthened to ensure
efficient and effective uftilisation of resources.
As Covid-19 pandemic is receding, the Group
is optimistic that performance will recover and
improve with growth being maintained.

The Group has completed the subscription of
new shares under specific mandates to an
investor in May this year, raising HK$41,700,000
to strengthen the financial position of the
Group and adding working capital to fund new
projects and business development.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FRBEE

PROSPECT (Continued)

In May this year, the Group has entered into
an agreement with third parties to acquire
100% interest in a PRC company specializing in
artificial intelligence ("Al”) of voice recognition
and analyzing hardware and software. The
acquisition will be entirely be financed by
issuing new shares of the Company. This is a
new business opportunity and venture of the
Group in Al. This tfransaction has not been
completed and is pending for the approval by
shareholders.

APPRECIATIONS

| would like to express my sincere thanks to the
Board of Directors, our management and staff
for their continued dedication in the past year,
and to all our customers, suppliers, business
partners and shareholders for their enthusiastic
support of the Group.

Kwan Kin Chung
Managing Director
Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s consolidated net loss attributable
to the owners of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2021 decreased by
HK$1,044,000 to HKS57,191,000 or 2.4% to HK4.1
cents per share (2020: loss of HK$58,235,000 or
HK4.2 cents per share).

The analysis of consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 March 2021 is as follows:

1. Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2021,
the Group’s overall revenue from
continuing operations increased by
approximately 34.8% to HK$206,605,000
of which approximately HK$8,207,000,
HK$198,394,000, and HKS$4,000 (2020:
HK$8,333,000, HKS$144,821,000 and
HK$134,000) were attributable to our
business of publishing and intellectual
properties (“"IPs”) licensing, digital
marketing and retailing and wholesales
respectively.

The Group has recorded a decrease in
revenue for the business of publishing and
IPs licensing, representing a decrease
of approximately 1.5%. This decline was
mainly market driven and expected to be
temporary.

The revenue from the digital marketing
business significantly increased from
HK$144,821,000 to HKS$198,394,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2021. It was mainly
due to continuous efforts put intfo building
the digital marketing segment as the
Group’s leading core business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEHEM®ESH

FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

1.

Revenue (Continued)

The turnover of retailing and wholesales
segment represents the sales of premium
wine.

Gross profit and gross profit
margins

The Group recorded a gross profit of
approximately HK$38,786,000 from
continuing operations with gross profit
margin of 18.8% for the year ended
31 March 2021 as compared fto the
same period of 2020, which recorded a
gross profit of HK$23,521,000, restated.
Comparing the gross profits for both
periods, the improvement was due to the
improvement of cost control and market
conditions in general in digital marketing
segment.

Selling expenses

The selling expenses from continuing
operations increased from approximately
HKS$11,699,000 for the year ended 31 March
2020 to approximately HK$30,734,000
for the year ended 31 March 2021. The
significant increase was mainly due to the
Group’s expansion in the digital marketing
business during the year ended.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020-2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

4,

Administrative expenses

The Group recorded an aggregate
administrative expenses from continuing
operations of approximately HKS$43,138,000
for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020:
HK$40,533,000, restated).

The major expenses components for the
year ended 31 March 2021 were staff cost
of HK$19,267,000 (2020: HK$19,242,000,
restated), audit fee of HK$1,950,000 (2020:
HK$2,380,000), depreciation of right-of-use
assets of HK$6,000,000 (2020: HK$4,974,000),
listing and corporate services fee of
HK$1,032,000 (2020: HK$1,057,000).

The increase in administrative expenses
from continuing operations was mainly due
to the normal business development in the
digital marketing business.

Other impairment losses

For the year ended 31 March 2021,
the amount of HK$11,401,000 (2020:
HK$8,941,000 for goodwill arising from
Egmen) for goodwill arising from Egmen
and Hyperchannel Info were impaired as
its generated operating loss to the Group
for the year ended.

An impairment loss on intangible assets of
HK$3,757,000 (2020: Nil) were recognised
as the actual sale generated from
customer contracts and related customer
relationships were lower than the expected
demand.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
TEHEM®ESH

FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

6.

Other expenses

The other expenses from continuing
operations recorded the research cost
of HKS$9,453,000 (2020: HK$2,997,000)
for developing the platform in digital
marketing business and the legal,
consultancy and other professional fee
of HK$6,881,000 (2020: HK$1,287,000) paid
to lawyers and consultants providing
legal services and professional advices
on business operations and development.
The increase in other professional fee was
mainly due to the legal services in relation
to the civil claim on infringement of the
copyright works.

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a loss from continuing
operations of approximately HKS$69,921,000
for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020:.
HK$60,479,000, restated) and a loss from
discontinued operations of approximately
HK$374,000 for the year ended 31 March
2021 (2020: HK$3,258,000, restated).

Also, as at 31 March 2021, the Group has
net asset of approximately HK$172,574,000
(31 March 2020: HK$235,719,000). Net asset
value per share of HKS0.12 (31 March 2020:
HKS$0.17).

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year, the Group entered into an
agreement to dispose of the entire equity
interest in Polluquin Holdings Limited and ifs

subsidiaries fo an independent third party for

a total cash consideration of HKS$154,000. The

fransaction of disposing the business of digital

cinema was completed on 17 September 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

As of 31 March 2021, the Group had bank
balances with financial institutions in aggregate
of approximately HK$75,094,000, pledged
bank deposits of approximately HK$35,935,000,
restricted bank deposit of HK$5,324,000 and a
total of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss of approximately HK$3,022,000.

As of 31 March 2021, the Group had bank
borrowings of approximately HK$35,495,000 and
were secured by pledged bank deposits for
granting banking facilities to the Group. Save
as above, no other assets of the Group has
been pledged as of 31 March 2021.

The Group has no significant exposure to
foreign exchange rate fluctuation except for
the transactions that are denominated in USD
and HKS relative to RMB.

As of 31 March 2021, the Group had a net
current asset of approximately HK$160,377,000
(31 March 2020: HK$213,834,000) and a current
ratio of 3.2 (31 March 2020: 5.4). The Group’s
total liabilities as of 31 March 2021 amounted
to approximately HK$73,144,000 (31 March
2020: HK$50,828,000) and the gearing ratio of
the Group represented approximately 44.3%
(31 March 2020: 23.0%) to equity attributable to
owners of the Company.

Upon consideration of the above, the Directors
have no doubt that the Group will have
sufficient liquidity to finance its daily operations,
as reflected by its healthy financial status with
a wealth of cash flow and other resources.
As always, the Group will continue to follow
prudent and disciplined cash management
practices on any excess liquidity.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEHEM®ESH

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Subscription of New Shares Under
Specific Mandate

On 1 March 2021, the Company entered info
the Subscription Agreement with a Subscriber,
Trinity Gate Limited, pursuant tfo which the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot
and issue, and the Subscriber has conditionally
agreed to subscribe for 278,000,000 Subscription
Shares at the Subscription Price of HKS0.15 per
Subscription Share.

The Subscription was approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the Special
General Meeting on 30 April 2021.

On 6 May 2021, all conditions precedent to
the Subscription set forth in the Subscription
Agreement have been fulfilled. Accordingly,
completion of the Subscription took place on
6 May 2021. Details of the Subscription of New
Shares was set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 1 March 2021 and the
Circular of the Company dated 9 April 2021
respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (Continued)

Proposed Acquisition

Acquisition of Entire Equity Interest in a
Company involving issue of consideration
Shares under Specific Mandate

On 28 May 2021, Vanity Holdings Limited (the
“Purchaser”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered info the Agreement with 4
Vendors, Guangxi Fuchuan Huafa Technology
Co., Ltd. (the “Vendor A"), Shenzhen Qunyou
Intelligent Education Technology Co., Ltd. (the
*Vendor B”), Luo Weizhao (the “Vendor C")
and Liu Jubo (the “Vendor D") respectively,
pursuant to which the Purchaser has agreed
to purchase and the Vendors have agreed to
sell the entire registered and paid-up capital
in amount of RMB50,000,000 of Imitation Brain
Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (the “IBT") for
a total Consideration of HK$63,000,000, which
shall be settled by procuring the Company to
issue and allot an aggregate of 191,000,000
new Shares of the Company to the Vendors at
the issue prices of approximately HKS$0.33 for
each Consideration Shares.

The Subscription are subject to the approval by
the shareholders of the Company at Special
General Meeting. Details of the Proposed
Acquisition was set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 2 June 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEHEM®ESH

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As of 31 March 2021, the Group had a total
of 162 employees of which 29 are based in
Hong Kong and 133 in the PRC. Total staff
costs from continuing operations incurred for
the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted
to approximately HKS$54,456,000 (2020:
HKS26,461,000, restated). Remuneration
packages are maintained at competitive
levels and reviewed by the management
on a periodical basis. Discretionary bonuses
and incentive share options are awarded to
certain directors and employees according
to the assessment of individual merit and
performance.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 March 2021, the Group did not have
any significant capital commitment (31 March
2020: Nib).

Save as disclosed in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group
did not have any other significant contingent
liabilities as at 31 March 2021.
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The Directors present their annual report and
the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding
company. The activities of its principal
associate and subsidiaries are set out in
notes 19 and 40 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATE

Details of the Group’s associate and of the
Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2021 are
set out in notes 19 and 40 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2021 and the state of the Company’s
and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set
out in the financial statements on pages 73 to
286.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover during the year
attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for 76.6% of the Group’s
tfurnover from continuing operations, of which
62.0% was attributable to the largest customer.

The aggregate purchases during the year
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 89.3% of the Group’s total
purchases from continuing operations, of which
77.5% was attributable to the largest supplier.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
(Continued)

At no time during the year did a Director, an
associate of a Director or a shareholder of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) have an interest in any of the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2021 including a fair review
of the business and discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group and
indication of likely future developments in the
Group’s business, are set out in the “"Chairman’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and “Financial Summary” sections of
this Annual Report. Save as disclosed in the
Company’s announcement, no important event
affecting the Group that has occurred since
the end of the financial year ended 31 March
2021.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during
the year of 2021, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period
(2020: Nib).

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group spent approximately
HK$316,000 on the acquisitions of property and
equipment.

Details of these and other movements during
the year in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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BANK BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set
out in note 30 tfo the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE
OPTIONS

Details of movements during the year in the
share capital and the share option schemes
of the Company are set out in notes 32 and
33 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in
consolidated statement of changes in equity
and note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 March 2021, the Company has
no reserves available for distribution to
shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the past five financial
years is set out on pages 287 and 288.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Huang Mingguo (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 2 July 2021)

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung (Managing Director)

Mr. Yuen Kin

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew
Mr. Mung Yat Lik

The Directors of the Company, including
Executive, and Independent Non-executive
Directors ("INEDs") are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. In accordance
with Clauses 101, 110(A) and 190(v) of the
Company’s Bye-Laws, Messrs. Chow Lai Wah
Livia, Kwan Kin Chung and Mung Yat Lik will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves, for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service contract which is not terminable
by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

The Company has received the annual
confirmation of independence from each of
the INEDs as required under Rule 3.13 of Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”). The Company considered all INEDs to
be independent.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia, aged 60, joined the
Company in April 2008 and was appointed as
an Executive Director on 17 May 2011, and as
Vice Chairman of the Company on 26 March
2012. Currently, Ms. Chow is a member of
the Corporate Governance Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Ms. Chow is the
Director of L&W Holding Limited which is one of
the substantial shareholders of the Company.
Ms. Chow presently is responsible for corporate
management of the Group. Ms. Chow holds a
Master of Business Administration from Stillman
School of Business at Seton Hall University and
has more than 27 years of extensive experience
in executive development and corporate
management,
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Huang Mingguo, aged 49, was appointed
as an Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in July 2018 and
a member of the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company since March 2019.
Mr. Huang resigned as an Executive Director,
the Chief Executive Officer and the member
of Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company upon completion of his service
contract of 3-year term ending on 2 July 2021
in order to devote more time to his other
business engagements. Mr. Huang is a Director
of certain subsidiaries of the Group. He holds
a Bachelor Degree in Chemistry from Peking
University and a Certificate of Advanced
Management Program in Harvard Business
School. Mr. Huang was the project manager of
market research division in P&G, China. He has
also set up and operated numerous companies
which were engaged in advertising media,
market research, capital management and
investment business. In 2010, he was appointed
as the Chairman of Panmedia Institute which
is the first nonprofit making think tank in China
established to undertake the development and
study of media knowledge and management.
In 2011 to 2014, he served as an Executive
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
Shanghai Midas Media Limited. In August 2015,
Mr. Huang set up the venture fund — EREHE
LR EHAIERELE(BRE) investing in new
business startups. Mr. Huang has equity interest
in MR EEZAREEEGMR AT, of which is a
general partner of FKEFEHEESHAIERELHE
(BBR&) . Mr. Huang is also a limited partner
of FWBHBLPEHMRAIERELE(BREMU) which
holds a 6.75% equity interest in Egmen, a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
Mr. Huang is the legal representative and a
Director of Egmen.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Contfinued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung, aged 52, joined the
Group in 1998 and was appointfed as an
Executive Director and Managing Director
of the Company in March 2008, Mr. Kwan is
a Chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company and is a Director
of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Kwan
held the position as vice president of the
Group from 1998 to 2002 and was appointed
as an acting Chief Executive Officer of the
Company in April 2007. During the period of
serving as the Vice President of the Group, Mr.
Kwan was also the vice publisher of Tin Tin Daily
News where he gained wealth of experience
in media industry. He holds a Bachelor Degree
of Arts in Economics from Zhongshan University,
Guangzhou, PRC. Mr. Kwan has extensive
experience in businesses restructuring and
corporate investment
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Contfinued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Yuen Kin, aged 66, was appointed as
an Executive Director of the Company in
September 2017 and Mr. Yuen is a Director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Yuen holds
a Master of Business Administration degree
from the University of Toronto, Canada. He is a
Chartered Professional Accountant in Canada
and he is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and
of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He has extensive experience in
corporate finance, financial planning, reporting
and management.

Mr. Yuen is an Independent Non-executive
Director of Emerson Radio Corporation
(NYSEMKT: MSN), a company listed on The
American Stock Exchange. He is currently
an Independent Non-executive Director of
Huayi Tencent Entertainment Limited (stock
code: 0419), a company listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. He had been a Non-executive Director
of Lafe Corporation Limited from April 2016
to December 2020 (SGX: AYB), a company
listed on The Singapore Stock Exchange. Lafe
Corporation Limited was privatized and delisted
on 31 August 2020.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Contfinued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, aged 49, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company in July 2018. Mr. Wong is the
Chairman of the Audit Committee, a member
of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr.
Wong holds a Master of Business Administration
degree from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Wong has over 20 years of experience
in accounting and financial management,
mergers and acquisitions gained from certain
finance related positions in companies listed in
Hong Kong.

Mr. Wong is currently an Independent Non-
executive Director of Man Sang International
Limited (stock code: 0938) and Sprocomm
Intelligence Limited (sfock code: 1401), both
of companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Contfinued)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew JP, aged 42, was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2015. Mr.
Fan is a member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Fan is a
practicing certified public accountant in Hong
Kong with over 14 years of experience. He holds
a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration
(Accounting and Finance) from The University
of Hong Kong and a Bachelor Degree in
Laws from the University of London. Mr. Fan
is a member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom
and an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
is also a committee member of the tenth to
twelfth Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of the Zhejiang Province, the fourth
and fifth Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Shenzhen and the Tenth Vice
Chairman of Zhejiang Province United Young
Association.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Contfinued)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Fan is currently an Independent Non-
executive Director of Chuang’s China
Investments Limited (stock code: 0298), Space
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 2448) and
Nameson Holdings Limited (stock code: 1982),
all of which are companies listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Mr. Fan had been an Independent
Non-executive Director of Fulum Group Holdings
Limited from October 2014 to May 2021 (stock
code: 1443), Sinomax Group Limited from
March 2014 to June 2020 (stock code: 1418)
and Universal Star (Holdings) Limited from May
2019 to September 2020 (stock code: 2346), the
shares of all companies are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, and Sanbase Corporation Limited from
January 2018 to December 2019 (stock code:
8501), CNC Holdings Limited from January
2018 to August 2020 (stock code: 8356) and
Omnibridge Holdings Limited from July 2017 to
November 2020 (stock code: 8462), the shares
of all companies are listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Contfinued)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Mung Yat Lik, aged 63, was appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company in December 2018. Mr. Mung
is a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company.

He has 32 years of experience in investment
management, tourism, logistics and investment
property. In particular, he has extensive
experience in cooperation with state-owned
enterprises in investment and operations, as
well as cable media management. Mr. Mung
acted as the Vice President and general
manager of Guangdong Southern Yinshi Cable
Media Company Limited (ERRE 5 R R FH &K EE
AMR2AF)and as a director of Hoteline Network
Limited. Mr. Mung is currently the Managing
Director of Guangdong Guoye Greenhouse
Technology Limited (BRBEIE#&EREERAT),
the Vice President and investment director of
Xiamen Xinyou Logistics Company Limited (&
FIZAXYRAEMRAT)and the Vice President and
investment director of Shenxing (Hainan) Travel
Limited (3847 CBRE) IRITHBRAF) .
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Senior Management

Ms. Zhang Jingyu, aged 49, joined Culturecom
Group as Vice President in October 2018.
Ms. Zhang was the Chief Operating Officer
of BMXMAAFEERKAERRAF from 2016 to
2018, the Senior Vice President of /8% &
AR A A from 2012 to 2014 and the Chief
Operating Officer of ERFEFEAER AT from
2010 fo 2012. She holds a Bachelor Degree
in Accounting and Audit from Zhongshan
University, Guangzhou, PRC, and a Master of
Business Administration degree from Alliance
Manchester Business School, The University of
Manchester, in United Kingdom. Ms. Zhang has
over 22 years of extensive experience in the
marketing industry.

Mr. Gao Yu, aged 46, is one of the founders
of kR ZHMIBFEBMR AR (Egmen Technology
Limited), a subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Gao
was one of the founders of Dopod, a high-
end smartphone brand now acquired by HTC
in China. Prior to being an entrepreneur, he
worked for over 13 years in Microsoft and
acted as the marketing director of Windows
in the Greater China region, he was in charge
of the marketing and business development of
Windows OS and Windows Phone in Microsoft
Greater China.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Senior Management (Continued)

Mr. Gao has a good understanding of customer
needs, a strong systematic and execution
ability and many years of tfeam management
experience. He holds Bachelor Degrees in
Business Administration (& % & ¥# £ 4 )and in
Chemistry and Environmental Engineering
((LEERIBETIE), both from Beijing University of
Technology, Beijing, PRC.

Ms. Lee Yuk Ping, aged 53, joined the Group
in September 1997. Ms. Lee holds a Master
Degree of Professional Accounting. She is a
fellow member of both the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
She has extensive experience in auditing,
accounting and corporate finance.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopted its share option scheme
(the "2013 Scheme”) on its 2013 annual general
meeting held on 12 August 2013.

No shares are available for issue under 2013
Scheme as of the date of this Annual Report.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(A) Interests of the Directors

As of 31 March 2021, the interests and
short positions of each Director of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which are
required (a) to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions
which he/she is taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
pursuant tfo section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange:
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS B E(E)
(Continued)
(A) Interests of the Directors (A EEzER(E)
(Continued)
Interests in the shares of the Company REDNGREGZ
Approximate
percentage
Number of of issued share
Name of Director Capacity Nature of interest shares held capital
HERTRA
ESpE EL) BEHE FisRA#E ZBREDLL
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (i) Beneficial owner Personal interest 32,962,800 23.25%
ABELL ERBAEA EPNG: 3
(i) Interests of a controlled Corporate interest 271,502,312
corporation NEES (Note 1)
SREARZER (M=)
(i) Interests of spouse Personal interest 18,895,000
TR BARER (Note 2)
(M= 2)
Mr. Huang Mingguo (i) Beneficial owner Personal interest 14,460,000 1.08%
HERELE EREEA BAER
(i) Interests of a controlled Corporate Interest 500,000
corporation (Note 3)
RERAR RS ARER GIER)
Notes: FEE -
1. Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (*Ms. Chow"”) has 1. ARELL (ALt )RL&W Holding Limited
controlling interests in L&W Holding Limited MWD EEEH MRS IWEREH
CL&W™), L&W is beneficially interested in 271,502, 312?]& ARBRRHP 2Eme HU
271,502,312 shares in the Company. Accordingly, BESERHEKRH ALt HEAEE
Ms. Chow is deemed to be interested in 271,502, 312H§2¥S/ BRD P 2R o

271,502,312 shares in the Company under the
SFO.

2. Mr. Dizon Basilio ("Mr. Dizon”), the spouse of Ms.
Chow, is beneficially interested in 18,895,000
shares. Therefore, Ms. Chow is deemed fo be
interested in 18,895,000 shares in the Company
under the SFO.

3. Mr. Huang Mingguo, resigned as Executive
Director and CEO of the Company on 2 July
2021, has conftrolling interests in Jet Victory
Investments Limited (“Jet Victory”). Jet Victory
is beneficially interested in 500,000 shares in the
Company. Accordingly, Mr. Huang is deemed to
be interested in 500,000 shares in the Company
under the SFO.

All interests stated above represent long
positions.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)
(A) Interests of the Directors

(B)

(Continued)

Interests in the shares of the Company
(Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as of 31
March 2021, none of the Directors of the
Company had interests or short positions
in any securities of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are
required (a) to be notified fo the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions
which he/she is taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

Interests of Substantial Shareholders

As of 31 March 2021, so far as is known to
any Director or Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, the following person had
an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register fo be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO:
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TR % % 50 6 191 58 352 1% A 10 48 18 Tl
> BEMA; RC)RELHAANES
EEEERS 2 EETUANE A TR
R RRRARE o

(B) TERRER
RE-2-—5=A=1—0  READE
AESRTREBFA - AT ALFERD
AR B RIABR A 2 M AR B AR E
HRMERPIEXV BE2RESH B2HEX
ARARRHE - RREEDTEEERS
BRPIE 336 R E T AR 2B RMARE
2 REAKA

F3j 2020-2021 XLBEEERRAF

35



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHREE

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)

(B) Interests of Substantial Shareholders
(Continued)

Interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company

EEE(E)

(B) TERFHE# (FF)

RERFRGREBERG 2 E

Approximate
Number percentage of

of shares issued share
Name Capacity held capital
HERITRA
=x g7 FrERHEE ZBRBEDL
L&W Holding Limited Beneficial owner 271,502,312 19.52%
EREBA
Mr. Dizon Basilio Beneficial owner, interests in a 323,360,112 23.25%
B LEE controlled corporation and
intferests of spouse (Note 1)
ERBBEA - ZELF
2w R B (MEE)
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia Beneficial owner, interests in a 323,360,112 23.25%

BABEzL controlled corporation and
inferests of spouse (Note 2)

BREBA ZEAF

ZEmREEER (HE2)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEREE

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS EREE(E)

(Continued)

(B) Interests of Substantial Shareholders B) TERFERER (&)
(Continued)

Interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. Mr. Dizon Basilio ("Mr. Dizon”) is beneficially
interested in 18,895,000 shares in the Company.
Mr. Dizon also has conftrolling interests of 65% in
L&W Holding Limited ("L&W"). L&W is beneficially
interested in 271,502,312 shares in the Company.
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia ("Ms. Chow"), the spouse
of Mr. Dizon and the Director of the Company,
is beneficially interested in 32,962,800 shares in
the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Dizon is deemed
to be interested in 323,360,112 shares in the
Company under the SFO.

2. Ms. Chow is beneficially interested in 32,962,800
shares in the Company. Ms. Chow is the spouse
of Mr. Dizon and has controlling inferests in L&W.
Accordingly, She is deemed to be interested in
323,360,112 shares in the Company under the
SFO.

All interests stated above represent long
positions.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 March
2021, the Directors and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company were not aware
of any person who had an interest or
short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

RERGTRGREBER G 2 E (F)

BEE

1. ZHBEE(ERE NEZEELALT 18,895,000
AR ° ZHEERL&W Holding Limited (TL&W J)
HEEOShz BEHHEEZ - IBWE R E A
271,502,312 AR BIRRD 2w o ThE 2B
BRABELT(ALZLtNNAEERQPAZES
EREE 32,962,800 AR DA B 2R
I REBERPERY =XEERAEES
323,360,112 A TR 2 o

2. B+ EXEE 32,962,800 A DT RG24
#H o AT IEREZEBE  BRL&WEGEH
MR At REBHZRBERKRG > BEES
#5 323,360, 112 RAD B RAD 2 R ©

LB RSEEIRETR o

BREXFIIFEEN  AARESRITHAR
BrHBBE—_E-_—F=A=+—HEHE
MATHEBEARLA 2RO REERD 2 ERE
RABRBBERBEFSZRBERFIFEXVIEE
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)

(C) Interests in shares of associated
corporations of the Company

Name of the

associated corporation
HEEEEH

Espns

Name of Director

EEE(E)

(C) RARFMEEE 2R 2 Em

Approximate percentage of
shareholding on the

associated corporation
REBEEREZBAOT I

Egmen Technology Limited
RS EFRBZERLF

Note:

1.

Mr. Huang Mingguo ("Mr. Huang”) has equity
interest in EKEMHABLHAREEEBR A A, of
which is a General Partner of #kiEHPEBEBHE
HMAEREDLEERAEI). Mr. Huang is also a
Limited partner of B8+ B BAESHAERE D
#(B R 4 ). which holds a 6.75% interest in
Egmen Technology Limited ("Egmen”), of which
the Company holds a 55% indirect interests.
Currently, Mr. Huang is the Director of Egmen.

Mr. Huang Mingguo resigned as Executive
Director and CEO of the Company on 2 July
2021.

All inferests stated above represent long
positions.

Mr. Huang Mingguo (Note 2)
=AAE L4 (M5 2)

MIEE -

1. EHREELE(EEEDRKRETHPEEZARE
EERERAPDVEARE MERKETHEAE
HAXRECE(BEREN) 2EBENRA - BER
ERAKETELEASTHAXRECEK(ARE
RIZEREUA  FELRZHFABNKERR
A ZHM)2675% % - MARBUFES
ZPI65% B - R BERERFHIIZE

Ho

2. EHER4LER-ZE--StAZHBELRLQH

ZHATESRITHAH

LB RRIIREA -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

No confracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors nor their respective
associates had any business which competed
or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights
under the Company’s Bye-Laws, or the laws of
Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, every
Director or other officers of the Company shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all losses or damages
which he may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of the duties of his office, or
otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and Officers of the
Group.
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REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION
OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have
repurchased, sold or redeemed any of the
listed securities in the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2021.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company,
with written terms of reference in line with
the code provisions set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the "Code”)
as stipulated in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Stock Exchange”), currently
comprises of three INEDs, namely Mr. Wong
Kwan Kit, Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew and Mr.
Mung Yat Lik.

The Audit Committee of the Company
has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed the internal
control, risk management and financial
reporting matters including the review of the
audited financial statement for the year ended
31 March 2021.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, the Group has complied
with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a material impact on the business of the
Group in all material aspect and there were
no circumstances of material breach or non-
compliance of applicable laws and regulations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Regarding the ESG performance, the Group
strictly complied with applicable regulations,
laws, and standards related to environmental
and social aspects. For the year ended 31
March 2021, managerial focus on digitalization
continues to assist the Group to achieve long-
term business resilience, fulfilling its economic,
environmental and social sustainability.
Engagement with stakeholders has resulted
in raised concerns on key material issues
on various social aspects. The Group will
contfinue to identify areas of improvement
for the concerned aspects and keep close
communication with its stakeholders for
advancing ESG management.

A separate environmental, social and
governance report is expected to be published
on the website of the Stock Exchange no Iater
than three months after the publication of this
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out
on pages 43 to 61 of the annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF
LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the “Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers” as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its own code for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors (the “Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all
Directors have complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code during
the year ended 31 March 2021.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the date
of this report, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2021 were audited by
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, who will retire and a
resolution to re-appoint Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu as auditors of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Kwan Kin Chung
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

The Group is committed to achieving high
standards of corporate governance which
is crucial to the development of the Group
and safeguard the interests of the Company’s
shareholders. To accomplish this, the Group has
adopted practices which meet the Code as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. During
the year, the Company has complied with the
Code except for the following deviations:

CODE PROVISION A.4.1

Under the code provision A.4.1, Non-
executive Directors should be appointed for
a specific term, subject to re-election. The
current Independent Non-executive Directors
of the Company are not appointed for a
specific term. However, all Directors (including
Executive and Non-executive) of the Company
are subject to retirement by rotation at the
Annual General Meeting in accordance
with Bye-Law 110(A) and 190(v) of the Bye-
Laws of the Company. As such, the Company
considers that sufficient measures have been
taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are no less exacting than
those in the Code.

LAFEARSE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

l\_lﬁ iEﬂ:

CODE PROVISION E.1.2

Under the code provision E.1.2, the Chairman
of the Board should attend the Annual General
Meeting. The position of the Chairman of the
Board was not filled before the Company’s
Annual General Meeting held on 18 August
2020. However, an Executive Director, present
at the annual general meeting who then took
the chair of that meeting in accordance with
the Bye-Laws of the Company.

The Company will arrange for the election of
the new Chairman of the Board as soon as
practicable in order to fill up the vacancy of
Chairman.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
as its own code for dealing in securities of
the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors have complied with
the required standard as set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31 March 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2021, the Board comprises
of the Vice Chairman, the Chief Executive
Officer, the Managing Director, one Executive
Director and three Independent Non-executive
Directors. The Board of Directors is principally
accountable to the shareholders and is
responsible for the leadership and conftrol of
the Group including overseeing the Group’s
businesses, strategic directions, financial
performance, setting objectives and business
development plans, and moniftoring the
performance of the senior management.

PRI E.1.2
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board of Directors meets regularly
throughout the year to formulate overall
strategy, monitor business development as well
as the financial performance of the Group
and has formal procedures on matters for
consideration and decision-making. The Board
of Directors has delegated certain authorities
to the senior management for the day-to-day
management of the Group’s operations. The
attendance of Directors at the Board Meetings
and General Meeting held during the year is as
follows:

l\_JM #Eﬂ:

E=E2(&)

EXESFEENOHER USRI RERE
EEARB2ERRERMBRE  UHARFE
BRRRBERALXERF -EBEERTH
REBAEBETERINEEAEEH ZAFELE -
EENFRETEZEERRRRAEZHE
REWT

Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Annual
Directors Board Meetings General Meeting
HERE, HERE,
= EEZEgE3 LY BREBFRE
Executive Directors BITES
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia BEELZT(FZEE) 4/7 0/1
(Vice Chairman)
Mr. Huang Mingguo %Eﬁlf‘ii(ﬁﬂ'f@ﬁ) 717 1/1
(Chief Executive Officer) (ER=-F=-—FtH
(resigned on 2 July 2021) ZHFEF)
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung BB ST 4 (EBAEACHE) 717 1/1
(Managing Director)
Mr. Yuen Kin = fBEx 717 /1
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHTES
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit El;k, NrE 717 /1
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SBERELE 7]7 1/1
Mr. Mung Yat Lik E—hE%E 717 11
FIR 2020-2021 XLEEEERRATF
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Company has received the annual
confirmation of independence from each of
the Independent Non-executive Directors as
required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considered all Independent Non-
executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING
AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the CG
Code, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is fo ensure
that their confribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. Reading materials on
relevant topics are issued to Directors where
appropriate. Each Director received induction
on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate
understanding of the business and operations
of the Group and that he/she is sufficiently
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and other relevant legal
and regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2021,
all Directors participated in continuous
professional development relevant to the duties
and responsibilities of the Directors under the
relevant legal and regulatory requirement.
Such continuous professional development was
delivered via reading materials in relation to
legal or regulatory updates and/or attending
fraining courses provided by the legal advisors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit
Committee with written terms of reference
which is aligned with the code provisions set
out in the Code.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice
a year for reviewing the reporting of annual
and interim results and other information to
the shareholders, and the effectiveness and
objectivity of the audit process. Additional
meetings may be held by the Audit Committee
from time to time to discuss special projects
or other issues which the Audit Committee
considers necessary. The external auditors
of the Company may request a meeting
if they consider that one is necessary. The
Audit Committee also provides an important
link between the Board and the Company’s
auditors in matters coming within the scope of
its terms of reference and keeps under review
the independence and objectivity of the
auditors.

LAFEARSE

BEREES

ARBERUBEREES  HEABESHENS
<P R PRz < BUAR S o

BEREZEESFELOMMAERE  BHAFER
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BENEHERUNREREEERRLEZS
BIEEREMBE - A0 8 Z /N BAN AT R 44
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises of
three Independent Non-executive Directors.
The Audit Committee was chaired by Mr. Wong
Kwan Kit.

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed
with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed about auditing, intfernal control,
risk management and financial reporting
matters including the review of the audited
financial statements and unaudited interim
financial statements.

During the year, the members and attendance
of the meetings of the Audit Committee are as
follows:

EREEE (&

B BERZESERE-2BIINTES - &
REEBZEIFAEBERANLE

R BREESSCHEEERNAKERAZ
SERBIRIES - WEFER - ARMEE - Ak
EERMBAREE(BEFACERMBHRERR
REELP R BRKR) ETH®R

FRBETZEREESGERZREREFERHM
T

Attendance/

Number of

Directors Meetings
HERE,

B= BBRE
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEEANLEE 6/6
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SEERE LA 6/6
Mr. Mung Yat Lik S—HEHE 6/6
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ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Under Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Office ("CEO")
should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the Chairman and
CEO should be clearly established and set out
in writing. The Chairman’s roles are convening
meetings of the Board and make decision of
the Group’s business strategies. The CEO, Mr,
Huang Mingguo, resigned as Executive Director
and CEO of the Company on 2 July 2021, is
primarily responsible for the daily operations of
the Group in accordance with the goals set
up by the Board and no Chairman has been
designated yet.

The CEO is also supported by other Executive
Directors and Senior Management. The Board
believes that the Company has already a
strong corporate governance structure in place
to ensure effective oversight of management.
The Board will continue fo review the
effectiveness of current management structure
from time to time and may make changes
if and when appropriate. The Board will also
continue to monitor and review the Company’s
corporate governance practices to ensure
compliance with the Code.

LAFEARSE

TERTREBZABRER

RIBEFAMRICA2T » EFEATHRAR(1THA
RIzACRTED  FERAR-AFRE - £FE
BITHRAHHES 2 BUSELAAERT -
ITRZACARCHESSER  YHFHAEERX
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LE - WHAREEER
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TERMS OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Under the code provision A.4.1, Non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. The current
Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company are not appointed for a specific
term. However, all Directors (including
Executive, and Independent Non-executive
Directors) of the Company are subject to
retirement by rotation at the annual general
meeting in accordance with Bye-Law 110(A)
and 190(v) of the Bye-Laws of the Company.
As such, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken fo ensure that the
Company’s corporate governance practices
are no less exacting than those in the Code.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Group
has been established in November 2005 with
written terms of reference in line with the
Code. The Remuneration Committee will
meet as and when necessary or as requested
by any Committee member to consider
and recommend to the Board the Group’s
remuneration policy and structure and to
review and determine the remuneration
packages of the Executive Directors and senior
management. The Directors are remunerated
with reference to their respective duties
and responsibility with the Company, the
Company’s performance and current market
situation.

FEUTES 2EH

REFARIAL  FRTES2EEREE
EEH WEEZEERE AXABRKZBE LY
TESTHREEEHEME - AN XRAFA
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FWEES
FEEER-ZZRF+-ARUFHEES -
THRRFHTAHEEMBEHE - FHEES ST
FEIARZEEHNEERARER  UTER
MESTRZAEB ZHFMBRREE - Ukig
ARBEATESRSREBAEZHWNTE -
EE2HFMIBRBRESENEA DA ZBBRE
B ARBAIZEERBAIZHRERE -

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020-2021



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
(Continued)

Currently, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of two Independent Non-executive
Directors and one Executive Director. The
Remuneration Committee was chaired
by Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew. Detaqils of
emoluments of the Directors from the Group
for the year are as disclosed in note 15 of the
consolidated financial statements.

Statistics of each Remuneration Committee
member’s attendance at the Remuneration
Committee Meeting:

LAFEARSE

FMEEE(AE)

FHEESRHM AR LFHTESR —EHT
EXHER - FHEESCTFERTRERE L
FEARBEScME2FBERNEEMBRRM
A 15HKRE -

BN EEEREHETFMEESEE 2HsTH
15 -

Attendance/

Directors No. of Meetings
HERE

BEx BERE
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew BERERE 2/2
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia BAEEzt 2/2
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEEALE 1/2
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

According to the Bye-laws of the Company,
the Company established a Nomination
Committee on 26 March 2012 with written ferms
of reference, to formulate nomination policy
for the Board’s consideration and implement
the Board’s approved nomination policy. The
Board of Directors has the power from time to
time to appoint any person as a Director either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to
the Board of Directors. The nomination shall
be taken in consideration of the nominee’s
qualification, ability and potential contribution
to the Company.

According to the written terms of reference,
the Nomination Committee shall consist of
three Directors, a majority of whom shall
be Independent Non-executive Directors
appointed by the Board of Directors from time
tfo time. Currently, the Nomination Committee
comprises of one Executive Director, Ms.
Chow Lai Wah Livia, and two Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fan Chun
Wah Andrew and Mr. Wong Kwan Kit.

Nomination Policy

The Company has also adopted the Director
Nomination Policy on 1 January 2019. Such
policy sets out the selection criteria and
process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and
appointment of Directors of the Company, and
aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company, the continuity of
the Board and appropriate leadership at Board
level.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(Continued)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

The Director Nomination Policy sets out
the factors for assessing the suitability and
the potential contribution to the Board of
a proposed candidate, including but not
limited to the following: character and
integrity, qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
that are relevant to the Company’s business
and corporate strategy; diversity in all aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age (18
years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;
requirements of Independent Non-executive
Directors on the Board and independence
of the proposed Independent Non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules;
and commitment in respect of available time
and relevant interest to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted its own board diversity
policy ("Board Diversity Policy”). The Board
Diversity Policy aimed to achieve diversity of
the Board through consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited tfo gender,
age, cultural, educational background and
professional experience. The Nomination
Committee of the Company shall review the
Board Diversity Policy as appropriate and make
recommendations on any proposed revisions to
the Board.

Board appointments will be based on objective
criteria having due regard to the benefits of
diversity of the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, the
Company established a Corporate Governance
Committee (the "CGC”") on 26 April 2010
with written terms of reference. The CGC
obligates to advise upon any transaction of the
Company which the Board is proposed to enter
or transact for and on behalf of the Company,
and give a collective opinion to the Board as
to the propriety, feasibility and prudence of
entering intfo such transactions.

According to the written terms of reference,
the CGC comprised of 4 members. Following
the resignation of Mr. Huang Mingguo on 2 July
2021, the Company comprises of three CGC
members, the number of which fell below the
minimum required under the terms of reference.
The Board will commence a process to identify
replacements so as to fulfil as set out in the
term of reference of the CGC as regards the
minimum number of members. Currently, the
CGC is chaired by Mr. Kwan Kin Chung.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements for
each financial period which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and of the results and cash flows for that
period. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made
judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair
and reasonable and prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis. The
Directors are also responsible for keeping
proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Group, for safeguarding the
assets of the Group and for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities and
Remuneration

During the year, the audit fee for the Group
amounted to approximately HK$1,950,000 and
interim review fee amounted to approximately
HK$550,000.

The statement of the auditor of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities is set
out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on
pages 62 to 72.

Risk Management and Internal control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to
ensure sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. The
risk management and internal control systems
are reviewed at least annually to ensure the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budgeft
of the Group’s internal audit and financial
reporting functions.

Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Group’s risk management and infternal
control systems are designed to manage and
mitigate risks, rather than eliminate risks, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems (Continued)

Through the Audit Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee, the Board conducts
annual review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal
contfrol systems, covering the material
control, including financial, operational
and compliance conftrols. The management
are primarily responsible for applying and
for supporting the risk management and
infernal control processes. The operating units
and support functions are facilitated and
coordinated by the management, and ensure
that risk management processes and mitigation
plans follow good practices and guidelines
established in their day-to-day operations. Any
risk events and incidents identified are reported
by the operating units and support functions to
the management in a timely manner.

Main Features of Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems

The key elements of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems
include the establishment of strategic risk
register to monitor the identified risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the
continuous updating of risk responses for each
key risk identified to ensure the effectiveness of
the mitigation procedures on an ongoing basis.
A risk maftrix approach is adopted to determine
the significance of the risk after evaluation
of the risk in accordance to the likelihood
of occurrence and severity of the risk event
identified. The significance of the risks reflects
the level of management’s attention and risk
responses.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Main Features of Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems
(Continued)

Risk management process is integrated with
the intfernal control systems, so that the
Group’s ability to handle risks that hinder the
achievement of financial, operational and
compliance goals are strengthened and the
allocation of resources are more adequate.

Process used to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks

The Group develops a preliminary inventory of
events that could influence the achievement
of the Group’s business objectives. The
Group identifies outside and inside events by
reviewing its external and internal environment
and stakeholders, that have an influence or
potential influence on the Group’s ability to
achieve its strategy and business objectives.
The risk identification process takes place at
least once a year. Furthermore, any risk events
and incidents identified by the operating units
and support functions will be reported to the
management in a timely manner.

The risks identified are evaluated with a
risk matrix which prioritises risks according
to the likelihood of their occurrence and
the significance of their impact on the
achievement of the Group’'s business
objectives. Following the review of the risk
matrix, the Group selects and deploys the
corresponding risk responses and investigates
the mitigation procedures to be executed
to ensure the identified significant risks were
managed to an acceptable level.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Process used to review the effectiveness
of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Group does not have an internal audit
function due to the size of the Group and for
cost effectiveness consideration. The Board
would be directly responsible for internal
control of the Group and for reviewing its
effectiveness. The Group continues to review
the need for an internal audit function annually.
An independent consultant (“the Consultant”)
was engaged to perform a review on the risk
management and internal control systems. The
Consultant has reported findings and areas for
improvement to the Board and management.
The Board and management are of the view
that no material defects are noted in the
Group’s risk management and internal control
systems.

The recommendations from the Consultant are
properly followed up by the Group to ensure
that they are implemented within a reasonable
period of time. The Board considers the Group’s
risk management and internal conftrol systems
are adequate and effective and no significant
control failings or weaknesses was identified for
the year ended 31 March 2021.

Inside Information Policy

The Group has established policies for
the handling and dissemination of inside
information. Such policy is set out inside the
staff manual and all staff is required fo comply.
In addition, each personnel are granted a
specific level of access to the price sensitive
and inside information. The Directors, senior
management and employees are informed with
the latest regulatory updates.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lee Yuk Ping, the company secretary of
the Company, is a full time employee of the
Company. During the year, the company
secretary has duly complied with the relevant
professional training requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company is aware of its responsibility to
look after the interests of ifs Shareholders.
Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws 70 and
section 74 of Bermuda Companies Act 1981
(as amended) (the "Act”), the Board, on the
requisition of Shareholders of the Company
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, can convene a special general
meeting ("SGM") to address specific issues of
the Company within 21 days from the date of
deposit of written notice to the registered office
of the Company. If the Board fails to proceed
to convene a meeting, the requisitionists,
or any of them representing more than one
half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may themselves convene a meeting, but any
meeting so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of three months from the said
date.

LAFEARSE
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LFERRE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
(Continued)

The written requisition must state the purposes
of the meeting together with proposals to be
put forward at such meeting, signed by the
Shareholder(s) concerned and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by
one or more of those Shareholders. Besides, the
writtfen requisition must be valid in pursuant to
section 79 and 80 of the Act. The requisition will
be verified with the Company’s share registrar
and upon their confirmation that the requisition
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary
will ask the Board of the Company to convene
the SGM after the deposit of such requisition
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with
the statutory requirements to all the registered
Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged
by the Company to attend the Company’s
general meeting.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company after each shareholder meeting.

Shareholders are provided with contact details
of the Company, such as felephone number,
fax number, postal address and the Company’s
website address in order to enable them fo
make any query that they may have with
respect to the Company. Shareholders may
make enquiries to the Board by writing to the
Company at the Company’s head office in
Hong Kong at Suite 1502, 15/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong
Kong. In addition, Shareholders can contact
the share registrar of the Company, if they
have any enquires about their shareholding
issues.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy
(the "Dividend Policy”) which does not have
any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. In
considering dividend payment, the Board will
take intfo account factors such as depending
on results of operations, working capital,
financial position, future prospects, and capital
requirements, as well as any other factors which
the Directors of the Company may consider
relevant from time to time. The Board will
review the Dividend Policy from time to time
and the Dividend Policy does not constitute
any commitment or obligation of the Company
to declare dividends.

INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Board gives high priority to balanced, clear
and transparent communications which allow
shareholders and investors to understand the
Group’s prospects and the market environment
in which it operates. The Company engages
with shareholders and other investors through
various channels of communication to help
ensure that their views and concerns are
understood and addressed in a constfructive
way.

The Company’s constifutional documents
have been posted on the Company’s website
at www.culturecom.com.hk. During the year,
there had been no significant change in the
Company’s constitutional documents.

LAFEARSE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B XBEPRE

Deloitte

To the Shareholders of
Culturecom Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial
statements of Culturecom Holdings Limited (the
“"Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
73 to 286, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March
2021, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated
financial performance and ifs consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs™)
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the "Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in
our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context
of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these maftters.

Key audit matters
BRETSE

We identified the NRV assessment of premium
wine as a key audit matter due to their
significance to the consolidated statement
of the financial position as a whole and
the significant judgement and estimations
involved in the estimation of NRV of the
Group’s premium wines.

RS EERE 2 TR FENEE R —BEREE
FEE REAREBEASRYUGSVBRRIRERRE
R URRGEFEEEEEBRE2TERFERIR
BARHER R ALET -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters
BPERRNAEERRENSE

Qur procedures in relation to the NRV
assessment of the inventories included:
EMEBEIGFENTERFENEFBEATS
18 :

U Discussing with the management’s
process for evaluating the product-by-
product regular NRV assessment view and
challenging the judgement exercised in
determining the allowances of inventories
as at the end of reporting period,
including their key control and policy on
estimating the inventories allowances;
HEREENRAERENERELETHITERF
EFHEFER  RERBEREHREERB
KATAZHE  BEATFERER CBRES
REUR
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B XBEh RS

Key audit matters

HRETSE

As set out in Note 4 fo the consolidated
financial statements, the management
carries out inventory review on a product-
by-product basis at the end of the reporting
period. As further disclosed in Note 22 to
the consolidated financial statements,
the carrying amount of premium wines
was approximately HK$34,905,000. The
management performed the inventory review
including the estimation of the respective
NRV which was determined as the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
BAGRERBRRMTANE > EEBRBEHABAR
RENERETFESE - HURESMBHRERMT
E—SHE BEEENREELNS 34,905,000
BT EEEBIFLHTFESE  SREAEEKBEN
T EERIFHEEMENATRAEEN S AIZR
FEME e

The estimation of the respective NRV
takes info account a number of factors
including prices of actual sales during and/
or subsequent to the reporting period and
independent market information in relation to
each of the inventories held by the Group.
BEUSRFENGTLEARZEEE  BERSEH
Bk REENEREEERREREEEFESE
BFENBIMISER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matters
BPERRUNAEERRENSE

Assessing the reasonableness of the
estimation of the NRV of inventories
performed by management by:
EBUTHFAFGEEBHFEUSR FEMST
WEEM :

1. evaluating management’s
identification of any inventories
requiring specific write downs due to
damage or other quality issues with
reference to the information obtained
during our inventory count; and
SERMEFELHPRENENRKTLE
BEEHNEERSHtMEEREME BET
BEEMRNEFE ZER &

2. conducting an interview with the
relevant winery and performing
independent market research to
evaluate the market information used
by management to estimate the
latest selling prices of the wines.
BEAAREARETERLETELIT SRS
LRt EREE AR B ERNEEREA
MMz ER -
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Key audit matters
BRETSE

We identified the impairment assessment
of goodwill as a key audit matter due
to significant judgement exercised and
estimations involved in the projections of
future performance of the cash-generating
units ("CGUs").

BB BRENERR A - BEREFSE  RE
ARBARESELBEN((REELEEN ) 2 RRKR
I ] BB K 3 R Ak =T o

As set out in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management is
required to carry out impairment assessment
of goodwill annually and whenever there
is an indication that the relevant cash-
generating unit may be impaired. The
management performed the impairment
assessment which takes intfo consideration
the estimation of the recoverable amount
of respective CGUs which were determined
as the higher of its fair values less costs of
disposal and its value in use.

PR ENBRERNTAFE > ERBRRFREM
BREELEEVHRBENRRERBEEETRET
ft o EEEBETRENML  HERZIREELEUZ
AREIEE A MZESENERATEEREE
HAREEREEMETRSEMERE

B RXBERRE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters
BPERRNAEERRENSE

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill included:
BMHEEBERETENEFEFEUATEE

Understanding the management’s process
for estimating the recoverable amount of
the CGUs and challenging the judgement
exercised in the identification of the CGUs
containing the goodwill;
THREEEMAFREELEUNTREEE
RESFNEANEEBENRSELEURFTET
H 2 BAE

Assessing the reasonableness of key
assumptions used in the cash flow
projections, including growth rates,
budgeted sales and gross margin, based
on the future business plan and/or industry
frend;

RIBARREBTER RTEBE FHRER
EFATPEANEIERR(BRERER - HERE
RERME)NEEMN
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Key audit matters

HRETSE

The recoverable amount of each of the
CGUs has been determined based on value
in use calculation. The calculation uses cash
flow projection based on financial budget
approved by management and certain
key assumptions which included discount
rates, growth rates, budgeted sales and
gross margin and their related cash inflow
and outflow patterns. The management also
engaged an independent professional valuer
to assist in determining the recoverable
amounts. During the year ended 31 March
2021, there is approximately HKS$11,401,000
of impairment made to the two CGUs
containing the goodwill. The carrying
amount of goodwill as at 31 March 2021 was
HK$1,396,000 after impairment,
ReELEUNIREESENRECREBEETFEME
EoZTEERENEEBSENVBREENRESR
ERARETEERR  BEBREAEX - EBREE . HE
i‘ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ?u)ﬁ*ﬁ%ﬁiﬁ%/m /Jlej*ﬁ_t EEEJE
TEBFBEVEXMEMBEEATRESE - REE
“E--F=A=+-HLFE CIMEEEEE
ZESESXEBEMNELEL11,401,000% TEE 1R
BESZ BER-FE-—F=A=+—BZKHEEH
1,396,000 & 5T ©

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible
for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

How our audit addressed the key audit matters
BPERRUNAEERRENSE

Evaluating the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the independent
professional valuer and involving our
internal valuation experts to evaluate
the valuation methodology and assess
the reasonableness of the discount rates
in the impairment assessment applied
by the management by developing an
independent estimation based on market
data and certain specific parameters of
the Group and comparing such estimation
to the discount rates used by fthe
management; and
EEYEXRGMEMzT®H  EIREEME X
ZERBETSBEBERAEEETHEZHEBHZ
By REREEEMERAMRETEME
ARG EERTEMEL ERIGEERRENH
BEFEFAEAZERENEGEM R

Evaluating the historical projection of the
forecasted future cash flows by comparing
them to actual results in the current year
and understanding the causes for the
significant variances.
EREAFENEREEETHERI THRERS
ENEE > FFEEFBEARKRBRSRENELTER -
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OTHER INFORMATION (Confinued)

In connection with our audit of the
consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible
for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability fo contfinue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but tfo do so.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Those charged with governance are responsible
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs,
we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal
conftrol relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s
infernal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and fthe
reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the
directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the
directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation,
structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with those charged with
governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that
we idenftify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with
governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and ofther matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable,
actions tfaken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those
charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

The engagement partner on the audit resulting
in the independent auditor’s report is Li Fung
Tun.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

25 June 2021

BB RSV BRRAEN

BE(E)

EXBUBRBMBENENEEABARETR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FelREHMZERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

BE-_Z-_—F=A=+—HLEFE
2021 2020
—E--F —EEHF
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
FEE FTERT TET
(Restated)
(EE5)
Continuing operations FEREER
Revenue A 5 206,605 163,288
Cost of sales HERAR (167,819) (129,767)
Gross profit e 38,786 23,521
Other income Hitg A 6 1,763 2,517
Other gains or losses Hinlam g E 7 1,054 (4.218)
Impairment loss under expected credit ~ FEHEEFE(AHEEEE])
loss ("ECL") model, net of reversal BRT2HESE(FEFEE) 38D (1,268) (3,629)
Other impairment losses HibREEE 9 (18,693) (20,733)
Selling expenses HEER (30,734) (11,699)
Administrative expenses THER (43,138) (40,533)
Other expenses HthEMR (16,334) (4,284)
Finance costs BHRER 8 (2,455) (1,404)
Share of loss of an associate FE{E — B AR EE (23) (172)
Loss before tax BB AEE 11 (71,042) (60,634)
Income fax credit Pri8BK % 12 1,121 155
Loss for the year from continuing REFESEEK Y
operations FEEBR (69,921) (60,479)
Discontinued operations RIEREEK
Loss for the year from discontinued RERIEREER
operations EEER 35 (374) (3,258)
Loss for the year FEER (70,295) (63,737)

F ¥k 2020-2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FelRaRREttZEkaR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

2021 2020
—B--F —EBCEFE
HK$°000 HK$’000
TERT TET
(Restated)
(&E5)
Other comprehensive income (expense) Hitt2mElzE (Fx)
Item that will not be reclassified RETEENEZ
fo profit or loss: Bwm Bl -
Exchange differences on translation RYEERREZ25ER
from functional currency to EHES
presentation currency 14,865 -
Items that may be reclassified BEJEEFEZ
subsequently to profit or loss: Bwm Bl -
Exchange differences arising on BREBNEBCERER
translation of foreign operations (7,648) (6,666)
Reclassification of cumulative franslation  H&—EENEREE R
reserve upon disposal of a foreign EAREEHDE
operation 125 —
(7,523) (6,666)
Other comprehensive income (expense) FEHM2EWZE (B%)
for the year 7,342 (6,666)
Total comprehensive expense for FEXERXAE
the year (62,953) (70,403)
Loss for the year aftributable to owners  RAREBABGEE
of the Company: BE
— from continuing operations — REFELEEK (56,889) (55,121)
— from discontinued operations — REARLEEER (302) (3,114)
(57,191) (68,235)
Loss for the year attributable to non- FEREREEEE
controlling interests: BE:
— from continuing operations — REHELEEY (13,032) (5,358)
— from discontinued operations — RERILEEEK (72) (144)
(13,104) (5,502)
(70,295) (63,737)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FelREHMZERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

2021 2020
—E--F —EEHF
NOTE HK$°000 HK$'000
MiEE TERT TET
(Restated)
(&E5)
Total comprehensive expense L2 E A
attributable to:
Owners of the Company RAREBA (51,706) (63,739)
Non-controlling interests FERER (11,247) (6,664)
(62,953) (70,403)
Total comprehensive expense ARRBEAEEZARS
attributable to owners of the E-C
Company:
— from continuing operations — REFELEEK (51,537) (60,943)
— from discontinued operations — REARLLEEER (169) (2,796)
(51,706) (63,739)
Loss per share BRER 14
From continuing and discontinued REFERALEEEK
operations
Basic (HK cents) HAR (L) 4.1) 4.2)
From continuing operations RESEREEL
Basic (HK cents) HAR(EAL) 4.1) (4.0)
F3R 2020-2021 XIEEEEEERAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FaMBRAR

AT 31 MARCH 2021
R=-ZF-—-%=R=+—H

2021 2020
—EB=——F C—E-EF
NOTES HK$°000 HK$’000
M aE TERT FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property and equipment EE L] 16 473 993
Right-of-use assefs EREEE 17 2,260 1,825
Goodwill 5k 18 1,396 12,126
Interest in an associate R—EBE AR 2R 19 1,195 1,218
Intangible assets mEAE 20 5,366 7,454
Rental deposits Heke 24 1,333 108
Financial assets at RAFEES ABRE
fair value through (MEAFEERA
profit or loss (“FVTPL") Bmk )2EemMEaE 21 1,802 715
13,825 24,439
Current assets RBEE
Inventories =E 22 35,630 35,644
Trade receivables P 5 5 R X 23 62,841 23,128
Other receivables, deposits and R BKFIR ~ e R 24 15,849 24,813
prepayments AR
Financial assetfs at FVTPL BRAFEESFABRERZ 21 1,220 —
Tax recoverable AW B E — 1,262
Pledged bank deposits BEAFRITHER 25 35,935 23,261
Restricted bank deposit ZRHIRITHER 26 5,324 —
Bank balances and cash RITEFRAS 25 75,094 154,000
231,893 262,108
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables AT B 5 BRSX 27 14,519 6,236
Other payables and accrued Hip BATIAR 27 16,051 29,911
charges T & A
Contract liabilities BRER 28 1,057 1,384
Lease liabilities HEeRE 29 4,394 1,994
Bank borrowings AT 30 35,495 8,749
71,516 48,274
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HEeMBRAR

AT 31 MARCH 2021
W=B=—F=A=1—H

2021 2020

—E--F C"E-BF

NOTES HK$°000 HK$ 000

BT FHET FHBT

Net current assets REBEEFE 160,377 213,834

Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERE 174,202 238,273
Non-current liabilities FRBER

Deferred tax liabilities EELERBERE 31 663 1,742

Lease liabilities HESRE 29 965 812

1,628 2,554

Net assets EEFE 172,574 235,719
Capital and reserves BXR

Share capital R 32 13,907 13,907

Share premium and reserves B mfE & 151,383 206,962

Equity atfributable to owners of ADRERAEEER 165,290 220,869

the Company R
Non-controlling interests R B 7,284 14,850
Total equity wmER 172,574 235,719

The consolidated financial statements on pages
73 to 286 were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 25 June 2021

and are signed on its behalf by:

KWAN KIN CHUNG
B 2 e
DIRECTOR
EE

F ¥k 2020-2021

F73EEE280EZRAMBRRN-B=_—F
ANAZTERAKESSHELEERE > XHT
HIEERREE

YUEN KIN
=g
DIRECTOR
EE

XEEERERERRAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FeEQBEDER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

BE-ZE--FZA=1t—-HLHFE

Aftibutable fo owners of the Company

ROTEEARS
Capital Non-
Shore Share Contribufion redempfion Translafion Other ~ Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium surplus esenve fesenve eseve losses Sub-fotal inferests equity
ity hiftaE EdRn  ERREEE i EbHE gitEs i F3 fEx
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
Tin Tin T Tin Tin Tin Tin T i T
(Nofe a)
(Ka)
AT Aprl 2019 HZE-1ERA-8 13907 200811 17,61 L) 3 il (1,926,00) 14789 17443 302192
Lossfor he year 5 | - - - - - - (58.239) (58.25) (5.500) ©3737)
Other comprehensive expenses  Ef2EER
Bichonge diferences oisngon -~ BEERERZ
fransotion of foreign operations ~~ EXZE - - - - (5504 - - (5.504) (1162) (6666)
Tofol comprehensive expense for he  EE2EFAEE
e - - - - (55 - (58259 (8759) (6680 (1045)
Acquistion of acifionol inerestina - E-ERBATNES
subsialary (Note b) ER (D) - - - - 3 (4%) (19 ) (299) (499)
Aoquison of o sy (ofe 39 - BREAR(HE) - - - - 165 4 (“1%) fl 3 40
Disposal of subsidories (Note 36)  ENRAR(H3E3) - - - - - - - - 1) 1)
Deregistrtion of o subsidiary - BHELA
(Note 3) (a3 - - - - - - - - il i
At 31 March 2020 H-B-28=fz1-R 13907 20611 17,67 b (4564) 4218 (1,990,420) 20869 14850 85119
Loss for the year EEER - - - - - - (67.197) (67.191) (13109 (10,299)
Ofther comprehensive income HpREnE
Fichonge differences on tionsotion - YK ESEEZSHEY
from funcfional curency fo LEXEE
presentation curency - - - - 13,008 - - 13,008 1,857 14,866
Bichonge dfferences aisngon~~ BEEAERZ
anslation of foreign operations EfzE - - - - (7.648) - - (7.648) - (7.648)
Reclassfication of cumulative HE-ERIRRARE
fronsofion reserve upon disposol  EXEERDE
of aforeign operation - - - - 1% - - 1% - 1%
Total comprehensive income EEAENE(RY)4E
(erpense) for he year - - - - 5485 - 70 (5170) ) (6295
Disposol of subsiciories (Note 35) ~ ERBAZ (&35) - - - - - - (3873) (3873) 3681 (19)
At 31 March 2021 HZEI-EZf=1-R 13907 20811 171,67 ) 0l 4218 (2,051,484 165,290 1.284 172,574

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020-2021




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Notes:

(@

()

*

Conftribution surplus represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital of
the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal amount of
the share capital of Culturecom Holdings Limited (the
“"Company”) issued as consideration for the acquisition
as at the date of the group reorganisation in prior
years.

On 30 September 2019, the Company and its
subsidiaries (the "Group”) acquired an additional
equity interest of 45% of Beijing Skyvior Technology Co.,
Limited* (It REZEERBEARQE) ("Beijing Skyvior”)
from non-confrolling interest with a cash consideration
of RMB450,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$495,000). After the acquisition, Beijing Skyvior
became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.

English name is for identification purpose only

FREHRBIRE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

PBEE -

(o) EBHBRBERBAFEMRBEHNELRZRAEEER
SEHEARBEARBAEMBR T LEEREARR
RBAARFDRAEBEZER °

(b) RZZB-AFAA=+H RAAREWBLA(AE
BB RS ERMRERD R (RS J) iz
MRHER 2 BN A% IR HE - HERER AR 450,000 7T
(FE R 4950008 7T) - RIEBE - EREBERAX
EEZZENBAR -

* RN EREGRESE

F3j 2020-2021 XLBEEERRAF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeBeaiER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

2021 2020
—EB=——F C—E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEK
Loss for the year FEBE (70,295) (63,737)
Adjustments for: MTHESEZFAE
Amortisation of film right B = 117
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#E 2,108 557
Depreciation of property and MERRETE
equipment 511 613
Depreciation of right-of-use FEREEERE
assefts 6,000 4,974
Gain on early termination of REBRIEBEASE W&
leases (907) -
Loss on fair value change of BRAFEETABRRZ
financial assets at FVTPL eRMEEZATER
BEZEE 150 4,393
Loss on disposal of or property HEMERREZ
and equipment g 13 —
Impairment losses recognised in T IS IEER ZEE
respect of: =
— goodwill — B2 11,401 8,941
— intangible assets —EBEERE 3,757 —
— prepayments — FEfTRIE — 10,574
— property and equipment — MERZE 309 167
— right-of-use assets — EREEE 3,226 1,051
Impairment losses on tfrade and RIBFEHEEFEERZ
other receivables under ECL FEUN & 5 BRF R HAth
model, net FEW K IEREEE -
FEE 1,268 3,629
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR ZEE 206 136
Gain on deregistration of a B —REREARZ
subsidiary W= — (792)
Share of loss of an associate FE{L—EEE AR 2
&8 23 172
Income tax credit FRHiE % (1,121) (155)
Interest expense FMERX 2,455 1,404
Interest income FE WA (309) (2.414)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeBaiER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—fF C"E-EF
NOTES HK$°000 HK$"000
Bt &E FET FHBxT
Operating cash flows before EEESEHAICKERSE
movements in working capital mE (41,205) (30,370)
Decrease in inventories FERD 14 142
Increase in frade receivables FEUL & 5 BRFRIE AN (38,124) (15,873)
Decrease in other receivables, HEWRIE - ek
deposits and prepayments FESFRIER 9,480 10,540
Increase in trade payables B 5 BRI N 8,283 5,499
Decrease in other payables and HiESRIEREFTEA
accrued charges R (272) (2,515)
Increase in investments held for BEEBEZREEM
frading (1,620) —
(Decrease) increase in contract EHREECRD)E N
liabilities (327) 1,270
Cash used in operations EEFTRAZES (63,771) (31,307)
Income tax refund FR8BLR K 1,262 —
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING REEBTAZESFE
ACTIVITIES (62,509) (31,307)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEK
Placement of pledged bank FACEKFRITER
deposits (12,674) (23,261)
Placement of restricted bank FAZRERITFR
deposit (5,324) —
Placement of financial assets at BERATEEFABEE
FVTPL CERMEE (837) (38,404)
Proceeds from redemption of BEZRAFEEFABER
financial assets at FVTPL ZEMEEZFBRIE — 38,725
Purchase of property and BEWERZE
equipment 316) (491)
Proceeds from disposal of property HEWMERZHZ
and equipment FriS 18 5 —
Payment for rental deposits ZfHERSE (1,556) -
Acquisition of a subsidiary W B — B B A B 34 — 9,382
Addition of intangible assets nERTERE 3,073) -
Net cash inflow (outflow) on HEMBARZES
disposal of subsidiaries RACGRE) F58 35 283 (381)
Interest received 2 WRE 309 2,414
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REXBFAZHEFE
ACTIVITIES (23,183) (12,016)
F3R 2020-2021 XIEEEEEERAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeBeaiER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

2021 2020
—EB--F C"Z-BF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES S
Interest paid 2FRE (2,455) (1,404)
New bank borrowings raised s RITRER 97,438 8,749
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITERN (72,219) -
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHESRE (6,153) (4,894)
Repayment to independent third {EBEFEIYE=
parties (14,546) (20,204)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) RMEXBERE(FR)2EE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES T 2,065 (17,753)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH BRE&RBELESEBYRL FHE
EQUIVALENTS (83,627) (61,076)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REHNZRERBEEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 154,000 220,370
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXSg o8
changes 4,721 (56,294)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REXRZBEERBEZEEY
END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED ENERTEFERES
BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH 75,094 154,000
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GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”). The address
of the Company’s registered office is
Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and its principal
place of business is Suite 1502, 15/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding
company. The principal activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 40.
The Group’s principal places of business
are in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC").

In prior years, the Group had its online and
social business carried out by Pollugquin
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Polluquin
Group”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group. The operation for online
and social business was disposed on 17
September 2020. Accordingly, the results
of the Polluguin Group’s operation for the
period ended 16 September 2020 and
year ended 31 March 2020 have been
separately presented as a discontinued
operation in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

—REHR
ARARRBREZMALAERRZBRE
ERF MEBROREBHSXZMER
AR EH e RATRZEMPE
B ith 3k {7 ] Victoria Place, 5th Floor,
31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10,
Bermudao MEFZELXMHB AT EEE
EREIOHERSHPOISBIG02E ©

ARAR-—BREEZERAT - HXTENE
RAZEBXEBHNMEL0 - AEBZ2E
BEXEWHAEBRPEARLME(H
&) e

RBEAFE  AEEEBLEEZH2EM
& 2 A Polluguin Holdings Limited & &
M AT (FHBIPolluquinEE ) K& & £
RUREL SLIREREKLEINR-Z
—EFAATLERAEE - Bt Polluguin
EERBE_ZE-TFAA+BLEBER
BE_Z-_ZF=A=+t-HLFEZLE
EBCRGEBERRAMEZAKERPEY
2 HBKRIELEETR -

F3j 2020-2021 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

1.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020-2021

GENERAL INFORMATION
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
catering business carried out by Sai Van
Club Management Services Co. Ltd* (A&
ESMERRKERLT) ("Sai Van Club”),
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group,
was discontinued with effect from 10
March 2020. Accordingly, the results of
the subsidiary’s operation for the period
ended 9 March 2020 have been separately
presented as a disconfinued operation in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

Details of the above discontinued
operations are set out in Note 35.

The Company’s functional currency is
Renminbi (*RMB”). For the convenience
of the financial statements users, the
consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HKS"),
as the Company’s shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange.

English name is for identification purpose only
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied
the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards
and the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA™")
for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on 1 April 2020 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments Definition of Material
to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments
to HKFRS 3

Amendments Intferest Rate Benchmark
to HKFRS 9, Reform
HKAS 39

and HKFRS 7

Definition of a Business

Except as described below, the application
of the Amendments to References fo
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards and amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

FER 5] &8 MRS ZER
giﬁ%ﬁﬂ%iﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂj)&ﬁ
iZ &

RAFERFHERZERBUBRS
R 2 85T

RAFE  AEBEAEREESTHLE
([EBESTMAE ) rEMEFERAEER
SUBBREERN -_ZF-2FNA-HMAK
FEMBBE LN 2 E BB EER
BREZRZ 5 2 ETRT I B BMBERE
R Z B35

BEBETTEREIHRR ERZER
BEEHERESR
1857

ERUBHMELERE IR EB2ER
ZAERT

EBYBREER MRELERE
Eo%  HBEFEA
EIOFRBBMBRE

BRI 73R 2 18R]

BRT XL E S - RANFERRE B HHR
BRI PR Z 5| 2 16T REBR
BHREEZBITHAEEAFERBESF
E2HBRRARKRAR,RZEFREHBE
RITBEEELEEALE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

2.1 Impacts on application of

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
Definition of Material

The Group has applied the
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 for
the first time in the current year. The
amendments provide a new definition
of material that states “information
is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be
expected fo influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements,
which provide financial information
about a specific reporting entity.”
The amendments also clarify that
materiality depends on the nature
or magnitude of information, either
individually or in combination with
other information, in the context of the
financial statements taken as a whole.

The application of the amendments in
the current year had no impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

2.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

2.2 Impacts on application of

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a
Business

The Group has applied the
amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments clarify
that while businesses usually have
outputs, outputs are not required for
an integrated set of activities and
assets to qualify as a business. To be
considered a business, an acquired
set of activities and assets must
include, at a minimum, an input and
a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs.

The amendments remove the
assessment of whether market
participants are capable of replacing
any missing inputs or processes and
continuing to produce outputs. The
amendments also infroduce additional
guidance that helps to determine
whether a substantive process has
been acquired.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

2. ER#HAIERVBHREEA

([EEMBEREENDRHE

1E5] (&)

REFEBFHEM2EBUBRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

3

2.

ETE—FZAZ=Z+—HLFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

2.2 Impacts on application of

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a
Business (Continued)

In addition, the amendments
introduce an optional concentration
test that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not
a business. Under the optional
concentration fest, the acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business if
substantially all of the fair value of the
gross assets acquired is concentrated
in a single identifiable asset or group
of similar assets. The gross assets under
assessment exclude cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets, and
goodwill resulting from the effects of
deferred tax liabilities. The election
on whether to apply the optional
concentration fest is available on
fransaction-by-tfransaction basis.

The application of the amendments
in the current year had no impact on
the consolidated financial statements
of the Group but may impact future
periods should the Group make any
acquisition.

2.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS
39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16

Amendments fo
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendment to
HKFRS 16

Amendment to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1T and
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to
HKAS 8

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments®

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework®

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2°

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions'

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021°

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020y°

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies’

Definition of Accounting
Estimates®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.

AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective

(Continued)
Amendments to  Deferred Tax related to
HKAS 12 Assets and Liabilities arising

from a Single Transaction®
Amendments to  Property, Plant and
HKAS 16 Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use’
Amendments to  Onerous Contracts — Cost of

HKAS 37 Fulfilling a Contract®
Amendments to  Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs HKFRSs 2018 — 2020°

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 June 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2021.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 April 2021.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the Directors anticipate
that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have
no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

The amendments:

J update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations so that it refers to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the
"Conceptual Framework”) instead of
Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements
(replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting
2010 issued in October 2010);

. add a requirement that, for
fransactions and other events within
the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets or HK(FRIC)-Int 21 Levies, an
acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK({FRIC)-
Int 21 instead of the Conceptual
Framework to identify the liabilities
it has assumed in a business
combination; and

o add an explicit statement that
an acquirer does not recognise
contingent assets acquired in a
business combination.

The Group will apply the amendments
prospectively to business combinations for
which the date of acquisition is on or after
the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-_-F=ZB=+—HLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.

AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment
of right to defer seftlement for at least
twelve months from reporting date for
classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which:

. specify that the classification of
liabilities as current or non-current
should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting
period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

(i) the classification should noft
be affected by management
infentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months; and

(i if the right is conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the
right exists if the conditions are
met at the end of the reporting
period, even if the lender does
not test compliance until a later
date; and
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (Continued)

J clarify that if a liability has ferms
that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity’s own equity
instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-
current only if the entity recognises
the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
was revised as a consequence of the
Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in
conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding
liabilities as at 31 March 2021 and the
related tferms and conditions stipulated
in the agreements between the Group
and the relevant lenders, the application
of the amendments will not result in
reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

3

2.
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ETE—FZAZ=Z+—HLFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances
of the term “significant accounting
policies” with "material accounting
policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered
together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that
accounting policy information maybe
material because of the nature of the
related fransactions, other events or
conditions, even if the amounts are
immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relating to material
tfransactions, other events or conditions
is ifself material. If an entity chooses to
disclose immaterial accounting policy
information, such information must not
obscure material accounting policy
information.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies (Continued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements (the “Practice
Statement”) is also amended to illustrate
how an entity applies the “four-step
materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and fto judge whether
information about an accounting policy
is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the
Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on
the financial position or performance of
the Group but may affect the disclosures
of the Group’s significant accounting
policies. The impacts of application, if
any, will be disclosed in the Group’s future
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

2.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting
estimates as "monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting
policy may require items in financial
statements fo be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncerftainty — fthat
is, the accounting policy may require
such items to be measured at monetary
amounts that cannot be observed directly
and must instfead be estimated. In such a
case, an entity develops an accounting
estimate to achieve the objective set out
by the accounting policy. Developing
accounting estimates involves the use of
judgements or assumptions based on the
latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in
accounting estimates in HKAS 8 is retained
with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is
not expected to have significant impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements make
amendments to the following standards.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the
purpose of assessing whether modification
of terms of original financial liability
constitutes substantial modification under
the “10 per cent” test, a borrower included
only fees paid or received between the
borrower and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the borrower or
the lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16 removes from the
example the illustration of reimbursement
relating to leasehold improvements by the
lessor in order to remove any potential
confusion.
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ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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ETE—FZAZ=Z+—HLFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of
the recognition exemption of deferred
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets
in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 so
that it no longer applies to transactions
that, on initial recognition, give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

As disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements, for leasing
transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the
Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the
relevant assets and liabilities as a whole.
Temporary differences relating to relevant
assets and liabilities are assessed on a net
basis.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs
in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction (Continued)

Upon the application of the amendments,
the Group will recognise a deferred tax
asset (fo the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability
for all deductible and taxable temporary
differences associated with the right-of-use
assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023, with early application
permitted. As at 31 March 2021, the
carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities which are subject to the
amendments amounted to HKS$2,260,000
(net of impairment loss of HK$1,372,000)
and HKS$2,256,000, respectively. The
Group is still in the process of assessing
the full impact of the application of the
amendments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEMBBRRZEHEEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL CEREES

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of
consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements REMBRERDEZBREBSHTHAE
have been prepared in accordance EHzBERMBEBREERRES - 3R

3.1 GEMBHRRZEREE

with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA.
For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material
if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited ("Listing Rules™)
and by disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
¢COo".

The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on the historical
cost basis except for certain financial
instfruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on
the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and
services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of

consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would
be received fto sell an asset or
paid to fransfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement
date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset
or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics intfo
account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date
Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except
for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing
fransactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16,
and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value
("NRV™) in HKAS 2 Inventories or value
in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of
consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting
purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement
in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other
than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable
for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputfs are unobservable
inputs for the asset or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of
the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the
Company:

. has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee;
and

J has the ability to use its power to
affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not
it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins
when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income
from the date the Group gains conftrol
until the date when the Group ceases
to confrol the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed
to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is atfributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-confrolling
interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are
made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to fransactions between
members of the Group are eliminated
in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
are presented separately from
the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to @
proportionate share of net assefts
of the relevant subsidiaries upon
liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests
in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing confrol over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity fransactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative
intferests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-
conftrolling interests according to
the Group’s and the non-controlling
intferests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and
attributed tfo owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a
subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of
that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised.
A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary attributable to the owners of
the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
fransferred tfo another category of
equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of
any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 or,
when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Business combinations
Operation concentration test

Effective from 1 April 2020, the Group
can elect to apply an optional
concentration test, on a fransaction-
by-transaction basis, that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an
acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. The concentration
test is met if substantially all of
the fair value of the gross assefts
acquired is concentrated in a single
identifiable asset or group of similar
identifiable assets. The gross assets
under assessment exclude cash
and cash equivalents, deferred tax
assets, and goodwill resulting from
the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If
the concentration test is met, the set
of activities and assets is determined
not to be a business and no further
assessment is needed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are
accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured
at fair value, which is calculated as
the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

Except for certain recognition
exemptions, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset
and a liability in the Framework for
the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements (replaced by the
Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in October 2010).

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the
identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at
their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities,
and assets or liabilities related to
employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income
Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments
related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements
of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 aft
the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

BE-®=

—F=A=t—-HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

assets (or disposal groups) that
are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with
that standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised
and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in HKFRS
16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition
date, except for leases for which
the lease term ends within 12
months of the acquisition date.
Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms
of the lease when compared with
market terms.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess
of the sum of the consideration
fransferred, the amount of any non-
confrolling interests in the acquiree,
and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity inferest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed as at acquisition
date. If, affer re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration
fransferred, the amount of any non-
controlling inferests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree
(if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.

Non-conftrolling interests that are
present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assefts
in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling
inferests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets or at fair value.
The choice of measurement basis is
made on a fransaction-by-fransaction
basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition
of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting
policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment
testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating unifs
("CGUs") (or group of CGUs) that is
expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent
the lowest level at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management
purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit ("CGU") (or
group of CGUs) to which goodwill
has been allocated is ftested for
impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication
that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the CGU (or group
of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount
is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the
unit (or group of CGUs).

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising
on the acquisition of an associate is
described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which
the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the
investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities
of the associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements
of associates used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as
those of the Group for like fransactions
and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income
of the associates. When the Group’s
share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that
associate, the Group discontfinues
recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Investment in an associate
(Continued)

An investment in an associate is
accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On
acquisition of the investment in an
associate, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount
of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is
acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Investment in an associate
(Continued)

The Group assesses whether there
is an objective evidence that the
inferest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the enftire carrying
amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and
fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to
any assets, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of
the investment subsequently increases.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Investment in an associate
(Continued)

When the Group ceases tfo have
significant influence over an associate,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the
entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. The difference
between the carrying amount of the
associate and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing of the relevant interest
in the associate is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to
that associate on the same basis as
would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that
associate would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity
to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal of the
relevant associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Investment in an associate
(Continued)

When a group entity fransacts with its
associate of the Group, profits and
losses resulting from the tfransactions
with the associate are recognised in
the consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the
Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, i.e. when “confrol” of the
goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is
fransferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a
good or service (or a bundle of goods
or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020-2021

REMBRRCEREEREKX
BETEERGE)

3.2 EXEHHEGE)
R—BBERAZRE(H)

MEEBEREASE 2 BE QN FET
R EEBELARZEREREH
BREAZERT  FERGFEMBHRR
THRIAEBEQNTNETRIMELEZ
B KRB o

EFEAHRA

REERN (HFEE) 7R EQNEERE (B
ESERANSEHEBENER KRB
[ZHIE | ER TR PR BRWA -

BREEEMEL 2B mRERE (-4
B MR ) N— R AR Z 8 5
& AR o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Except for granting a licence that is
distinct from other promised goods
or services, control is transferred over
tfime and revenue is recognised over
tfime by reference to the progress
fowards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

J the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group
performs;

J the Group’s performance creates
or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group
performs; or

J the Group’s performance does
not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at
a point in fime when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or
service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

For granting of a licence that is distinct
from other promised goods or services,
the nature of the Group’s promise
in granting a licence is a promise to
provide a right to access the Group’s
intellectual property ("IP”) if all of the
following criteria are met:

o the contract requires, or the
customer reasonably expects,
that the Group will undertake
activities that significantly affect
the IP to which the customer has
rights;

J the rights granted by the licence
directly expose the customer fo
any positive or negative effects
of the Group’s activities identified
above; and

J those activities do not result in the
tfransfer of a good or a service to
the customer as those activities
occur.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

If the criteria above are met, the
Group accounts for the promise to
grant a licence as a performance
obligation satisfied over time.
Otherwise, the Group considers the
grant of licence as providing the
customers the right to use the Group’s
IP and the performance obligation is
satisfied at a point in time at which
the licence is granted.

A contract asset represents the
Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services
that the Group has fransferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional.
It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast,
a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the
Group’s obligation to fransfer goods or
services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract asset and a contract
liability relating to the same contract
are accounted for and presented on
a net basis.

Conftracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than
one performance obligations, the
Group allocates the fransaction price
to each performance obligation on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the
distinct good or service underlying
each performance obligation is
determined at confract inception.
It represents the price at which the
Group would sell a promised good or
service separately to a customer. If a
stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it
using appropriate techniques such
that the fransaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance
obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or
services to the customer.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Over time revenue recognitions:
measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based
on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value
of the goods or services transferred
to the customer to date relative
tfo the remaining goods or services
promised under the contract, that
best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or
services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable
consideration, the Group estimates
the amount of consideration to which
it will be entitled using the most likely
amount, which beftfter predicts the
amount of consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable
consideration is included in the
fransaction price only tfo the extent
that it is highly probable that such an
inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when
the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

At the end of each reporting period,
the Group updates the estimated
fransaction price (including updating
its assessment of whether an
estimate of variable consideration is
constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of
the reporting period and the changes
in circumstances during the reporfing
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Variable consideration (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above criteria,
the Group shall recognise revenue for
a sales-based or usage-based royalty
promised in exchange for a licence
of IP only when (or as) the later of the
following events occurs:

o the subsequent sale or usage
occurs; and

J the performance obligation to
which some or all of the sales-
based or usage-based royalty has
been allocated has been satisfied
(or partially satisfied).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in
providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (i.e.
the Group is a principal) or to arrange
for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the
Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls
the specified good or service before
that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its
performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good
or service by another party. In this
case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided
by another party before that good or
service is tfransferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent,
it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it
expects to be entitled in exchange for
arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other

party.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Contract costs
Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a
contfract in its digital marketing
business. The Group first assesses
whether these costs qualify for
recognition as an asset in ferms of
other relevant standards, failing which
it recognises an asset for these costs
only if they meet all of the following
criteria:

a) the costs relate directly to a
contract or to an anticipated
contfract that the Group can
specifically identify;

b) the costs generate or enhance
resources of the Group that
will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future; and

c) the costs are expected to be
recovered.

The asset so recognised is
subsequently amortised to profit or loss
on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of
the goods or services to which the
assets relate. The asset is subject to
impairment review.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the confract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For confracts entered into or modified
on or after 1 April 2019 or arising
from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Confinued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to
components of a contract

For a contract that contains a
lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease
components. The Group also applies
practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease
component, and instead account
for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as
a single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on shorft-ferm leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability;

J any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;
and

J any initial direct costs incurred by
the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of
its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use
assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are
accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a
lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In
calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;
and

o payments of penalties for
terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising
an option to terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease
liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretfion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a
separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

o the modification increases the
scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the
leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances
of the particular contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not
accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group accounts for the
remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments
to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contains
a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract
to each lease component (including
the related non-lease components) on
the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements
of each individual group entity,
fransactions in currencies other than
the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the fransactions.
At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retfranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date.

Exchange differences arising on the
sefflement of monetary items, and on
the retfranslation of monetary items,
are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the
consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s operations are translated
info the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for
the period. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests
as appropriate).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Foreign operation is a subsidiary or an
associate of the Company, of which
the functional currency is different
from the functional currency of the
Company, either before or after the
change of functional currency of the
Company.

On the disposal of a foreign operation
(that is, a disposal of the Group’s
enfire interest in a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal
of an interest in an associate that
includes a foreign operation of
which the retained inferest becomes
a financial asset), the exchange
differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation resulting
from franslation to functional currency
of the Company attributable fo
the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial
disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share
of accumulated exchange differences
are re-atfributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (i.e. partial disposals of
associates that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence),
the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Exchange differences relating to the
retranslation of the Group’s net assets
in RMB to the Group’s presentation
currency (i.e. HKS) are recognised
directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in
franslation reserve. Such exchange
differences accumulated in the
franslation reserve are not reclassified
to profit or loss subsequently.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intfended use or
sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain
outstanding after the related asset
is ready for its infended use or sale
is included in the general borrowing
pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings.
Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised
until there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the
conditions afttaching tfo them and the
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised
in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are
infended to compensate.

Government grants related to income
that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which
they become receivables. Such grants
are presented under “other income”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “"MPF Scheme”)
and the state-managed retirement
benefit plans are recognised as
an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are
recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected
to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised
as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits
accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries), after deducting
any amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-_-F=ZB=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
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3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Share options granted to employees
and others providing similar services

Equity-settled share-based payments
to employees and others providing
similar services are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments at
the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled
share-based payments determined
at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share options reserve). At
the end of each reporting period,
the Group revises its estimate of
the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share options
reserve. For share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the
fair value of the share options granted
is expensed immediately to profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BAMEBREIERELEREA
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EETEE ()
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EXETTEHEE)
(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (Continued)

Share options granted to employees
and others providing similar services
(Continued)

When share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be fransferred
to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will
be fransferred to accumulated losses.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the
sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on
taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from ‘loss before tax’
because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on
temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding
tfax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred assets
and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a fransaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised
for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in
subsidiaries and interest in an
associate, except where the Group
is able to conftrol the reversal of
the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such
investments and inferests are only
recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which fo
utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax
assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

REMBERRCEREEREKX
BETEERGE)

3.2 EXREFHBEGE)

#IE (&)

HERMELARA2RERR -—BEELQ
AlzEEmHECERHE R ZEER
RELEREEE HEAKEEHZF
FRERERCBREREREREA
BERARSRASEDRD 25BN AEH
She BREREREHAREZ AR
ERERMELECEEREEE £
RS R A 2 5 R BUE R LB A H By
EENAEEE  LRBPARFRAE
REEE 21BN T HER o

BB IHEERAES NS @RS
RER  WHEBRBIERTEE AR E U
W mZIRE E 2 25 EB 0 B4 A
I,

F3j 2020-2021 XLBEEERRAF

143



144

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assefs and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or setftle the
carrying amount of its assetfs and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring
deferred tax for leasing transactions in
which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assetfs and fthe related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets
or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the
tax deductions are atftributable to
the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing
fransaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are assessed
on a net basis. Excess of depreciation
on right-of-use assets over the lease
payments for the principal portion
of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxation entity by
the same ftaxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are
recognised in profit or loss. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included
in the accounting for the business
combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Property and equipment

Property and equipment held for use
in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administration
purpose are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to
write off the cost of assets less their
residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment
is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property and equipment is
determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Infangible assets with finite useful
lives that are acquired separately are
carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.
Infangible assets with indefinite useful
lives that are acquired separately are
carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated infangible
assets — research and development
expenditure

Expenditure on research activities
is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible
asset arising from development
activities (or from the development
phase of an internal project) is
recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

o the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or
sale;

J the intfention to complete the
infangible asset and use or sell it;

o the ability to use or sell the
infangible asset;

. how the intangible asset will
generate probable future
economic benefits;

. the availability of adequate
technical, financial and other
resources to complete the
development and fto use or sell
the intangible asset; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated infangible
assets — research and development
expenditure (Continued)

J the ability to measure reliably
the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for
internally-generated intfangible asset
is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible
asset first meets the recognition
criteria listed above. Where no
infernally-generated intangible asset
can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition,
internally-generated intfangible assets
are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same
basis as infangible assets that are
acquired separately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a
business combination

Intangible assetfts acquired in a
business combination are recognised
separately from goodwill and are
initially recognised at their fair value
at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition,
infangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite
useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses,
on the same basis as intangible
assets that are acquired separately.
Intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment
losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on
disposal, or when no future economic
benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset,
measured at the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Impairment on property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the
Group reviews the carrying amounts
of its property and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intfangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication
that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of
the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intfangible
assets with indefinite useful lives and
intangible assets not yet available for
use are tested for impairment at least
annually, and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property
and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible
tfo estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the CGU to
which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Impairment on property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

In testing a CGU for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to
the relevant CGU when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group
of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount
is determined for the CGU or group
of CGUs to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant CGU
or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Impairment on property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an
asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a
CGU) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assetfs or
portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a CGU, the
Group compares the carrying amount
of a group of CGUs, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of CGUs, with
the recoverable amount of the group
of CGUs. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first fo reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit or the group
of CGUs. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that
would oftherwise have been allocated
to the asset is allocated pro rata to
the other assets of the unit or the
group of CGUs. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Impairment on property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

Where an impairment loss
subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a
group of CGUs) is increased tfo the
revised estimate of ifs recoverable
amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or
a CGU or a group of CGUSs) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of
cost and NRV. Costs of inventories are
determined on a weighted average
method. NRV represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less costs
necessary to make the sale,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities
are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments. All
regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a frade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities
are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising
fromn contracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Conftracts
with Customers ("HKFRS 157).
Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are
added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets at FVTIPL are
recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a
method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all
fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to
the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the
following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is
to collect contractual cash flows;
and

J the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates tfo cash flows that
are solely payments of principal
and infterest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the
following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income ("FVTOCI”):

o the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective
is achieved by both selling and
collecting contfractual cash flows;
and

. the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal
and inferest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

All other financial assets are
subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value
of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity
investment is not held for trading.

A financial asset is held for tfrading if:

o it has been acquired principally
for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

J on initial recognition it is a part of
a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group
manages together and has a
recent actual pattern of short-
term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not

designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably
designate a financial asset that are
required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Intferest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial
assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently
become creditf-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If
the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from
the beginning of the reporting period
following the detftermination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet
the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured
at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “other gains or
losses” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on
financial assets (including trade
receivables, other receivables,
deposits, pledged bank deposits,
restricted bank deposit and bank
balances) which are subject fo
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that
will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In conftrast,
12-month ECL (*12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific
tfo the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both
the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime
ECL for tfrade receivables. The ECL on
these assets are assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to
12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case
the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit
risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking
information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

3.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020-2021

REMBRRCEREEREKX
BETEERGE)

3.2 EXREFHBEGE)

EHTEE)
THEE (&)
CREEREE)

AEBEEREWE S RAERFH
BHFEFRRE RSEEZHEYARFE
B8 T AR B B4 o

RABEEMIAMS  AKRERES
RI2ZEAFHEEFENCENER
BEA BRABVNEBEIREERR
RigEm AAEERIFHEARE
EFR - FERERBRIAFTHEADE
EREDREBEBDREIAURAEE
E A KR BE M S A B B K IR I AN E o

() fFEERBAELF

AL EERRBENSEIAURE
BRIELARK  AEESHEER
RERHeMIAREENNE
BRROSEIBHE/M T A%
EEQHER - NI RE
BEeZEaEUENEERES
X BRBEEBREREN
HiBZ AL BRI ES A
MEMEER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

In particular, the following
information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected
significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external
(if available) or internal credit
rating;

. significant deterioration in
external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices
for the debftor;

. existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. FEMBHRRZEHUAEREK
SEEE(E)

3.2 EXREFHBEGE)

EMTA(E)
EHEE (&
EREEREGE)

() FEERBEAELFAGE)

AHR  EFHEFEERABESX
iR IE - EERBUATER :

o ERMIAMNMNRWAE)RR
BEEFRHBRERNEAY
BmER

e HNEHBEERBIEERE
B MEEMZE - BKA
ERENEIPER KIFE
m;

o KX MBRELEERRER

B HB AR EE o FEH
EYERAEBEEIRET
3

F3j 2020-2021 XLBEEERRAF

163



164

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

. an actual or expected
significant deterioration in
the operating results of the
debtor; and

. an actual or expected
significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic,
or technological environment
of the debtor that results in
a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of
the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial
recognition when conftractual
payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020-2021

REMBRRCEREEREKX
BETEERGE)

3.2 EXREFHBEGE)

EMTA(E)
EHEE (&)
TREEREGE)

() FERRAE-LAE)

s BEBRALEXAHBRBERN
RHEERL S R

c BEBANEE  EEIEIM
REHBRBERAFEHRHRE
RAFEE - TREEHEH
ANEBERI KRBT -

ERA > BEEXNREHER30
X B ENBRBERURESEERR
CEZEN BRIEAEESES
EAUXEFENERER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BANBBEIFREEREA
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL S EE(E)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EXETTEHEE)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) LHITEE
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&
Impairment of financial assets THREEREGE)
(Continued)
() Significant increase in credit risk () EERRKXELAGE)
(Continued)
The Group regularly monitors AEETHERBNEERRZE
the effectiveness of the criteria ARELAFABRERSEN
used to identify whether there WE BT UABRZEEEEN
has been a significant increase EREBHAELNEERRNAE
in credit risk and revises them as EZLEFHo

appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past
due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEMBRRZEHEEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 2R (&)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 EXETTHEE)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) THTA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) TEEE(Z)
Impairment of financial assets TREEREGE)

(Continued)

(iiy Definition of default

For internal credit risk management,
the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the
Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about
the following events:

(@

©)

©

()

significant financial difficulty
of the issuer or the borrower;

a breach of confract, such as
a default or past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower,
for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the
borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

it is becoming probable
that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

3

o—%—

F—=—

—F=A=t—-HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial
asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered
infto bankruptcy proceedings, or
in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over
three years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of
ECL

The measurement of ECL is a
function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure
at default. The assessment of
the probability of default and
loss given default is based on
historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation
of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the
difference between all
contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of
ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the
Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

J Past due status;

J Nature, size and industry of
debtors; and

. External credit ratings where
available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management to ensure the
constituents of each group
continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated
based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial
asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of
ECL (Continued)

The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of frade
receivables and other receivables
where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial
asset only when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset
at amortised cost, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are
classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contfractual
arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract
that evidences a residual interest in
the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and
other payables and bank borrowings
are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective
inferest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial
liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the accounting
policies, which are described in Note
3., the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an on-going basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions
concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period that may have
a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

3

4.

ETE—FZAZ=Z+—HLFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Contfinued)

NRV assessment for inventories

At the end of the reporting period, the
management carries out inventory review
on a product-by-product basis. The Group
performed the inventory review including
estimation of the respective NRV which
was determined as the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale. The Group estimates the
NRV for inventories by taken into account
a number of factors including prices of
actual sales during and/or subsequent
to the reporting period and independent
market information in relation to each of
the inventories held by the Group. The
amount of allowance would be changed
as a result of changes in current market
conditions subsequently.

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying
amount of the Group’s inventories was
HK$35,630,000, net of allowance of Nil
(2020: HKS$35,644,000, net of allowance of
Nil).

4.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Contfinued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired
requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount of the CGU (or group of CGUs)
tfo which goodwill has been allocated,
which is the higher of the value in use or
fair value less costs of disposal. The value
in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the CGU (or a group of CGUs)
and a suitable discount rate, growth rates,
budgeted sales and gross margin and their
related cash inflow and outflow, in order
to calculate the present value. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual assetfs, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of
the CGU to which the assetfs belongs,
including allocation of corporate assets
when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, otherwise
recoverable amount is determined at
the smallest group of CGUs, for which
the relevant corporate assets have been
allocated. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount
rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amounts. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected,
or change in facts and circumstances
which results in downward revision of future
cash flows or upward revision of discount
rate, a material impairment loss or further
impairment loss may arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

3

4.

ETE—FZAZ=Z+—HLFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Contfinued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill
(Continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying
amount of goodwill is HK$1,396,000 (2020:
HK$12,126,000) (net of accumulated
impairment loss of HK$21,401,000 (2020:
HK$8,941,000)). Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are disclosed in Note
18.

Provision of ECL for trade
receivables

Trade receivables are assessed for ECL
individually. The provision of ECL is sensitive
to changes in estimate. The information
about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables are disclosed in Note 38b.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. REVENUE
Continuing operations

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from
contracts with customers

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

5. kA

HECERK
() BFEHUAZAHT

Year ended 31 March 2021
BE-E--FE-B=t-ALEE

Publishing Retailing
and IPs Digital and
licensing marketing wholesales Total
TV HEL
EREE mERR SEANE Ch
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR ThT TR TR
Time of revenue recognised: BRABAZRE
At a point in time RE-BE
— Comic books sales — BEEENE 4,433 - - 4,433
— Royalty income from IPs licensng ~ — RENHERREL
RERA 3,774 - - 3,774
— New media advertising revenue — HRBESUA - 187,929 - 187,929
— Sales of wine — BRHE - - 4 4
Over time -
— Social media marketing —HRABETEEE - 10,465 - 10,465
Total @3 8,207 198,394 4 206,605
Principal IEA 8,207 197,890 4 206,101
Agent RE - 504 - 504
Total @3 8,207 198,394 4 206,605
Geographical markets: WEmS .
Hong Kong (place of domicile) B (EEMTH) 8,207 - 4 8,211
The PRC HE - 198,394 - 198,394
Total @3 8,207 198,394 4 206,605
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

5. REVENUE (Continued) 5.

Continuing operations
(Continued)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from
contracts with customers (Continued)

WA ()
BFECEEB(E)

() BFEXNRAZSH (E)

Year ended 31 March 2020
BE-Z-ZE-F=1-HILEE

Publishing Retailing
and IPs Digital and
licensing marketing wholesales Total
i e A0 B
ERERE mEkRE TEAME @t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$"000 HK$'000
TER THR THR TER
(Restated)
(EE35)
Time of revenue recognised: BRRAZEE
At a point in time RE-BEH
— Comic books sales — BEEEHE 4,449 - - 4,449
— Royalty income from IPs — REXBER
licensing REZIRE
0N 3,884 - — 3,884
— New media advertising — FRRES
revenue WA - 121,762 - 121,762
— IPs digitalisation for — MEER
production YELER - 9,358 - 9,358
— Sales of wine — BEHE - - 134 134
Over time R-BREE
— Social media marketing — HREETS
EE - 13,701 — 13,701
Total st 8,333 144,821 134 153,288
Principal FEA 8,333 144,377 134 152,844
Agent RE — 444 — 444
Total EoE 8,333 144,821 134 163,288
Geographical markets: BB
Hong Kong (place of domicile) &b (£ i) 8,333 - 134 8,467
The PRC HE - 144,821 — 144,821
Total st 8,333 144,821 134 153,288
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. REVENUE (Continued)

Continuing operations
(Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts

with customers
Publishing and IPs licensing

The revenue from publishing and IPs
licensing includes comic book sales
to the wholesale market and IPs
licensing.

For comic book sales, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when
control of the goods has transferred
according to respective agreed terms
of delivery, i.e. the goods have been
delivered to the wholesaler’s specific
location. Following delivery, the
wholesaler has full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell
the goods and has the right to return
unsold goods within 60 days under the
Group’s standard contract terms. The
normal credit term is 60 days upon
delivery.

For licensing business, the Group
grants its IPs fo customers. Without
any promise to deliver other goods
or services, the customer can benefit
from the license that are readily
available and the license is considered
as a distinct performance obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-_Z-—F=A=+—HLEFE
5. REVENUE (Continued)

Continuing operations
(Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for confracts

5. WA(E)

(i) EFEXZBHERLE)

with customers (Continued)

Publishing and IPs licensing
(Continued)

The performance obligation provides
the customers with a right to use the
Group’s IPs as they exist at the point
in time at which the license is granted.
Given there is no explicit or implied
obligation for the Group to undertake
activities during the license period
to change the form or functionality
of the IPs, or support or maintain the
value of the IPs, revenue is recognised
at a point in time.

The Group generally collects 1) the full
amount of contracted royalty income
before or when the IPs are provided
to customers; or 2) sales-based royalty
income that are attributable to a
license of the IPs when the subsequent
sales occurs. For sales-based royalty,
customers agree the sales volume with
the Group each month and seftle the
royalty with a credit term of 60 days.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. REVENUE (Continued)

Continuing operations
(Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts

with customers (Continued)
Digital marketing
As a principal

Revenue from digital marketing is
primarily derived from the marketing
services provided to the customer
through internet channel including
social media and internet website.
The marketing services include 1)
design and coordination of new
media advertising:; 2) IP digitalisation
for production and 3) social media
marketing with content development.

For new media advertising, since the
Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment for performance
completed to date, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when
the control of services or goods is
fransferred to the customer, being
when the services are rendered and
contfrol of goods are transferred to
the customers. Certain contracts with
customers contain multiple distinct
performance obligations to be
performed by the Group. The Group
uses its best estimate of selling prices
by expected cost plus a margin
approach of these service obligations
as the basis for the allocation of the
fransaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

5. REVENUE (Continued)

Continuing operations
(Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for confracts

5. WA(E)

(i) EFEXZBHERLE)

with customers (Continued)
Digital marketing (Continued)
As a principal (Continued)

For social media marketing, revenue
is recognised over time when the
customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs, i.e. the broadcast of
the advertisement.

The Group normally grants credit
period of 30 to 120 days to customers
and requires certain customers to
provide upfront deposits. When the
Group receives a deposit before
production commences, this will
give rise to contract liabilities which
represent the Group’s obligation
to fransfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount
of consideration is due) from the
customer. Conversely, contract asset
is recognised over the period in which
the social media marketing services
are performed representing the
Group’s right to consideration for the
services performed because the rights
are conditioned on the Group’s future
performance in achieving specified
milestones. The contract assets are
tfransferred to trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional, i.e.
upon completion of all performance
obligations within a contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. REVENUE (Continued)

Continuing operations
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Performance obligations for confracts
with customers (Continued)

Digital marketing (Continued)
As an agent

For certain new media advertising
revenue stream, the Group mainly
assists customers, i.e. advertising
companies, in sourcing digital
marketing products on online
platforms, such as mobile applications
or social media platforms, in the
capacity of an agent rather than
as the principal in a tfransaction,
revenue recognised is the net amount
of commission made by the Group
on a monthly basis. The credit terms
granted by the vendors may or may
not be consistent with the credit
period of 30 to 60 days granted by the
Group fto the customers.

Retailing and wholesales

Revenue from retailing and wholesales
is primarily derived from sales of wine.
Revenue is recognised at a point in
fime when the goods are delivered
and titles have passed. The normal
credit term is 60 days upon delivery.

Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

All goods or services provided by the
Group are for contracts with original
expected duration of one year or
less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
fransaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

6. OTHER INCOME
Continuing operations

For the year ended 31 March 2021, other
income mainly included bank interest
income of HK$309,000 (2020: HK$2,411,000
(Restated)) and government grants
of HKS$1,311,000 (2020: Nil) in respect
of Covid-19-related subsidies under
Employment Support Scheme provided by
the Hong Kong government.

H bW A

RBE-Z=--F=A=+-HIEFE H
oA = B FERTHR S WA 309,000 7T
(ZB=Z# :2411,0008 5% (EEH)) R
BRBNMREZRAEIFET 20198

R Z B AR R 2 USR5 1,311,000
T(ZEZRF ) -

= —=<

7. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES Hilz= s g8
Continuing operations BFEKEXK
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Loss) gain on fair value change of BEATEEFABERZ
financial assets at FVTPL TREEZATEESZH
2 (BB ks
— held for trading — BEEE (207) —
— others — Hfth 250 (4,393)
Loss on disposal of property and HEMERREZER
equipment (13) —
Gain on early termination of leases REBALBEEZWES 907 —
Net foreign exchange gain (loss) 5 s (F18) T8 117 (684)
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary Bz — BB Q)
(Note 35) 2 Wz (FEE 35) — 792
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB QR 2z WS
(Note 35) (Fd&E 35) —_ 67
1,054 (4,218)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

Note:During the year ended 31 March 2020, a full
impairment loss of HK$10,574,000 was made in
respect of prepayments to suppliers in digital
marketing business (the “Suppliers”) due to civil
complaints by the Group against the Suppliers

for their suspected misconduct behaviour.

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MKEH
Continuing operations FEREER
2021 2020
—E--—F C—TCoEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Interests on bank borrowings RITERZAE 1,234 453
Interests on lease liabilities HEEBEZAE 313 190
Interests on advances from BYE=ZFANRZ
independent third parties FE 908 761
2,455 1,404
OTHER IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 9. HitmERKIE
Continuing operations BHEKEXK
2021 2020
—E-—F —EZEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE FHET
Impairment loss recognised in respect T ZIEERE 2
of VEREY SR
— goodwill (Note 18) — BHE(MzE18) (11,401) (8,941)
— intangible assets (Note 20) — | EE (MEE20) (3,757) —
— prepayments (Note) — FAR(TRRIE (MEE) — (10,574)
— property and equipment — MIERRE
(Note 16) (MzE16) (309) 67)
— right-of-use assets (Note 17) — EAEEE(MFE17) (3,226) (1,051)
(18,693) (20,733)

HRERSE -

F ¥k 2020-2021

M REBEZ-Z-TE=F=+—-HLLEE ARSK
AERBIB LT BEEER 2 HER (RS HE
BHDZARTETAEEERERF  HORET
SR B FIEEE 10,574,000 T2 E

XEEERERERRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 7 EEHR

Information reported to the executive MATESNAEE2TELERRE
directors, being the Group’s chief ([EFEREREFEE D) BRESUH I BHERR
operating decision maker (*CODM"), for FELHRB2ERB IR ANHIREE 2
the purposes of resource allocation and EmRREZER - WA AABAREBFK
assessment of segment performance BeEE UTHAIEIRAEBE 2KEED
focuses on types of goods or services o REEBAREEBZAIREDZE > WESE
delivered or provided. This is also the EXTERERRENBRI LKL D -

basis upon which the Group is organised
and specifically focuses on the Group’s
operating divisions. No operating segments
identified by the CODM have been
aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s operating and AR REEBYKKREEREHKLE
reportable segments from continuing o REERFEREER CKERATRSE
operations under HKFRS 8 Operating DEWT

Segments are as follows:

P S A

— Publishing and IPs licensing: — HBRRABEERRE: BEEHELHM
publication of comic books and RREEBEHBERREZMEWA °
royalty income from licensing IPs of
comics.

— Digital marketing: providing digital — BBt HmEHEE: RPERMUEE L
marketing and communication, IP MZEERBH - NEAEEHBLR
digitalisation and agency of IP services MBERARIER -
in the PRC.

— Retailing and wholesales: retailing of — ZEHEME  EEBTEEE-

wine in Hong Kong.
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021,
Polluquin Group was disposed and ifs
operation in online and social business is
presented as a discontinued operation.
Prior year segment disclosures have been
represented. Details of the discontinued
operation is further set out in Note 35.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, Sai
Van Club was disposed and its operation
in catering services is presented as a
discontinued operation. Details of the
discontinued operation is further set out in
Note 35.

Polluguin Group and Sai Van Club
were previously reported as reportable
segments.,

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s
revenue and results from continuing
operations by operating and reportable
segments.

10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment revenue and results
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. ZHRER (&)
DEBARFEEE)

BEr—_E-—fF=-ZH=+—HIFE

Continuing operations B EER
Publishing Retailing
and IPs Digifal and
licensing marketing wholesales Consolidated
ERR A L0114
ERRE ik 244 SEANE &a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
Tén Tén Tén Tén
Revenue WA
External sales NPRE 8,207 198,394 4 206,605
Segment resulfs piiET (1,398) (37,622) (427) (39,447)
Unallocated expenses APERE (20,399)
Unallocated income L ON 809
Other gains and losses EtBEREE 197
Impairment loss on goodwil HBEZAESE (11,401)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets ~ EREEECHERS
(unallocated portion) (KA EHHB) (801)
Loss before tax from continuing FELE5HKL
operations BEEES (71,042)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 7 EER(E)
(Continued)
Segment revenue and results DEHBAREE(E)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE—E-_FF-HA=+—HILEE
(Restated) (AEE )
Continuing operations FFEE SR
Publishing Retalling
and IPs Digital and
licensing marketing wholesales Consolidated
R Bl
EERE mEEE SEANE e
HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$'000
Thn Tin Tén Tén
Revenue KA
External sales SEpsEE 8,333 144,821 134 153,288
Segment resulfs IR (3,344) (24,603) (418) (28,365)
Unallocated expenses LY (19.178)
Unallocated income AABHA 1,283
Other gains and losses HithERER (5.383)
Impairment loss on goodwill HEAEFR (8.941)
Loss before tax from continuing BELEERL
operations BHAER (60,634)

The accounting policies of the operating
segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies as described in Note
3. Segment results represent the loss before
tax incurred by each segment without
the allocation of certain other income,
gain on disposal of subsidiaries, gain on
deregistration of a subsidiary, gain (loss)
on fair value change of financial assets
at FVTPL, share of loss of an associate,
impairment losses on goodwill and right-
of-use assets (unallocated portion) and
unallocated corporate expenses. This is
the measure reported to the CODM for
the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

KRED Bz BTTRRENEIMf e AEH
S EEAR - 2 WMEBERTIBAEEZ
BREATEE  WESRERE THMEA - i
EWBE AR 2N - HEEM—EHER R
ZWs s BAFEEFABRERZEMEE
ZRVPEEZH2WE(BE) - BH—BE
ERRAZER BEREREEEZRER
BORDERD) AR RO BEEEFMS - kD
AERLEERREBEUFERIER KRR
Al 2 HEHE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 2 EBER(4EF)
(Continued)
As the Group’s assets and liabilities are HAREECEERABEABRERTE
only reviewed by the CODM as a whole RERKEEHR BUBEREAREEER
and hence no analysis of the Group’s EBEREEDEHE D 2 DM °
assets and liabilities by operating segments
is disclosed.
Other segment information Hth 5 HER
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE - E_—fF=-F=+—HIFE
Continuing operations S E
Publishing Retaiing
and IPs Digitol and Segment
licensing markefing Wholesales fofal Unallocoted Consolidoted
HERAR HEL
ERGE TRER SERYR Pkt 5 il f&
HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
thn in Tin thn in Tin

Amounts included in fhe measure HEIHRRAELEE .
of seqment profit o loss:

Amortisation of intangible assefs LT - 2108 - 2,108 - 2108
Bank inferest income BOHEHA (67) (155) - (220) 81) (309)
Depreciation of propery and NERRELNE
eouipment 126 03 - 3 182 511
Deprecicfion of right-of-use assefs FREEE.ME 618 3n - 4,153 1847 6,000
Impoiment loss under ECLmodel, net B EEEEATZ
HEEEFE (730 1,09 - 1,268 - 1,268
Impaiment loss on property and NERRELHERE
equioment 29 90 - 309 - 309
Impoiment loss on right-of-use assels ~ FREERHERE 1,053 1312 - 2405 801 3206
Impoiment loss on goodwil BENERE - - - - 1401 11401
Impaiment loss on intanglole assefs BVEENEER - 3751 - 3051 - 3781

Amounts requlary provided fo the CODM ~ Efm:ERERRERL
288
Additon fo non-curent assels (Noe) ~ FEREBEE(KR) 1,785 1,384 - 9,169 348 12,602
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 7 EBE R (&)
(Continued)
Other segment information Hib 2 &R (E)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE—E-_FF-HA=+—HILEE
(Restated) (REEZ)
Continuing operations FHREASE T
Publishing Refailing
and IPs Digital and Segment
licensing markefing wholesoles fofal Unallocated Consolidoted
HAR AR HEL
ERRE THER BEdE kL5 98 &2
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$'000
En 7 in 1 T T

Amounfs included in the measwre of i EAUEETRELEE .
seqment profi or loss:

Amortisaton of infangible assefs T - 7 - 57 - 57
Bank nfetes ncome GV 6) (65) - () (14 )
Depreciation of proparty and VESE Pl
equipment 162 203 - 365 104 9
Deprecicfion of right-0f-use cssefs [FREEENE 181 1,662 - 2603 23 4904
Impaiment loss under ECL model RHEEEREET,
hEEE LT3 898 - 3609 - 3609
Impaiment loss on propery and WERREZHEER
equipment 116 ] - 167 - 167
Impoiment loss on right-of-use assels ~ FAEERZHERE 8 %2 - 1,061 - 1,061
Impaiment oss on goodl BELAERE - - - - 8941 8941

Amounts requlary provided fo the CODM R ERERRERM

288
Addition fo non-current assefs (Nofe) FERRBEE (M) 194 6,610 - 7004 5 7059
Note:Non-current assets excluded those relating to Mz : ERBEETEREKA LI ELEEBEEERTE
discontinued operations and excluded financial EE@ITAE -

instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographic information

The Group’s continuing operations are
located in the PRC, including Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue
from external customers is presented
based on the location of goods physically
delivered to or location of services
provided fo the customers and information
about its non-current assets is based on
geographical location of the assets.

10. 7 HEF (&)

i E &R

AEEZHECERZRRUNTRE(BES
) e

BRAEERENBES ZWAZERTIE
BERERRA 2 BB REE S RERE >
WHLF AR RDEEZ AL
REBEZ S -

Revenue from external
customers from

continuing operations Non-current assets
HEREF 2 A FRBDEE
2021 2020 2021 2020

—E--F C—Z-TEF -"B--& “T-FF
HK$’000  HK$'000 ~ HK$°000  HK$'000
FTHERT FTERT FTERT TET

(Restated)
(KRE7)
Hong Kong B8
(place of domicile) (EEPrEi) 8,211 8,467 4,023 2,340
The PRC A El 198,394 144,821 6,667 21,276
206,605 153,288 10,690 23.616

Note:Non-current assets excluded those relating to
financial instruments including financial assets at
FVTPL and rental deposits.

ME FRBEETEFESMTIA(BERAFER
FFABRBERZERMEERESRS)FHRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 2 EER(F)
(Continued)
Information about major ERTEEFZER
customers
Revenue from customers of the HRFEEREBEMAEEAHEERERN10% 2
corresponding years contributing over 10% BEFZWAWMT :

of total sales of the Group are as follows:

2021 2020
—E=--F —E-FEF
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET
Customer A' EFR 128,108 64,789
! Revenue from digital marketing segment. ! WMARBEIBLHIEERED I
Revenue from major products and FEERERBRBRA
services
The following is an analysis of the Group’s AEBZIEERERBRBEE WA DD
revenue from its major products and T :
services:
2021 2020
—EB-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HKS$000
FTHET FExT
(Restated)
(&%)
Comic books BEELE 4,433 4,449
Premium wine BEEE 4 134
Royalty income iR FE WL A 3,774 3,884
Digital marketing HS L HIZHERE 198,394 144,821
206,605 153,288
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

11. LOSS BEFORE TAX 11. BRBIRIE B

Continuing operations FEREER
2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(BEH))
Loss before tax has been arrived at MREAIEIECE RT3
after charging: BIH ¢
Staff costs BETIRA
Directors’ emoluments (Note 15) EEWE (KMIEE15) 5,432 5,531
Other staff costs: HihB8 TR :
— Retirement benefit scheme — RARERIFHEIHR
contributions 1,391 662
— Salaries and other benefits — FEeERHMEF 47,633 20,268
54,456 26,461
Auditor’s remuneration 2 e RN BN &
— Audit services — BITRE 1,950 2,380
— Non-audit services — IEBEFT R 550 550
Cost of inventories recognised as BRARBAXZFENR
expenses 2,519 2,891
Costs to fulfil the contracts with EREFPENZAN(BIE
customers (including staff costs of B I KA 1,559,000% T
HK$1,559,000 (2020: HKS$1,660,000)) —EFH 11,660,000
EBIT)) 165,300 126,876
Depreciation of property and MERREZITE
equipment 511 469
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEEZINE 6,000 4,974
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEH#EGIAHEHE
(included in cost of sales and RARTHER)
administrative expenses) 2,108 557
Legal, consultancy and other EE - BAREMEZE
professional fees (included in other ERGIAHEMER)
expenses) (Note) (FEE) 6,881 1,287
Research cost (included in other MR GFAHEMER)
expenses) 9,453 2,997

Note:The amounts represent fees paid to lawyers
and consultants providing legal services and
professional advices on business operations and

presented under “other expenses”.

FIET -
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12. INCOME TAX CREDIT

Continuing operations

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of
Bermuda, the Company is not subject to
any income tax in Bermuda for both years.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at
16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profits for both years.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong
Legislative Council passed The Inland
Revenue (Amendment) (No.7) Bill 2017
(the "Bill”) which infroduces the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was
signed info law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime,
the first HKS2 million of profits of qualifying
corporations is taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million is taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group enftities not qualifying for
the ftfwo-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%. No provision for taxation in Hong
Kong Profits Tax was made as there is no
assessable profits for both years.

12.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

FREBiER

RBEEBREZEZARBRL - A2 T RWEF
EHBARBRESEMHAEN

FRNEBIIREMEFE 2 A5 ERBE
MZ16.5% (ZF_FF 1 16.5%) 2B K&t
%‘- o

R-ZE-NF=A=+—HB BBILEE
P07 ERBUERT) (BRI GRHER)
(TRZIRBIER]) > SIAFISBIMASF o 2%
BIERAR-_ZE-N\F=ZA-+N\BEHEEL
Mo WABEEBRTIE - REFNESHMR
> AEREEIRS 2% 2R EBHENE 2
BEBTHMNBE  WiR16.5% 2 BHEEMR
2EEBBTULERNZHIE - TEFEHRW
BHEERcEEAER 2B GBERGE
E16.5% #HF - ARFEFETBRERT G
R A EHRE BRI ESHAELTERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Contfinued)

Continuing operations
(Continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%
for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the
relevant jurisdictions.

12. FiiSHiE % ()

RIBHEIDEREBETREMETREDR
TEMREREZZERMAR - PEMEXIRN
B F B 2 B R 19 55 25% o

REMBEZEEEE 2B IR R BB REE
E2EARRGE -

2021 2020
—EB-—F C—E-TF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET Tt

Deferred tax EIERLIE
— Deferred tax credit — EERIEERR 1,121 155
Income tax credit FERKR 1,121 155

Details of deferred tax are set out in Note
31.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020-2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Contfinued) 12. RSB % (&
BESEXEH(E)

Continuing operations
(Continued)

The income tax credit for the year can be
reconciled to the loss before tax per the

consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income as follows:

FRREHESTERFSEERAMEEY
BRPIBRBATESIEERAOT ¢

2021 2020
—E--%F CZT-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FiBT
(Restated)
(LEH))
Loss before tax MRELATE 1B 71,042 60,634
Tax at the domestic income tax rate REIR TS B ZE 25%
of 25% (Note) Bz HE () 17,761 15,159
Tax effect of income not taxable in STERERFIERN B AR
determining taxable profit WAZBBESE 334 226
Tax effect of expenses not deductible FEERFEF T ATHIH
in determining taxable profit X zBEsE (5,529) (4,638)
Tax effect of share of loss of an i — RS A REEZ
associate REEE 4) (28)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FREEAFEEE 2 B1E
24 (9,718) (9.143)
Utilisation of tax loses previously not By A Se Al R E R IE
recognised e 182 332
Effect of different tax rates of REMBEZEEREE 2
subsidiaries operating in other MEBARZTE#MEZ
jurisdictions B4 (1,661) (1,256)
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERZAHRERERE
differences not recognised ZRBEE (244) 497)
Total income tax credit FriSfik R85 1,121 155

Note:The domestic tax rate (which is PRC Enterprise
Income Tax rate) in the jurisdiction where the

operation of Group is substantially based is used.

F ¥k 2020-2021

BT ¢ 50 A 8 K 4 S 0 4 0 5 B 2 L o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

13. DIVIDENDS 13. RE
No dividend was paid or proposed during REBZ-ZE-_—F=A=+—HLFEISE
the year ended 31 March 2021, nor has RNREZRNARE - BREHAREBIERE
any dividend been proposed since the end BT ARE(ZE_ZFF | &) o

of reporting period (2020: Nil).

14. LOSS PER SHARE 14. BREE
From continuing operations REFEKSEER
The calculation of the basic loss per share AABEBEAELGEREAREBEIDRETS
attributable to the owners of the Company HIETE

is based on the following data:

2021 2020
—EB-—fF C—E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(LEH))
Loss for the year attributable to owners AR ESREASEZ
of the Company for the purposes of ¥ NN 2SN
calculating basic loss per share FEEE (57,191) (58,235)
Less: S
Loss for the year from discontinued REREREEK 2
operations FEEE (302) 3,114)
Loss for the purpose of calculating ARSTERBEFERE
basic loss per share from continuing ERCBRELREBEZ
operations gi=| (56,889) (55,121)
2021 2020
—EB=-—F —E-EF
’000 ‘000
T F i
Number of shares for the purposes of FARFTEERELREBES
basic loss per share B8 1,390,657 1,390,657
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14. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)

From continuing and discontinued
operations

The calculation of the basic loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company
is based on the following data:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

14. 8REEGE)

REFERRIEEERR

ARBEREAREBREFABER ZTER
BUT#IE

2021 2020
—E--F C"E-BF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FExT
Loss for the year attributable to owners ARTESREREE 2
of the Company for the purpose of RKABBEEANEGEE
calculating basic loss per share BB (57,191) (58,235)

The denominators used are the same as
those detailed above for basic loss per
share from continuing operations.

From discontinued operations

For the year ended 31 March 2021,
basic loss per share for the discontinued
operations is HK0.02 cent per share (2020:
HKO.2 cent per share), based on the loss for
the year from the discontinued operations
of HK$302,000 (2020: HKS$3,114,000) and the
denominators used are the same as those
detailed above for basic loss per share.

No diluted loss per share has been
presented as there were no potential
ordinary shares in issue for both years.

FisRRAz 2 BEEXHREFECERK 2
BRENBRFLEMRR -

RERIEEEXK

REBE=ZE=-—F=A=+-BHLEE &
I REERCEBRENFEAER0.02E
(== F  BRO.2BA) - TERKE
B#&IER&EEK 2 FE K E302,000% T
(ZZE=ZF : 3,114,008 T) RFIEAD
B FVHAREREREEFREZH
B RBETE -

HAMEFEILEEACRTEESRE
R BAEEZFESRBEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief
executive’s emoluments

Directors” and chief executive’s
remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the applicable Listing
Rules and the CO, is as follows:

15. 25 THABKRSREEAER
2=

(o) EERTTHASZME

REEREHRAR XA RGIKE 2
FEESRITHEAZZMENT :

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
#eR BIRER
e Hitp Rl HE FE &g
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
T T TiEx TR
2021 —B--F
Executive directors (Note i) BTES (M)
Huang Mingguo EHE
(chief executive officer) (fTHas) 120 2,256 18 2,394
Kwan Kin Chung B 120 672 18 810
Yuen Kin riE 120 976 14 1,110
Chow Lai Wah Livia BEE 120 360 18 498
Independent non-executive BUFYTES
directors (Note ii) (HEii)
Fan Chun Wah Andrew BEE 240 - - 240
Wong Kwan Kit BER 190 - - 190
Mung Yat Lik ESY) 190 - - 190
Total ok 1,100 4,264 68 5,432
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief
executive’s emoluments

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

15. 25 - TRABKRSREEAES
2= (&)

(o) EERITHAER <M= (E)

(Continued)
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
ek BIKER
we Rt Fls HEE an
HKS"000 HKS"000 HKS"000 HK$'000
FET FET FET TR
2020 - 33
Executive directors (Note i) BTES (M)
Huang Mingguo EHE
(chief executive officer) (THER) 120 2,370 18 2,508
Kwan Kin Chung o] 120 725 18 863
Yuen Kin X 120 1,050 12 1,182
Chow Lai Wah Livia BEE 120 360 18 498
Independent non-executive BUkHTES
directors (Note ii) (Haxi)
Fan Chun Wah Andrew BhE 240 - - 240
Wong Kwan Kit BEAR 120 - - 120
Mung Yat Lik ESl 120 - - 120
Total o] 960 4,505 66 5,531
FIR 2020-2021 XLEEEERRATF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 15. 55 - THHRAIRSREEAER

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief
executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes:

) The executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

i The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their
services as directors of the Company.

During the both years, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the
directors as a discretionary bonus or
an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as a compensation for
loss of office.

There was no arrangement under

which a director had waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020-2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 15. 55 - THHAIRSREEAER

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S ZWE (&)

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employee’s emoluments (b) EEZEE
Of the five individuals with the highest AEBREEBEFALTR=Z(ZE=
emoluments in the Group, three EF ZR)BERLAANESRITHEA
(2020: three) were directors and chief H HE2MEE R EXKEE150) F
executive officer of the Company BE -HBMB(ZEZZEF - MWMAB)
whose emoluments are included in ATZBEOT :

the disclosure in Note 15(a) above.
Emoluments of the remaining two
(2020: two) individual was as follows:

2021 2020
—B-—% —ZT=-FTF
HK$’000 HKS$’000
FExT FBT
Salaries and other benefits FehHEMRZFE 1,220 1,834
Retirement benefit scheme BB R FT B
confributions 816 115
2,036 1,949
Their emoluments were within the BEZHMESNMRUTAR :
following bands:
2021 2020

—E--—-F —E-FF
Number of Number of
employee employee

EEA™ EEAH

Nil fo HK$1,000,000 Z£% 1,000,000 % 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HKS1,500,000 1,000,001 BT E
1,500,000 & T 1 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 16. MERRE
Vehicles,
Leasehold furniture and
improvements equipment Total
AENE RE Kl
&8 e ag
HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$'000
ThR ThR Tin
cost B
AR T April 2019 RZE-NEME-A 6,115 16,946 23,061
Arising from acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34) WiE-EHBAREE (W) 300 150 450
Additions AE 190 301 491
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-BHELT (5,004) (4,109) 9,167)
Exchange realignment ExHE (215) (753) (968)
At 31 March 2020 RZEZEF=F=1-H 1,326 12,541 13,867
Additions RE 31 285 316
Disposal e - (90) (90)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-BHBAR (645) (5,254) (5.899)
Exchange realignment Exig 10 62 72
At 31 March 2021 HoBz-EZfzt-8 7 7,544 8,266
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT WERAE
At April 2019 R=E-1EMA-A 5,300 16,924 2.2
Provided for the year REERE 394 219 613
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss REREIZIEER 36 131 167
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary HE-BHED TR (5,004) (4,109) 9,167)
Exchange realignment ExHE (257) (706) (963)
At 31 March 2020 RZEZEF=5=1-H 409 12,465 12,874
Provided for the year AEERE 245 266 511
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss RERBAZHELE 263 46 309
Eliminated on disposal 1H B - (72) (72)
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary HE-BHEL TN (645) (5,254) (5,899)
Exchange realignment ExjE 8 62 70
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ-E=Zf=+-H 280 7.513 7,193
CARRYING VALUES FEE
At 31 March 2021 WZEZ-£=B=+-H 442 3 473
At 31 March 2020 WZEZEF=F=+-H 917 76 993
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16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the
cost over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method, at the following
rates per annum:

Shorter of the lease
term or 10%
15% to 20%

Leasehold
improvements
Vehicles, furniture

and equipment

As at 31 March 2021, property and
equipment with an aggregate cost of
HK$6,356,000 (2020: HK$5,941,000) were
fully depreciated but in use.

Impairment assessment for
property and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Due to the continuous decline in financial
performance of publishing and IPs licensing
business and certain digital marketing
business in PRC (collectively, the "Relevant
CGUs"), the Directors concluded there was
indication for impairment and conducted
impairment assessment on recoverable
amounts of the Relevant CGUs which
included property and equipment and
right-of-use assets (including corporate
assets allocated). The recoverable
amounts of the Relevant CGUs have
been determined based on value in use
calculation. That calculation uses cash flow
projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management of the
Group as at 31 March 2021.

16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

E & ACH
BEZS M ERAFHRAESRERUAT
FRETRITE UM R A
HEMERERZ HHEI 10%
(UBEERE)
AE - ERM 15% & 20%
&S

RZBE-Z-—-F=ZA=+—B ' 8HEXB
6,356,000 T(ZE=F4F : 5941,0008
) ZMERRBEBHITEMENELR -

%i&%ﬁﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁEZﬂﬁiﬁ
:_-':F

R HRE S EEREEFURRPEZ
ETHRETSHEEXEB(RBIERRE
EEEN DMHRREEE  EFRH/UTIR
BEFR  THEERESELESEV2TRES
BETRENMG BT EEYERRBUR
EREEE(BRCXEEIR) - HERS
EEBEN A REEBNRERABENEM
BE R-2B--5=ZRA=t+—H &8
B EREARSRERR  MREESRER
ANUERAEEEEREM cMBEERE

& o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020-2021

(Continued)

Impairment assessment for
property and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Based on the result of the assessment, the
Directors determined that the recoverable
amounts of the Relevant CGUs are lower
than the carrying amounts. The impairment
amount has been allocated to each
category of property and equipment and
right-of-use assets such that the carrying
amount of each category of asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value
less cost of disposal, its value in use and
zero. Based on the value in use calculation
and the allocation, an impairment of
HKS$309,000 (2020: HKS$167,000) and
HKS$3,045,000 (2020: HKS$1,051,000),
respectively, has been recognised against
the carrying amounts of property and
equipment and right-of-use assefts.

16. =K st (4E)

MERRBUREREEE ZRE
ARk (78)

BERAGER  ESHENBRESELESEN
ZAWEEFEEREREE -  RESECD
BESENERRBURERAEREE  £%
BREEZREAEFTERNBAERRAELQFE
BERHERAE HEREE  URZ(=F
WREE) RREAEEFEUAR LD
B CHWERRBURERAEEE 2R
E{E®R 2 51309,0008 T(ZE=FF :
167,000 7t ) & 3,045,000 T(=F ==&
% :1,051,00087T) ZHE °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. FRAEEE
Leased
buildings
HEZF
HKS$000
FET
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE-_—F=H=+—H
Carrying values IRMEE 2,260
At 31 March 2020 R-B-_FF=A=+—H
Carrying values REE 1,825
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-ZEZ--—-F=A=+—HLEE
Depreciation charge TEXH 6,000
Impairment loss recognised in profit or REEEFERAZBESE
loss 3.226
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE_Z-_EF=A=+—HLEE
Depreciation charge TEXH 4,974
Impairment loss recognised in profit or REZHERZREEE
loss 1,061
2021 2020
—E=--F —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FiBT
Expense relating to: BEUTRBEEE2EX
— Short-term leases — EHEE 460 389
— Leases with lease term ending — R BEXRERBHBE
within 12 months from the date I2EARKILEZHEE
of initial application — 911
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRLATE 6,926 6,406
Additions to right-of-use assets NELAEEE 9,213 1,698
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020-2021

(Continued)

For both years, the Group leases various
offices for its operations. Lease contracts
are entered into for fixed tferm of two
to three years. In determining the lease
ferm and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Company applies
the definition of a contract and determines
the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

The Group regularly entered intfo short-
term lease for warehouse. As at 31 March
2021, the portfolio of short-term leases is
similar to the portfolio of short-term leases
to which the short-term lease expense as
disclosed above.

Impairment loss of HK$3,226,000 (2020:
HK$1,051,000) has been recognised during
the year ended 31 March 2021. Details of
impairment assessment are set out in Notes
16 and 18.

Restrictions or covenants on
leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$5,359,000
are recognised with related right-of-use
assets of HK$2,260,000 (2020: lease liabilities
of HKS$2,806,000 and related right-of-use
assets of HK$1,825,000) as at 31 March
2021. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants. Leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

17. ERBEE(E

REZMEFE  ARERAEEHEZER
RE AN 2HESHEERPAME=
F BERAHERFETITHEDERER
ARBEAEHNZER  URREEHNZE
MR o

AEBEHREBE Y EHEE  R=F
“—F=ZHA=1+—H K EHHEEHASHELEX
i EREER Y EHEEASHEL -

ERABE-ZE-—F=ZA=1t—BLFE
ZHEEE3,226000 8B T (ZE =8 F !
1,051,000 7T ) ° i {B &l 5% 15 8 M &
16X 18

HERFI R RS

i R=ZFZ-—F=A=+—HEH
HEIEAEEE22600008 tEIAEE
B fE535900F (=2 =2F: HE
&8 1E28060008 TR HEAEREEE
1,825,000 7T ) ° % % 18 & 1 & I £ g in
EMEREE - HEEE N A AE AR 1

—_
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT 18. B8 R ET{E

ASSESSMENT
HK$000
FET
At 1 April 2019 RZE—-NFMA—H 19,949
Arising from acquisition of a subsidiary WE—-EHREAREE
(Note 34) (Ki5E 34) 2,412
Exchange realignment fE R (1,294)
At 31 March 2020 R-B-_ZEF=A=+—H 21,067
Exchange realignment fE R 1,730
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE-_—%=H=+—H 22,797
IMPAIRMENT A
At 1 April 2019 R-—ZB—hEmA—H —
Impairment loss recognised during FREBRAZBESE
the year 8.941
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-ZEF=HA=+—H 8.941
Impairment loss recognised during FREBRAZBESE
the year 11,401
Exchange realignment [ R 1,059
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE-_—%=HA=+—H 21,401
CARRYING VALUES BRTEIE
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE-_—%=H=+—H 1,396

At 31 March 2020

R=Z2=ZF=A=+—H

F ¥k 2020-2021

12,126

XIEBEEEERQF 209



210

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

3

ETE—FZAZ=Z+—HLFE

18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

ASSESSMENT (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill has been allocated to two
individual CGUs, each comprising a
subsidiary, namely Egmen Technology
Limited* (=B ZHFABRFEERLT) ("Egmen”)
and Hyperchannel Info Tech., Ltd* (dt =
EERAXEERFEAERLDA) ("Hyperchannel
Info”), both subsidiaries are in digital
marketing segment. An individual CGU
is considered to be impaired when its
recoverable amount declines below its
carrying amount. The recoverable amount
is the higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal.

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated
to these units are as follows:

18. BE KR EFE (F)

RBENANS  BHECIREMEERR
TELEN REH-HEMNBATAR - B
LRZHFANZERIA(TZHFM N RER
EEREEENZAERAR(TEEREEK]) -
MZzmEREQRIBEBEHBERED
e ENREELENMNETKRE SR
EENERAERRAEAERE - AREE
BRAEAEERLFEERESRA (AR
SERE) -

b=11l'g

PTEREFZEEMZHEREENT !

2021 2020

—_E_— —ECEF

HK$’000 HK$000

FERT FiERT

Egmen 2 %M — 9,733
Hyperchannel Info EEHE R 1,396 2,393
1,396 12,126

In addition to goodwill above, property
and equipment, infangible assets and
right-of-use assets (including allocation of
corporate assets) that generate cash flows
together with the related goodwill are also
included in the respective CGU for the
purpose of impairment assessment.,

English name is for identification only
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18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

ASSESSMENT (Continued)
Egmen

The basis of the recoverable amounts of
the above CGUs and their major underlying
assumptions are summarised below:

The recoverable amount of this CGU has
been determined based on a value in use
calculation. That calculation uses cash
flow projection based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a
five-year period, and the pre-tax discount
rate of 23.72% (2020: 25.41%), applied by
an independent professional valuer, Valor
Appraisal & Advisory Limited (the “Valuer”).
The cash flow of this CGU beyond the
five-year period is exfrapolated using a
2% (2020: 2%) growth rate. This growth
rate is based on the relevant industry
growth forecasts. Other key assumptions
for the value in use calculation related
to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows
include budgeted sales, gross margin and
related cash inflow and outflow patterns.
The estimation is based on the unit’s
past performance and management’s
expectations for the market development.

During the year 31 March 2021, due to
the inability to improve the financial
performance of Egmen, further
deterioration resulted from prior year,
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Directors performed impairment testing
and have consequently determined
full impairment on goodwill related to
Egmen and further impairment amounting
to HK$181,000 has been allocated pro
rata to right-of-use assets to the exftent
the carrying amount of the asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal, its value in use and
zero.
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18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020-2021

ASSESSMENT (Continued)
Egmen (Continued)

During the year 31 March 2020, there
was decline in financial performance
of Egmen for the year and expected
contfinuous decline in the forecast period
partly due to the negative effects by
the novel coronavirus. The Directors had
consequently determined impairment of
goodwill amounted to HK$8,941,000. No
impairment on other assets of Egmen was
considered necessary.

Hyperchannel Info

The recoverable amount of this CGU has
been determined based on a value in
use calculation. That calculation uses
cash flow projection based on financial
budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period, and the pre-
tax discount rate of 20.88% (2020: 23.41%),
applied by the Valuer. The cash flow of
this CGU beyond the five-year period is
extrapolated using a 2% (2020: 2%) growth
rate. Other key assumptions for the value
in use calculation related to the estimation
of cash inflows/outflows include budgeted
sales, gross margin and related cash inflow
and outflow patterns. The estimation is
based on the unit’s past performance and
management’s expectations for the market
development. Management believes that
any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of this CGU
to exceed the aggregate recoverable
amount of this CGU.

18. & KR ER (B

5% (&)

RBE-B-TE=A=+—ALEE 5
2P R B IS R T R T IS B
HETHR  BHREBTEERFEREE
TR EBHEBAHHE,941,000
BRZEEAE BARSEINAEE
T -

E &R

BREELEM 2AREEEIREERE
EEMETE - 2T EEAEREEEME
ZHRELFHCUBREZRERETAR -
R EMERZHATEERZE20.88% (=&
TEF 2841%) ZBBAFHREESL
BUREREBEMA2% (ZBZZF 1 2%)
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18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

ASSESSMENT (Continued)
Hyperchannel Info (Continued)

During the year 31 March 2021, there is
decline in the financial performance of
Hyperchannel Info. The Directors performed
impairment testing and have consequently
determined impairment of goodwill
related to Hyperchannel Info amounting
to HKS$1,200,000 (2020: Nil). No impairment
on other assets of Hyperchannel Info was
considered necessary.

If discount rate increased to 23.3%
individually with all other parameters
remain constant, the recoverable
amount would reduce by approximately
HK$1,130,000 and further impairment of
goodwill with the same amount will be
made.

The impairment loss has been included
in profit or loss in the “other impairment
losses” line item.

18.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. R—REBE QAT 2R
2021 2020
—B--—F C—ZE-TF
HK$’000 HK$"000
FERT FHBT
Cost of investments in an unlisted RIELHEE QT

associate REHN 1,476 1,476
Share of post-acquisition losses LW EREE (281) (258)
1,195 1,218
Particulars of the Group’s associate as at R-ZBEZ-FZA=Z+—BAREEKE QT

31 March 2021 are as follows: ZHMAEROT ¢

Proportion of

Form of Place of nominal value of
business incorporation/ Class of issued share capital
Name of associate  structure operation shares held held by the Group  Principal activity
HASEREZERT
BENT LR ERREES  HEMRYL/EERE  FERHER RAEERAT TEEH
2021 2020
—E--fF —ZC°EF
Culturecom Media  Incorporated  Hong Kong Ordinary 18% 18%  Production of digital
& Entertainment content and
Limited ("CMEL") enfertainment
(Note) services
BEFZRER wEfi B 5 EER YBABHER
BRAR(TCMELL) IR B R
(Brat)
Note:The Group has the power to appoint two out of Mk : AEEEEEFCMELERESETRME - ES
the five directors of CMEL. In the opinion of the RE AEERCMELEEEARFE L - ik
Directors, the Group has significant influence DPEAREEBE AT -

over CMEL and it is therefore classified as an
associate of the Group.

The Directors consider the associate is EERE  ZBEQLTNMTREE - WMITEAME
immaterial and no financial information is FEHFIEBEER -

set out accordingly.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-_-F=ZA=t+—HLFE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 0. BFEEE
Customer
contracts
and related
Club customer
memberships relationship Software Total
EFEHE
efeE HHEFER B4 Lt
HKS"000 HKS"000 HKS"000 HK$"000
THr THER T T
(Note @) (Note b) (Note b)
(&t a) (MzEb) (HzEb)
COST AR
At 1 April 2019 RZE-AEMA-H 1,385 2,802 2,270 6,457
Acquired on acquisition of a EERWE-BHELR
subsidiary - 2,144 - 2,144
Exchange realignment ERRE - (138) (193) (331)
At 31 March 2020 RZE-Z£=f=1+-H 1,385 4,808 2,077 8,270
Addition NE - - 3,073 3,073
Exchange realignment EXHE - 459 517 976
At 31 March 2021 R-BEZ-£=ZfA=+-H 1,385 5,267 5,667 12,319
AMORTISATION B
At 1 April 2019 RZE-REMA-H - 166 129 295
Charge for the year R - 428 129 557
Exchange realignment EXRE - (7) (19) (36)
At 31 March 2020 RZE-F£=f=1+-H - 577 239 816
Charge for the year ERk - 725 1,383 2,108
Impairment loss recognised in profit  REZENER 2 HEEE
or loss (Note ¢) (M) - 3,757 - 3,757
Exchange realignment EXHE - 208 64 272
At 31 March 2021 RZE--£=fA=1+-H - 5,267 1,686 6,953
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ-£=fA=+-H 1,385 — 3,981 5,366
At 31 March 2020 RZEZEE=f=+-H 1,385 4,231 1,838 7,454
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BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(@

()

©

Club memberships are life corporate club
memberships in recreational clubs. As the club
memberships are considered by the Directors as
having an indefinite useful life, the memberships
are not amortised until their useful lives are
determined to be finite. After considering the
prices quoted in the second hand market, no
impairment of the club memberships is made
during both years.

The carrying amount of customer contracts
and related customer relationship and software
is amortised on a straight line method over its
remaining useful life, i.e. 5 years.

Customer conftfracts and related customer
relationship relate to two customers in the digital
marketing segment. During the year ended
31 March 2021, actual sales and gross margin
generated from these two customers were
significantly lower than the expected sales and
gross margin previously forecasted by the Group.
With the impairment indicators identified, the
Directors conducted a review of the recoverable
amounts of the relevant assets. The Directors
have consequently determined an impairment
of infangible assets of HK$3,757,000 (2020: Nil)
related to customer contfracts and related
customer relationships for the year ended 31
March 2021.

20. B EE (/&)
T

(@

()

©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR 21. %’Z\\SFEEE"U\E?E&%Z%@E

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR

LOSS
2021 2020
=F=—% —Z-FF
HK$’000 HK$"000
FERT FExT
Listed equity shares, at fair value: TR ARG  BAFERE:
Hong Kong BB 2,726 625
Overseas =oh 296 90
3,022 715
Analysed as: Bak =
— Non-current — ERE 1,802 715
— Current — R 1,220 —
3,022 715
As at 31 March 2021, the Group held R-ZBE-Z—F=ZA=+—0 ' AEEEZEEL

a portfolio of listed investments of
HKS$1,220,000 (2020: Nil) for trading and
are classified as current. In addition, the
investments in the listed equity shares of
HK$1,802,000 (2020: HK$715,000) are held
for long-term strategic purposes and are
classified as non-current.

At the end of the reporting period, the
fair values of the listed equity shares are
determined based on the quoted market
bid prices available on the relevant stock
exchanges.

mREAE1,2200008 T(ZB=FF :
B)FEE U2 BEA/RB - I RNED
RARAD 2R E1,802,000 BT (=ZF=F
F 17150008 ) FERBREBER D
BRFERE -

RIBEIK - EHRARD 22 FEETR
BERREXSMUREZHSMBEAE
BE -
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ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

22. INVENTORIES 22. &
2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-EF
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FET FiET
Premium wines (Note) EEHE (M) 34,905 34,909
Others Htb 725 735
35,630 35,644

Note:Premium wines with a carrying amount
of approximately HK$34,905,000 (2020:
HK$34,909,000) were held by the Group as at 31
March 2021. During the year ended 31 March
2021, the Group markets the premium wines
in more distribution channels including online
platform and wine dealer.

No allowance of inventories was made
during both years.

At the end of both reporting periods,

premium wines held by the Group were
with NRV higher than the carrying amount.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020-2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. EWE FERAX
2021 2020
—B--—F C—E-TF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHExT FB T
Trade receivables EWE SR 66,924 26,986
Less: allowance for credit losses A EEEERE (4,083) (3.858)
62,841 23,128

As at 1 April 2019, frade receivables from
confracts with customers amounted to
HKS$9,969,000.

The following is the aged analysis of frade
receivables net of allowance for credit
losses presented based on the date of
billing.

RZEB-NFHNA-H FEFEHNZEWRE
Z RN 59,969,000 T °

LT HZERERHNZ2I 2 HREEFERE
ZEWE 5 IR 2 BRER DA o

2021 2020

—E=--F —E-EF

HK$’000 HKS$’000

FHET FET

0 — 60 days 0— 60H 57,691 13,958
61 — 90 days 61 —90H 666 5,526
91 — 180 days 91 — 180H 4,025 3,542
Over 180 days BB 180 H 459 102
62,841 23,128
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES

24.

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2021, included in the
Group’s frade receivables balance are
debtors with aggregate gross amount of
HKS$3,464,000 (2020: HKS$3,395,000) which
are past due and also past due over 90
days as at the reporting date, of which
HKS$3,245,000 (2020: HKS$3,293,000) are
considered credit impaired. Included in the
past due balances, allowance of credit
losses of HK$3,245,000 (2020: HKS$3,293,000)
has been provided as of 31 March 2021.

Details of impairment assessment are set
out in Note 38b.

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS

23. EE 5 iR (4E)

NR-ZZBE-Z-—F=ZA=+—H  8ERLE
EEWE 5 IR R A # E{E3,464,000
BRX(ZEZFF :3,39500087t) 2 k&
WERR  HERFEEHECET  waHE
B®O0R » M H &13,245,0008 T(=Z & =
THF 3,293,000 T)WEABEERE-
B HR 45 82 R 3,245,000/ 8 T(Z BT F ©
3293000 BT ) 2GEEER - -_—F
=B=1t—HEEEHE-

LB R B RN M 38b ©

24 H AR ~ HERANKIE

2021 2020

—F=——% —Z-%F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FERT FET

Other receivables HAun g RIE 8,700 11,457

Less: allowance of credit loss W EEEERE (642) (395)

8,058 11,062

Deposits and prepayments (Note) Be RFEAKE(ME) 9,124 13,859
Total other receivables, deposits HihERARIE - RERFER

and prepayments FIEA 17,182 24,921
Less: Amounts that will be seftled or &l : R —FREERNEBH

utilised within one year ZFRIE (15,849) (24,813)

Amounts that will be utilised for more R —F%E R ZFIE
than one year 1,333 108
Note:As at 31 March 2021, the amount mainly Mz  R-BEZ-—F=A=+—H0 Z2BEIEZEER

comprised of prepayments of approximately
HK$5,614,000 (2020: HK$7,911,000) made to
media suppliers under digital marketing business.

Details of impairment assessment are set
out in Note 38b.

YW HBEEER ERMUREEL 2AMR
1H#5,614,0008 T (=2 =F4% : 7,911,000 %
TT) e

B RS 2 R R MR 38b ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25.

26.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carrying interest at market
rate ranges from of 0.001% to 0.1% (2020:
from 0.001% to 2.0%) per annum.

Pledged deposits carry fixed interest rate
of 0.6% (2020: 0.6%) and are pledged to a
bank to secure banking facilities granted
tfo the Group. The pledged bank deposits
will be released upon the cessation of
relevant bank facilities.

Details of impairment assessment are set
out in Note 38b.

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSIT/
CONTINGENT LIABILITY

A subsidiary of the Group, Hyperchannel
Info, is a defendant in a legal action
involving the alleged failure of
Hyperchannel Info to provide services in
accordance with the terms of contract.
The customer filed a lawsuit in People’s
Court of Nanshan District of Shenzhen
(the "Court”) during the year ended
31 March 2021 against Hyperchannel
Info to terminate the signed contract
and demand repayment amounting
to RMB4,500,000 (approximately
HKS$5,324,000). The customer has
also requested the Court to restrict
Hyperchannel Info’s bank balance
amounted to RMB4,500,000 (approximately
HK$5,324,000). In accordance with the
order of seal up, distrain and freeze
properties issued by the Court, the
restricted bank deposit will expire on 12
August 2021 and therefore such deposit is
classified as current asset accordingly.

Hyperchannel Info is in the process of
defending the action and based on legal
advice obtained, the Directors are of the
view that no material losses will arise in
respect of the legal claim at the date of
these consolidated financial statements
as it is not probable that the contingent
liability of RMB4,500,000 (approximately
HK$5,324,000) will materialise.

25.

26.

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ/ﬂﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ

RITEFRDEFNENF0.001%ZE0.1%
(ZZZZF 4 F0.001% £2.0%)5T R °

BEAFREZEEERNR0.6% (ZFE=FF :
0.6%)stE - EEMT—BRIT - HLUER
BFAKEZRTEE - SEPRITERS
REBERTEER LRERD -

A RS 2 BN MEE 38b ©

ZREBITEFRIREE

AEENBAREERES —RUEBRE
RIBENIRFIR MR 2 EEFAZWE -
ZEFRBE-Z--F=A=t—-HL
FEARYTELUEARER (AR D #H
EERAEREFR URLEZDERTZ
R WEREE AR 45000007 (K
5,324,000 7T) - ZEFFFE BRERIR
HIE SR 2 RITAEER AR 4,500,000 T
(#75,324,0008 ) - RBEEZREH 2 &E
B0/ REVEBHE  BRIZRHIR
TEXBR=-Z2=_—-FNA+-HER
HZEREIERRBEE -

A4 ERL L ERFAE /T IR - MARSE PR ER
B tEER EERAANZEREUBR
REAMTEREBELRFAELEEFNEK
BiE > MR EEARE4,50000075T (4
5,324,0008 ) B # R 2 AREME T K °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

27.TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER
PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
CHARGES

The following is an aged analysis of trade
payables presented based on the invoice
dates at the end of the reporting period.

27. ENEZRM - HtEARIER
EETER

UTRARHRENBRRERTAH2I 2 BN
B R ZIRE D AT -

2021 2020

—E--F -Z=-%F

HK$’000 HKS$000

FERT FET

0 — 60 days 0— 60H 13,487 5,944
61 — 90 days 61 —90H 225 216
Over 90 days HBiEBO0 R 807 76
14,519 6,236

The average credit period on purchases
of goods ranges from 15 to 90 days. The
Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all
payables are settled within the credit
timeframe.

Other payables and accrued charges
mainly represent accrued operating
expenses, accrued salaries and advances
from independent third parties. As at 31
March 2020, advances from independent
third parties of HK$14,546,000 carried fixed
interest rate at 1% per month and were
unsecured and repayable within 1 year.
The advances are fully repaid during the
current year,

BEERZFHIFEEHNFISEINH &
SECHEVHRBREERR  UBRRME
BAREREERBERATUESR

HttE N RIERETERA T EEETEEN
T OEHHFERBUBE=ZFANLR - R
—EF=ZA=1T—H BIYE=FFETR
14,546,0008 tiZEB ABERNE 1% R
WHEIKH BEARIFREEZ - BHEBEMSR
RAFECBEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 28. S AEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECEF
HK$’000 HKS$000
THET FET
Advances from customers: BFEX
Digital marketing I EhmBHE 1,057 1,384
As at 1 April 2019, contract liabilities RZZE-NLFNAE—H &¥8EAE
amounted to HK$114,000. 114,000# 7T °
The following table shows how much of TRITEAEERBREZWAFRENEEGH
the revenue recognised in the current EERBAZ¥E -
year relates to confract liabilities at the
beginning of the year.
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETEF
HK$’000 HKS$000
THET FET
Revenue recognised that was EREDBWBRATAREDNZ
included in the contract liability EHEBER
balance at the beginning of the
year
— Digital marketing — BBt miBHE 1,384 114
Typical payment terms which impact HECRASHEBSE AR SRS
on the amount of contract liabilities RMIEES ©

recognised are set out in Note 6.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

29. LEASE LIABILITIES 29. HEEFE
2021 2020
—E-—fF C"E-EF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FE&T FE&T
Lease liabilities payable: HESBENTIHEES :
Within one year —FR 4,394 1,994
Within a period of more than one RER—FEFZRH
year but not more than two years WEHE 965 812
Less; Amount due for settlement B RRBEBEPRERR
with 12 months shown under 1218 B R B H 4545
current liabilities ZEE (4,394) (1,994)
Amount due for settlement after 12 RIERBEBHERR
months shown under non-current 1218 B & E B &1
liabilities ZE5 965 812

The weighted average incremental
borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities
ranged from 4.37% to 5.00% (2020: 4.75% to
5.38%) per annum.

£5.38%) °

All lease obligations are denominated in
the functional currencies of the relevant
group entities.

SI{E -
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30. BANK BORROWINGS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

30. SRITIERK

2021 2020
—E=-—-F —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Carrying amount of bank borrowings BRT5IHREERE 2 R1T
that is: B AREE ¢
— repayable on demand and — BREREER
repayable within one year BAR—FREE 11,831 4,374
— repayable on demand due to — RERERZEFEM
breach of loan covenants AREREREER 23,664 4,375
35,495 8,749

As at 31 March 2021, bank borrowings carry
fixed interest rate which is deftermined
at loan prime rate plus 0.5175% (2020:
0.5175%) per annum upon drawdown of
the bank borrowings and are secured
by pledged bank deposits. During the
year ended 31 March 2021, the effective
intferest rates on the bank borrowings are
ranged from 4.37% to 4.87% (2020: 4.57%).

As at 31 March 2021, in respect of bank
borrowings with carrying amount of
HK$23,664,000 (2020: HKS4,375,000) secured
by the pledged bank deposits, two
subsidiaries (2020: one subsidiary) of the
Group breached the corresponding bank
covenants, which are primarily related to
maintain the net tangible assets of the
related subsidiaries at the agreed level.
On discovery of the breach, the Directors
informed the bank and commenced a
renegotiation of the ferms of the loans
with the banker. The bank borrowing of
HK$4,375,000 which breached the loan
covenant as at 31 March 2020 is fully
repaid during the current year. As at 31
March 2021, the negotiation in respect
of the breach of loan covenants of bank
borrowings of HK$23,664,000 had not been
concluded.

R-ZBE=Z-—F=A=+—08 RITEHE
REOBITERFZ2ERZEEFTANEM
0.5175% (=B =FF : 0.5175%) 2E ER|
Rt EBUBIKFRITERERER - RE
EZE_—F=A=+—HLEE  RiTE
RZEBRAENFA437%E487%(=ZFE=
TE 1 4.57%) °

R-EB-Z-F=ZB=+—-H BmEEEAR
23,664,000 st (=& = F £ : 4,375,000
BRI UEERRTERERER ZET
ERME  AKEMENBLR(ZZE=F
F-BHBLR)ERMEEBRITR® &
ZERTRATEZDAEEENBRRAZBRE
EFEESRBEKTFAR BREBER
Efg EBCHGRT XERTHES
ENEEZEERZGR - RZF2FF
ZA=t+t—H EREFRZHZRITER
4,375,000 B TERAFERERE - N =
E-F=ZA=1t—-H BRERRBRITER
23,664,000 8B T2 ERZH ZEBE KT
B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

31. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 3. EZEBIBBEE
Deferred taxation is calculated in full on EERIEDUEREZEREEELRAEEH
temporary differences under the liability REMER LR BITEABEITE « K
method using the applicable tax rates SECZEEHBEERWNEFERZEE W
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the T

Group operates. Movements of deferred
tax liabilities of the Group during both
years are as follows:

Accelerated Intangible
tax assets arisen
depreciation on acquisition Total
piif:.3 WEEEZ
BANE BREE wE
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FERT FET TiET
At 1 April 2019 R-ZE-NFNA—H 692 692 1,384
Credit to profit or loss for SAFERSE
the year 7 (148) (155)
Arising on acquisition of o WiE— BB AR EE ZHIE
subsidiary — 536 536
Exchange realignment fE =R — (23) (23)
At 31 March 2020 RIE-EF=H=+—H 685 1,057 1,742
Credit to profit or loss for SAEERE
the year (22) (1,099) (1,121)
Exchange realignment fE R — 42 42
At 31 March 2021 RIE--F=ZH=+—H 663 — 663
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31. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

(Continued)

At 31 March 2021, the Group estimated
unused tax losses of approximately
HK$1,008,750,000 (2020: HK$963,132,000)
available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of such losses due
to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tfax
loses are losses of HK$4,000, HK$689,000,
HKS$11,720,000 and HKS$22,344,000 that
will expire in 2022, 2023, 2024 and 2025,
respectively (2020: HK$4,000, HK$645,000
and HK$10,985,000 will expire in 2022, 2023
and 2024, respectively). Other losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had
deductible temporary differences of
HK$3,607,000 (2020: HK$2,174,000) mainly
arising from impairment losses on property
and equipment, right-of-use assets and
frade receivables. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of such
deductible temporary differences as it is
not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-_-F=ZA=t+—HLFE

1EEHERE(E)

R-ZEBZ-F=ZA=+—-H Ax&ETH
DIEEARAR GRN 2Bt KRB AREEE
#) %1,008,750,000% t(=Z & = & F :
963,132,000 7T ) ° H A& ETE B AR RKiE
MRE RUETERZEFEEBRIELHR
HEE T AXRBERIRNEFERD AR
E__FENZEBE-=E-ZE_NMER=
E_HFEMm2EE4000% T - 689,000
7 7t > 11,720,000 7% Tt & 22,344,000 & T
(ZZ2E=ZEF  BHR=_T==F - =%
—ZER-ZZE-_MEFERE®Z40008 T
645,000 Tt & 10,985,0008 5 ) o H 5
BAERLE -

RZE-—F=A=+—8  XEEEAT
WE R EZ563,607,000 8B T(ZE -8 F :
2,174,000 )  TEREMWERRZE

FREEERERE ZRIFEE ZRES
B -BARTAAUESEERB EFNHZET
MEBEREEER RUERZETNREY

IR ERRRRIELEREEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. |k

Number of Share
shares capital
RO E [N
‘000 HK$'000
Fh& FET

Ordinary shares of HKS 0.01 each BREEOIBT2EER

Authorised SERE
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 RZE-NEFEW™A—AH
and 31 March 2021 —EEF=ZRA=T—HK

—E-—-F=ZB=+—H 200,000,000 2,000,000

Number of shares

Share capital

B8 E &S

2021 2020 2021 2020

—E--F —E2-EBF B —ECEHE

000 ‘000 HK$°000 HK$’000

T T FEx BT
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR
At the beginning and REDRFER

the end of the year 1,390,657 1,390,657 13,907 13,907
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Pursuant fo an ordinary resolution passed
on 12 August 2013, the Company adopted
a share option scheme (the "2013
Scheme”). The life of the 2013 Scheme
is effective for 10 years from the date of
adoption until 11 August 2023. There is no
options granted under the 2013 Scheme
during the year 31 March 2021 and 31
March 2020.

Major terms for the 2013 Scheme are
summarised as follows:

() The purpose is to provide incentives
to:

. award the participants who have
made conftributions to the Group
and/or any entity in which the
Group holds any equity interest
(“Invested Entity”); and

. recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and atftract human
resources that are valuable to the
Group.

(i The participants include any
employee, director, supplier, agent,
consultant, adviser strategist,
conftractor, subcontractor, expert
or customer of the Group and/or
Invested Entity.

33.
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HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

BT

BRER-_Z—=FNA+_HEBZZER
BROAQARMERESE(=2—=F
FED c —E—=FE2ERBETF
BERMAE BEE-ZE-=FN\A+—H
It REBE-TE-_—-F=A=+—HK=Z
“EFEZA=+-HALEFE HMERE_-F
—=FFEREBRE -

—E-SEHBZETERREEAOT
() BWESEBTHATHTRE:

s RBAXKEERR HIAKEEER
HEMRA#EZ2QR(HRE
RADEHERMZSEE R

s EERKREEHEESRULAEE
BEZAT -

(ih S2RELELAEER HHREQT
ZIEMEE - EF - HHEH  KF
BHEA REEZR - EHEH - IHE
HE - ERHEF ©

F3j 2020-2021 XLBEEERRAF

229



230

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Continued)

(i) The maximum number of shares of the

Company in respect of which share
options might be granted under the
2013 Scheme must not exceed 10%
of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of approval
of the 2013 Scheme, however this limit
might be refreshed by shareholders
in a general meeting. However, total
maximum number of shares of the
Company which might be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding
share options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2013 Scheme and
any other share option scheme must
not exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time.

(iv) The maximum number of shares of

%

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020-2021

the Company in respect of which
share options might be granted to a
participant, when aggregated with
shares issued and issuable (including
exercised and outstanding share
options and the options cancelled)
under any share option granted to
the same participant under the 2013
Scheme or any other share option
scheme within any 12 months period,
must not exceed 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue from time to
fime.

There was no requirement for a
grantee to hold the share option for
a certain period before exercising the
share option save as determined by
the board of directors and provided in
the offer of grant of share option.

33. BB (&

(i) RE-Z-—=F8TEREHzBR
BOURBZARXARNEE BZF
BEBARAR-Z-=FTEHE
BB BITRAI0O% - A > ZR
HAHBRRABRRRE LEH - R
—E-ZHFAREMHEMERES
BB ERRITEZRMBRITERS
RERITERARET ZARARND
BY BETEEBARATHEH
TR 2 30% °

(v)y Ta2HERE2BRETRBZA
REROEHE - BEMTZERHE
WRBE-Z-—=FEREAEME
REGFEOZESRERH ZEME
REBECTERRTEBERERD
AEcBRE MESETRATFRITZ
ROBE  HZFEEBAQATE
BBRITRDZ1% -

V) RESZEERNABEHBREZZN
BESN  AEABERITEBRER
HIEEHEAGEBRE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 33. B ESTEI(E
(Continued)
(vi) The exercise period should be any (Vi) TEHEAEESENREBERERE
period fixed by the board of directors EZEMERE  EREFBERT A5
upon grant of the share option but BEEER BRI TE -

in any event the share option period
should not go beyond 10 years from
the date of offer for grant.

(vii) The acceptance of a share option, if (vii) AR ABRIR L BEEFT28 A AEMH
accepted, must be made within 28 BREWER)  YRERDARAQF
days from the date of grant with a AV BTZRIE  BEERELRT
non-refundable payment of HKS$1 from RiE o

the grantee to the Company.

(viii) The exercise price of a share option (i) BREZITHEEXBEAUT=ZEY &K
must be the highest of: e
« the closing price of a share of the e RELBEH(ERAEXEH)ZAEARD
Company on the date of grant ARMDWEHE ;

which must be a business day;

*« the average closing price of a e EEREHHALEZEXERAZR
share of the Company for the AERHFHIERHE &
5 business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and

e the nominal value of a share of o ARQB—RIRHDEE -
the Company.

(ix) All the share options are vested on the (x) FIEBRERREBHHCEERS -
grant date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 34. W iE —EKH B QA

There is no acquisition of subsidiaries during
the year ended 31 March 2021.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, Beijing
Skyvior, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, acquired 100% equity interest of
Hyperchannel Info from an independent
third party for a consideration of 45%
equity interests of Beijing Skyvior held by
the Group. The fransaction was completed
on 8 November 2019 and accounted
for as an acquisition of business, namely
the digital marketing business, using the
acquisition method. After the acquisition,
Hyperchannel Info becomes a subsidiary of
Beijing Skyvior and Beijing Skyvior changed
from a wholly owned subsidiary to a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.
Hyperchannel Info is principally engaged
in the digital marketing business in the PRC
and was acquired with the objective of
expanding the Group’s business.

BE-_E-_-—-F=ZA=t+—HLFE K&
B ENBEHELR -

BE-_Z-ZTFE=-A=+—HLEFE  &&
EerzEMBLARLEREE — BB ILE=
FUEBEEE 2 100% RAER  REA
REERBE 2L REZE 2 45% RAESR © %
RENR=ZB-NE+—-—ANB=ER XEH
WBESERT AR WS - AR LHISHE
¥k oWiER EERARALTEZE 2K
BAR MEEECRAEEZZENWE
NEEBEFTENRBLAT - EEREKLETER
FERESHB T SHEREELE  mMKBESEE
EEERAEEE -

Consideration transferred CEEZAE
HK$'000
FBIT
45% equity interest of Beijing Skyvior bR E 2 45% B AR 4,032
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 4. WE—ENBELT(E)

(Continued)

Consideration transferred EEEZREE)
(Continued)

Assets and liabilities recognised at the RUKEAHERZEEREE

date of acquisition

HK$"000
FExT
Property and equipment MERZE 450
Intangible assets BEEE 2,144
Bank balances and cash RITETFRES 9,382
Trade receivables B E 5 R 505
Other receivables, deposits and HMEWRIE ~ ek
prepayments FE{IFRIE 33,340
Trade payables, other payables and ERESZRM - HtEARER
accrued charges FEFTE A (43,665)
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE (536)
1,620
The fair value of trade receivables ERESERRREMERREZ A FERS
and other receivables amounted Bl %9 A& 505,000 % T & 1,833,000% st » AP
to approximately HK$505,000 and BWERHzHENSE  BEFEHENERES
HK$1,833,000 respectively, representing REZTZEWE -

gross contractual amounts at the date of
acquisition and contractual cash flows are
expected to be fully collected.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 34. WiE —E KM B L E (&)

(Continued)
Gooduwill arising on acquisition WBERELEZHE
HKS$000
FHET
Consideration transferred EHEECRE 4,032
Less: recognised amount of identifiable & : B WA B EE FE 2 EER
net assets acquired (100%) £ % (100%) (1,620)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEEEELE 2EHE 2,412
Goodwill arose on the acquisition of WHREEAZEEETE  REAKBEES
Hyperchannel Info because the acquisition REERG2EBREIRMG REEFRRV
included the assembled workforce of KBRS EEENEFER2ETEBES
Hyperchannel Info, existing customers and HeZLZEERMARBERERRER  RE
some potential contracts which are still AZSEETHEBINASEERE R HthHE
under negotiation with prospective new EEMHEEEN —HfHE  EE - BE -3
customers as at the date of acquisition. MR -
These assets could not be separately
recognised from goodwill because they
are not capable of being separated from
the Group and sold, transferred, licensed,
rented or exchanged, either individually or
together with any related contracts.
None of the goodwill arising on this FEHSELWESEELE CHERBERR
acquisition is expected to be deductible FLAHORR ©
for tax purpose.
Net cash inflows arising on WBEBREELEZRERAFTHE
acquisition
HKS$000
FHET
Consideration paid in cash UREAFAZF2ZRE —
Less: cash and cash equivalent W EWEzZRER
balances acquired RELEBWERS (9,382)
(9.382)
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34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

(Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the
results of the Group

Included in the loss for the year ended
31 March 2020 was loss amounted to
approximately HK$2,637,000 attributable to
Hyperchannel Info. Revenue for the year
included HK$68,621,000 is attributable to
Hyperchannel Info.

Had the acquisition of Hyperchannel
Info been effected at the beginning of
the year, the total amount of revenue
of the Group from continuing operations
for the year ended 31 March 2020 would
have been approximately HK$153,734,000
pro forma and loss for the year from
continuing operations would have been
HK$66,783,000. The pro forma information
is for illustrative purpose only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and
results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had
the acquisition been completed at the
beginning of the year, nor is it infended to
be a projection of future resulfs.

In determining the pro forma loss of the
Group had Hyperchannel Info been
acquired at the beginning of the year, the
Directors have calculated depreciation of
property and equipment and amortisation
of intangible assets based on the
recognised amounts of property and
equipment and intangible assets at the
date of the acquisition.

34.
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HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

WEE—EME AR (&)
WESEHREERGE2XE

FEAL E B4 2,637,0008 T 2 BB E T
ABZE-ZE-EFE=-ZA=Z1+—HLEEE
B AFEEZRWACEBREELEERED
68,621,000 7T °

i WIBEERENAFARBEN  A5H
BE-Z-_ZEF=-A=+—HLEEXREHF
BEEEB 2 WABIENA 153,734,000 %
TBEZ)RREFECLEEBCFEBES
66,783,000 T - ZBEEEREHK AR
B U -ERTRBEERNFNTRE
MTAEECERBRARKERE  FIH
ERARREEZTEAR -

REEFAERERAFINRBEERKZ Z2EE
iR ESCRYERRBURELEE
RUBHHZCRIASHETENERREZ
WEUARERLEE 2B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-_-F=ZB=+—HLFE

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

35. HEME LA

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020-2021

Continuing operations FEREER
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Gain on deregistration of a WM —RERE AR Z
subsidiary g — 792
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB QR z WS — 67
— 859
Discontinuing operations RIFREER
2021 2020
:g:—ﬂi —=E- E'E
HK$’000 HKS$000
FExT FBT
(Restated)
(&%)
Loss for the year FEEE (168) (3,055)
Loss on disposal HESBEZEE (206) (203)
(374) (3,258)
2021 g
Discontinued operation RIULBERER
Disposal of Polluquin Group H & Polluquin £ /&

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third
party to dispose of its entire equity interest
in Polluguin Group that carried out all of
the Group’s online and social business for
a total cash consideration of HK$154,000.
The purpose of the disposal is to streamline
its operations. The disposal was completed
on 17 September 2020, on which date
the Group lost control of Pollugquin Group.
The Group’s online and social business
operation is treated as discontfinued
operation.

RBE-_ZE-_—F=A=Z+—-HLFE"

AEBRE-BBUE=ZATL—HEEH
FEOUBBESNAREI400BTHEER
Polluguin s B 2 2 Z IR # - Polluquin &
”*%ﬁ%lﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁt&ﬁ:x%ﬁ% 5B
HESEHEABLHEHEE BER-FE-2F
FAATEHERERK ﬁ'ﬁzli’gl\\ H%X
Polluquin RB 225l - XEB 2R LR
HREBLERRA/RIEREEBEE o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

2021 (Continued)
Discontinued operation (Continued)
Disposal of Polluquin Group (Continued)

The Group’s share of net liabilities of
Polluquin Group at the date of disposal
and the effect of disposal were as follows:

35.

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

HEME LR (&)

—E-—-F(8E)
ARUIFARE EFKE ()
HE Polluquin % (#&

AEBREE BHEMLPolluguinEB 28
BEFERHESHEZFYERHINT ¢

16 September

2020
—E-EF
AA+<H
HK$'000
FHET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over ERREEGRZEER
which control was lost: BEZ2DH
Other receivables Hh UL SR IE 1,021
Bank balances and cash RITEFRES 271
Trade payables, other payables and EHEZ RN - HtiEMARIER
accrued charges EFTE A (865)
Net assets disposed of HEZEETFE 427
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMBARZEE :
Consideration RE 154
Net assets disposed of HECEETFE (427)
Non-controlling interests RS 192
Reclassification of cumulative HERGRTEAH#E
translation reserve upon disposal B BEZEER
to profit or loss (125)
Loss on disposal HEEEZEE (206)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HESEEAZRESRLFE
Cash consideration received 2WRERE 154
Less: bank balances and cash W HEZRTEERRS
disposed of @71
(117)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

2021 (Continued)
Discontinued operation (Continued)
Disposal of Polluquin Group (Continued)

The loss from the discontinued operation is
set out below. The comparative figures in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income have
been restated to re-present the online
and social business as a discontinued

35. HEMBE AR (&)

—E-—-F(E)
AU AR (E)
1 E Polluquin 53 (#)

RERLELEXEB 2BREIINT - ZAE
ERkHMEEHBERAZLEBREFEES
LEH2INRERUEREBR AR ERE X

& o

operation.
Period
ended Year
16 ended
September 31 March
2020 2020
BZE BZE
—E-EF —EEF
AB+B =A=+—H
1A R LHFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FERT
Loss for the period/year R, FEEE (168) (657)
Loss on disposal of Polluguin Group  HE&Polluquin £E 2 518 (206) —
(374) (657)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
2021 (Continued)

Discontinued operation (Continued)

Disposal of Polluquin Group (Continued)

The results of the operation for the period
from 1 April 2020 to 16 September 2020, which
have been included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income, were as follows:

35.

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-_-F=ZA=t+—HLFE

HEME LR (&)

—E-—F(HF)

RILEE X (F)

HE Polluquin 3 (#)

T EIEEF?Z*“‘**%ﬁ (E?A%Ai@\ﬁﬁ&

Hh2EKRERA)WOT :
Period
ended Year
16 ended
September 31 March
2020 2020
BZE Eiii

—E-EF —EZERF
hB+B =RA=+—8

LA IEFE
HK$’000 HK$"000
FERT FET
Revenue N 63 811
Other income Haug A 1 3
Selling expenses HEER — aomn
Administrative expenses THEA (232) (1,280)
Loss for the period/year from RERIEEEER BB
discontinued operation FEEE (168) (657)
Loss for the period/year from RERIEEEER 2R
discontinued operation FEBEAEUTER
includes the following:
Auditor’s remuneration S GHE A — —
Other staff costs: Hib8 TR :
— Salaries and other benefits — HEREMER — 129

During the year ended 31 March 2021,
Polluguin Group contributed HK$123,000
(2020: HKS$1,120,000) to the Group’s net

operating cash flows.

REBE-ZE=-_—F=ZA=Z+—-—BLEE-
Polluguin & @ B F 78 & B & “%i%fﬁé
/JILE/?%E/E§123 OOO/%J'E(— = — = E
1,120,000 7t) °

F3j 2020-2021 XLBEEERRAF

239



240
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ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

3

ETE—FZAZ=Z+—HLFE

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
2020
Continuing operations

Disposal of X (ZEIZER (FI) ERL A, XI1ZF
BRI %R (FI) BRAE and X 1EF A #%
BE (FY) BRZF (the “Subsidiaries”)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Group disposed its entire equity interests
in the Subsidiaries to an independent
third party with an aggregate of
consideration of RMB221,000 (equivalent
to approximately of HK$243,000) and
recognised a gain on disposal of
HK$67,000.

Deregistration of &1 5 REERL &

During the year ended 31 March 2020,
the Group deregistered a subsidiary in
which the Group indirectly held 29% of the
equity interests and recognised a gain on
deregistration of HK$792,000.

35. HEMB AR (&)

—g=%f

HEXZRIZERORY) BRL A ~ X1EFT
BRI R T (FI) BIR L AR X EF A4
B (R ERA A ([ZEHB 2 7A))

RBE-Z-ZEF=ZAZ+—-HLFE &
EEHEERZENBRRAZZHRET —

(FHE M4 243,000 7T) I # R HE W=
67,0008 7T °

B _E SR B B IRTEB R 2 AL 7Y
RBEZZE-Z2F=ZA=Z+—-HLFE &
SERE-BNELAR(AEEBESEZ
DR 29% RHE) 2 =M - W W MUK
#@ 792,000 7T °
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

2020 (Continued)
Discontinued operation
Disposal of Sai Van Club

During the year ended 31 March 2020,
the Group implemented measures to
streamline its operations. On 9 March 2020,
the Group entered into an agreement to
dispose of the entire equity interest of its
wholly owned subsidiary, Sai Van Club,

35.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

HEME LR (&)

—EZEF(F)

AR AT 2

HETEE
RBE-Z-ZSE=A=+-HLEE &
EEETEELE EE R-S-2F
ZANE  AEEIY-EHELEEE
WEARBEEF 2N RET —SBY S
=5 BEESREA600,000EBT - ZX5
CR-ZEZEF=ANBERK -

to an independent third party for a total
cash consideration of HK$600,000. The
tfransaction was completed on 9 March
2020.

FEERHERHMEBEAES2REFHE
RHEBBEZZEHIIMT :

The Group’s share of net liabilities of Sai
Van Club at the date of disposal and the
effect of disposal were as follows:

HKS$’000
FET
Consideration: RIE :
Consideration received in 2020 R-ZIEBEZZEFERRE 200
Consideration received in 2021 RIEZ—FEKRE 400
600
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 35. HEKWB AR (&)
(Continued)
2020 (Continued) —E-FF(E)
Discontinued operation (Continued) RIFAREET (1E)
Disposal of Sai Van Club (Continued) HEFEEH (B)
9 March
2020
—EEHE
=AhA8
HK$°000
FET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which BEAXEZZRFIE2EER
control was lost: BEZAW:
Other receivables, deposit and HEWRIE - RER
prepayments FEASFIE 471
Bank balances and cash RITEERES 575
Other payables and accrued charges HENSREBERETEA (243)
Net assets disposed of HECZEEFRE 803
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMBARZEE :
Consideration RE 600
Net assets disposed of HECEEFHE (803)
Loss on disposal HEZEZEIER (203)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HESEEEZRESRLFE
Cash consideration received EWRENRE 200
Less: bank balances and cash W HEZRITERER
disposed of Be (575)
(375)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

2020 (Continued)
Discontinued operation (Continued)
Disposal of Sai Van Club (Continued)

The loss from the discontinued operation
was set out below.

35.

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

HEMB Q&)

—E-TF ()

_———

RILEE X (F)
HEFEEHT (&)
REREEEER 2EEHIIWT -

Period
ended

9 March
2020

BZE
—E-EF
=AhH
1EEARS
HKS$000
FET

Loss for the period
Loss on disposal of Sai Van Club

HEEE

(2,398)

HEREEM2ER (203)

(2,601)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-_-F=ZB=+—HLFE

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 35. HEKWB AR (&)
(Continued)
2020 (Continued) —E-FF(E)
Discontinued operation (Continued) R EEFKE(E)
Disposal of Sai Van Club (Continued) HEFESH (4E)
The results of the operation for the period H-ZE-NWFNE—-—AE=ZZT-ZEF=Ah
from 1 April 2019 to 9 March 2020, which EI,HEF'EIE_IZi‘“**iﬁ (Bt AReBmRkHA
have been included in the consolidated ZHKBERA)WOT :

statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, were as follows:

Period

ended

9 March

2020

Eﬁi

—ECEF

=ANA

1EEARE

HK$"000

FET

Revenue N 2,439
Cost of sales THE N (1,850)
Administrative expenses THER (2.987)

Loss for the period from discontinued REREREXELE 2

operation HIEE5E (2,398)
Loss for the period from discontinued RERLKEXK - HEBEEE

operation includes the following: LUTIER
Auditor’s remuneration ZEET N & —
Other staff costs: HME TR :

— Salaries and other benefits — FeRHMEF 1,324
During the year ended 31 March 2020, Sai RBE-Z-ZEF=ZA=+—-HLFE"
Van Club contributed HK$332,000 to the EEMERAEEREERKREREF
Group’s net operating cash flows and paid F)EE 3320008t UMBEXEKZ
HK$196,000 in respect of investing activities. 196,000& 7T °
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36. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme
for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assetfs of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of trustees.

The Group’s and the employees’
conftributions to the MPF Scheme are each
set at 5% of the employees’ salaries up to
a maximum of HKS$1,500 effective from 1
June 2014 per employee per month. The
Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme
are fully and immediately vested fo the
employees once they are paid.

Certain employees of the Group are
members of a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the PRC
government. The Group is required to
conftribute approximately 15% of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to
fund the benefit. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement
benefits scheme is to make the specified
conftributions.

Total cost charged to profit or loss of
HKS$1,459,000 (2020: HK$728,000) represents
the contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group during the year.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

36. RIKBRIFTE

AEERFEREREBREESHEBE S
gle ZtBcEEHERAESZESR
B RREECEEIRER -

H-Z-OFA A-HE AEEREED
BESHEAFHZHREARRERES
FE2b% BREASRAESHEEES008
T —HEXMHA - AIRKEEBBESE
EFH 2 MR BRANEEBNZSEES -

FEEzETREEATERFER ZARE
HRARBEFERE - FAEBEAZF SRS
#15% ERKAENGTEELER - UREEHB
BARMES - MRARBEAFEMS - £ K
Bz -—SERFHEEHRNK -

MEBEERPHNR AL R 1,459,000 8
T(ZZ=FHF 728,000 B T) EAKEF
WEE L E 5T & 2 HK -

F3j 2020-2021 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure
that entities in the Group will be able
tfo continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists
of net debt, which mainly includes bank
borrowings disclosed in Note 30 and lease
liabilities disclosed in Note 29, net cash and
cash equivalents, net of equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, share premium and
reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this
review, the Directors consider the cost
of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the Directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.

37. EXERER
AEEERAES o UHERAEEETEE

HEAEEZSECEREERYE  ARKEB
BILEBREZRSET SARRFTRZEKR
EE:

AEBZEXARBHERFRAR  TBE
FBRTER(AMEIORE) RAEEE(R
MEE20HE)  RERBESEBEYWFE - B
RATRFEEANEBEED(ASBETRA R
MEEREEARK)

EEBF¥FEREAREB R - ERRER
hEEEREARARESERENBEZ
Ek o BREEZ2EE  AEEBEBBEXM
BRE -~ BRITHBRORRGOEE - AREITH
ERABEEAREGER  FHEAREEARE
e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38b.Financial risk management

objectives and policies

The Group’'s major financial
instruments include trade receivables,
other receivables and deposits,
financial assets at FVTPL, pledged
bank deposits, restricted bank deposit,
bank balances and cash, trade and
other payables, bank borrowings
and lease liabilities. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below.
The Directors manage and monitor
these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38.&mT A
38a.Categories of financial Bo.eE THEZEHR
instruments
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
HK$’000 HKS$’000
FET F& T
Financial assets EWMEE
Financial assets at amortised ZRE#EKAATEZSREE
cost 188,661 212,668
Financial assets mandatorily RAFEEFTABZREFFTE
measured at FVTPL ZEMEE 3,022 715
Financial liabilities c@aes
Amortised cost 18 85 AR AN 52,734 32,683

. EEREEEERBEK

AEBZIELRTIACGREERES
R HtbtBWRIERRE - BAF
BEFAEGRZ2EMEE SR
RITER ZRHFB|ITER RTE
FRRE BNESZERIARAMEN
RE-RTEIARBERE - ZEE
MIAZHEBREMEPRE - B
EeRMITANMEECRAREREDTSRER
(EER - AxERRAEGESLR
) FERBRABESRAR B
WATRAR L E R 2 R ER T XX »
EEEEREREEREE  UBRE
KA M REVEE # e

F3j 2020-2021 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020-2021

38b.Financial risk management

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk

There has been no significant change
to the Group’s exposure to market risks
or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risks.

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company
have foreign currency bank balances
which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. They are mainly
denominated in United States dollars
("USD") and HKS. The Group is mainly
exposed fo foreign exchange rate
risk arising from transactions that are
denominated in USD and HKS relative
to RMB.

The Group currently does not have
a foreign exchange hedging policy.
However, the Directors monitor foreign
exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

38. $RITE(E)

B KEMEEEERRE(E)

-

AEEESzTERBRIEERE
Rk TR EEREE -

5

My

45%/17 AA

ARBAHIMBLRABIIERITSE
7o SASEEEN SRR HER
MER(TERT DREBRFE - 25E
FTEAUEXTRB AT EZR S MK
ZFERARBEBZINSERRR -

AEBERFEITEMEHFREK - A
M EBERIIERR UERER
EREREHPERINERR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 3. &R TA(HE)

(Continued)

38b.Financial risk management B KEREEREREE(E)
objectives and policies
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) SR B (4E)
Currency risk (Continued) BimEk (&)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s AEBRBEESHHUBTIRETFE
HKS and USD denominated monetary REMEE(BREREZERRRHEAM
assets (including trade and other FBUWHRIE - EEFRTERARET
receivables, pledged bank deposits HERES)ZHREEBENT ¢

and bank balances and cash) at the
reporting date are as follows:

Assets
BE
2021 2020
—E_—F —EEE
HK$°000 HK$000
FHERT FET
The Group rEE
HKS$ BT 39,316 35,873
usbD Eyry 35,184 46,716
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250

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38. €W T A (&)

(Continued)

38b.Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the
Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2020:
5%) increase and decrease in
the entity’s respective functional
currency against the relevant foreign
currencies. 5% (2020: 5%) represents
the Directors’ assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and
adjusts their franslation at the end of
the reporting period for a 5% (2020:
5%) change in foreign currency rates.
A positive number below indicates
an increase in loss for the year where
RMB strengthen against the relevant
foreign currencies. For a 5% (2020
5%) weakening of RMB against the
relevant currencies, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the loss
for the year, and the positive balances
below would be negative.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38. W T A (&)

(Continued)

38b.Financial risk management

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

B KEAMEEEERKRE (&)

w5 mE (E)
B (E)
BRED (&)

Impact on loss for

the year

HEFEBFRZTE
2021 2020
—E=-—-F —EEF
HK$’000 HKS$"000
TR FHET
HK$ BT 1,474 1,345
usD EYH 1,319 1,752

In the opinion of the Directors, the
sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk
as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.

EERD BRESWAERKKREERE
ZHERRE - RERFRERIL TR
BREFE Iz LR e

F3j 2020-2021 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

38b.Financial risk management

38. $RITE(E)

B KEMEEEERRE(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-
rate pledged bank deposits (Note 25),
refundable rental deposits (Note 24),
bank borrowings (Note 30) and lease
liabilities (Note 29). The Group is also
exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances (Note 25). The Directors have
considered the Group’s exposure to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances (Note
25) to be limited because the current
market interest rates on general
deposits are relatively low and stable.

Interest income from financial assets
that are measured at amortised cost is
as follows:

TS5 mE (E)
TR 2

REBEE L CIEFRITFER(EE
25)  AIREIEERE (MEE24) ~
TR (MEEI0) RAE S E (MEE29)
HEQFEEMNRER ANEETH
FRBRTEF(ME2)HERERE
NEER ESRARAEEFHEEERZ
BEBFRRTAEF(ME2) 2HER
EFNZRERAER REABAHE—
RERZTSANEREHBEREE -

ERMEENBEWATDRBHERARTE
mr

2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-EF
HK$’000 HKS’000
FET FBT
(Restated)
(BE7)
Financial assets at amortised REBERAFEZESREE
cost 309 2,411
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 3. EWMITH(E)
(Continued)
38b.Financial risk management o.M KERAREEREREK(E)
objectives and policies
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) B E R (E)
Interest rate risk (Continued) K= E ez (48)
Interest expense from financial liabilities REBERATEZCESHAEE 2SR
at amortised cost is as follows: - N
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —E-EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Financial liabilities at REERLATTECEemEE
amortised cost 2,455 1,404
Other price risk BB E f2
The Group is exposed to equity price AEEHH LETRABLERENMESE
risk through its investment in listed ZRAEREERE  HoBEHREZEA
equity securities which are classified as FEEfFAEZRZEHEE -ES
financial assets at FVTPL. The Directors ZRFEFAEETEAREARBREBZRE
manage this exposure by maintaining HE BEEER UEREEER
a portfolio of investments with ¥ % P TE B 2 R B o

different risk and return profiles and
will consider hedging the risk exposure
should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

38b.Financial risk management

38. $RITE(E)

B KEMEEEERRE(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Other price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have
been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risk at the
reporting date.

If the equity prices had been 15%
higher/lower (2020: 15%), post-tax
loss would decrease/increase by
HK$453,000 (2020: HK$107,000). This
is mainly due to the changes in fair
value of the financial assets at FVTPL.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the
Group’'s counterparties default on
their contractual obligations resulting
in financial losses to the Group. The
Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables, deposits, pledged
bank deposits, restricted bank deposit
and bank balances. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.
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TFF 1 15%)  BREBREEBEHD
/ # 11453,00058 T(ZE =T & :
107,000 ) » TEHREAFEE
FTAEBERZEMEEZATEESE
BhFTEK ©

1= B Jm i K 6l 18 P A

FERREASEZRZHFHRIY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38. €W T A (&)

(Continued)

38b.Financial risk management B KEREEREREE(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group performed impairment
assessment for financial assets under
ECL model. Information about the
Group’s credit risk management,
maximum credit risk exposures and
the related impairment assessment, if
applicable, are summarised as below:

Trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
Group has a credit control policy in
place under which credit evaluations
of customers are performed on all
customers requiring credit. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In this regard,
the Directors consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

=B R R BEFE ()

AEERBANFEBREEAT 2R
EEETRHENL BEAKEEE
ERERE HR&SE SRR EE
ARG (WER) 2 ERBHLNT -

EFEHNELZENEZ KA

AEBREEFERR  AEEECHE
FEEFRE  AEESBULHERE
FEREZEFPETEFFEEN MG -
REEETHMERRER  BREE
WEARER - RUTIS EERAB
FEEZFERBERERD
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

38b.Financial risk management

38. $RITE(E)

B KEMEEEERRE(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers (Continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the Group
had concentration of credit risk as
55% of the total trade receivables
was due from one customer from
digital marketing segment. As at
31 March 2020, the Group did not
have any significant concentration
of credit risk on frade receivables.
In order to minimise the credit risk,
the management of the Group
has delegated staff responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts and
performed annual review on customers’
and borrowers’ credit quality.

In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL
model on frade balances individually.
Impairment of HK$2,421,000 (2020:
HK$3,234,000) and a reversal of
HK$ 1,400,000 (2020: Nil) is recognised
during the year. Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out
below in this note.
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15 & /m Bg K BB 714 (&)

BEFENELZRNE SR (E)

R-ZZEZ-—F=A=+—H ' x5H
ZEERBESESTRER - E55% 2k
WEZRABEH - BEBLMEHE
BoWB2BEFRN - RZFZFF=
A=1T—B FA5ERBREZKRNRZ
FERBYBEREFER - ARE
BEFERR AEEEEECZIK
AEBEEFTERARE  EAFMRR
HitEEREr BREEWDEHE
B UHEFRERAZEFEERE
TEERT °

o AEBUEREESEEXR
BRI E S ERETBENL FAR
RRE2,421,0008 T(ZFE =T F :
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38. €W T A (&)

(Continued)

38b.Financial risk management B KEREEREREE(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits,
the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model balances
individually or on a collective basis.
Except for other debtors, which
mainly composed of rental deposits,
assessed individually, the ECL of the
remaining other receivables are
assessed collectively based on shared
credit risk characteristics. The Directors
believe that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts
since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based
on 12m ECL. The Group assessed
the ECL for other receivables and
deposits and recognised HK$625,000
(2020: HK$395,000) and a reversal of
HK$378,000 (2020: Nil) for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

=B R R BEFE ()

HttERFEREE

HttEWREBERESHE  REBEL
BHEEFEEAMNENGEHRIIEE
BEEETHENML - BREMERER
MEZEEBAAIFE2ESES)
O HpHMERREZBHREES
BERARGERBSEESREETHE
HeBEERA BYBRBRUKR: Z
EREZEERRBYEEAEM &
TEBRI2EAEHEESEBRRE
WERE AEEFGEHMEKRKE
ke vBBEEEFE REBEZEC
Z_—F=ZA=+t—HLEFE®RR
625,000/ t(= & = & F : 395,000
BIT) REE378,0008 T(ZE=%
F ) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020-2021

38b.Financial risk management

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Bank balances, pledged bank deposits
and restricted bank deposit

Credit risk on bank balances, pledged
bank deposits and restricted bank
deposit is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for bank
balances, pledged bank deposits and
restricted bank deposit by reference
to information relating tfo probability
of default and loss given default of
the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating
agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances,
pledged bank deposits and restricted
bank deposit is considered fto be
insignificant.

38. $RITE(E)

B KEMEEEERRE(E)

15 & /m Bg K BB 714 (&)

RITHF  CHARTEARZRS
RITIFEHA

HRRXEZHFIIREERFREBT
EFEFASLARFE ZRIT BE
THEF BEARTERRZRHR
TERZEERBRAR - AEEFI
REEFREBEMSREETFR
ZEABMERENBEERZER 5
RITEF CEFRTEARZRS
RITEARFE12EAARHEERE -
ERFHERR RTEF CEHA
RITERRZRHBITFERZ 12188
HEHEEBERBL REX -



38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

38b.Financial risk management

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following
categories:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. $RITH(E)

B BEAMETEEERKE (E)

=B R R BEFE ()

AEBzABEERBIREEUT
Al

Internal credit rating Description

Trade receivables

Other financial assets

REEEFR it W E 5 BN HtteREE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
default, — not credit-impaired
i1 RGUFENRRE - FHRECERA 12EARAEEEE
— EREHE
Medium risk The counterparty has a medium risk of  Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
default, — noft credit-impaired
hER RFHFENEBATE FHEMEERE 2EARBEEEE
— BREEHE
Doubtful There have been significant increases  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
in credit risk since initial recognition — not credit-impaired  — not credit-impaired
through information developed
intemnally or external resources
R BEBARASENANBERISEIN FHRECEES FHREBRERE
® o EERRE KEEM — BEEHE — EREHE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
is credit-impaired — credit-impaired — credit-impaired
B BFREETEENREERNE FHEBEERE FHRMEERE
— BEERHE — EREEHE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that Amount is written off Amount is written off
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
fiisH FREETEBARNHBRENAEASEY SHECSHH SHEME

EERIRD TR

F ¥k 2020-2021

XEEERERERRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

3

ETE—FZAZ=Z+—HLFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)
38b.Financial risk management

objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk
exposures of the Group’s financial

38. $RIT A (E)

B KEAMETEEERKE (&)

=B /3 b K BB 7T 14 (#)

TRHAMIHAEEESHEERE 2
FERR  HAETHEBRFEEBRN

assets, which are subject to ECL {f :
assessment;
2021 2020
Gross Gross
External  Internal carrying carrying
Notes credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount amount
—8--f - S22
Wi HBEEFE APEETR 2EALFHARAGEERS BEEE BREE
HK$:000 HK$"000
TER Tin
Financial assets at amortised cost
REEHRATEZENEE
Lifetime ECL
Trade receivables (Note ) 23 NJA Low risk (not credit-impaired) 63,679 23,693
FEWE SR (Fzta) @A e EHRBEERR(BEENE)
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 3,245 3,293
@R B FHRNEERR(RREARE)
Other receivables and deposifs 12m ECL
(Note b) 24 NJA Low risk (individually assessed) 1,865 3,705
Bt EUEER &S (Fatb) TEH BB 128 ARAEEEE (ERIF(E)
12m ECL
N/A Low risk (collectively assessed) 8,242 8,299
FER fERR 128 A RBEEEE (RETME)
Bank balances, pledged bank
deposits and restricted bank Aad-Al
deposit (Note ¢) 25, 26 (2020; Aaa) N/A 12m ECL 115,436 177,081
RIEE  CERRARIRIRA (Z222F:
/TEH (Hatc) Aco)  TER 12EARBEEES
Bad N/A 12m ECL 869 141
ER EARREERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

38b.Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Notes:

a. For frade receivables, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9
fo measure the loss allowance at lifefime
ECL. The Group determines the ECL on
these items by an individual basis. As part
of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for ifs
customers.

As at 31 March 2021, impairment allowance
of HK$838,000 and HKS$3,245,000 (2020:
HK$565,000 and HK$3,293,000) were made
on not credit-impaired debtors and credit-
impaired debtors, respectively.

b. The Group assessed the loss allowance
for other receivables on 12m ECL basis.
In determining the ECL, the Group
has taken intfo account the historical
past due experience and forward-
looking macroeconomic information
as appropriate. There had been no
significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. As at 31 March 2021,
the balances of HK$9,465,000 (2020:
HK$11,609,000) are not past due and the
internal credit rating is considered as low
risk.

The Group assessed the ECL of certain
other receivables collectively based on
average loss rates which are estimated
with reference to credit report issued
by international credit agency and
are adjusted for forward-looking
macroeconomic information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management fo ensure relevant information
about specific debtors is updated.

As at 31 March 2021, impairment allowance
of HKS$642,000 (2020: HK$395,000) were
made on these other debtors based on
collective basis.

C. The Group did not provide any 12m ECL on
bank balances, pledged bank deposits and
restricted bank deposit as the amount is
insignificant.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-_-F=ZA=t+—HLFE

38. €@ T A

1 (%)

B BEAMETEEERKE (E)

=B R R BEFE ()

BEE -

B E B IR  AEEREATBH
SR 'ﬁﬁ‘?ﬁzﬁ”ﬂzﬁihiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
FEBETEHEARE FAREEEBER
BREEEEZSEHE Z%EH}H:.EEE?E °
EAFEEFEERRER - P A
BHHEEFEAABEER %& °

F—gi—fﬁ )51 t—B ERER

ERECEREURARBEEREZER
R X 2 7l 42 3 R {5 3 £ 838,000 8 T K
3,245,000 T (= =FF : 565,0008
U1 3,293,000 7T) °

AEER12EAFEHEES BTG EmE
WREzEERE RECHEHEEFE
o AKBECBEEZEBARHECRRER
BAEAMEEEN - BYBRBRUR 5
ERBIEBBZEM R=F=-—F=4
=+—H &179.465000 8T (ZE=-F
& 111,609,000 v ) 3 B HR > i A 26
EEFRPIE AR -

FEEZEEBTREBRE 2EERE
% MEEt 2 P B ERRERAME TH
BRI 2 AMEEEE - AHEEAB
%EXZKZEF‘jJEDTEY ZRBEER R
ERMELARE - HAEEETHER

;%1%7&?@5,\ EERRAZEEENE TE

F_q_ FE=ZA=1+—H BERERE

EHEMERKRIERAERSE
642 OOO,% (ZF = F F :395,000%
JT) °

HREFILFEKN  WAEELBEHRT
H7 CERRTERRZIBHRTER
REBEMI2EAEMEESE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

38b.Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following table shows the
movement in lifetime ECL that has
been recognised for frade receivables
under the simplified approach.

38. $RITE(E)

B KEMEEEERRE(E)

15 & /m Bg K BB 714 (&)

TRERSBELT ZEEBI ZEW
BERAZFHRANEERRE 22 -

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
FHITEH FHITEHA
FEEE FEEE
(REERME) (EERE) et
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2019 RZIE—-NFMA—H — 636 636
New financial assets R zHEemEE
originated 565 2,669 3,234
Exchange realignment [E=ZRFE — 12) 2
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-ZEF=A
=+—8H 565 3,293 3,858
Impairment losses BEREEE
reversed (565) (835) (1,400)
Written-offs 8 — (815) (815)
New financial assets  #FFIZHEBMEE
originated 933 1,488 2,421
Transfer to credit- ERZEEERE
impaired (95 95 —
Exchange realignment [EZRFFE — 19 19
At 31 March 2021 RZE-—%=H
=+—H 838 3,245 4,083
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

38b.Financial risk management

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group writes off trade receivables
when there is information indicating
that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g. when
the debtor has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings or in the
case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over three years past
due. In respect of the credit-impaired
debtor with gross carrying amount of
HK$1,583,000 (2020: HK$2,669,000) and
impairment loss of HK$1,583,000 (2020:
HK$2,669,000) was recognised for the
year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
considered the debtor is in significant
financial difficulty and has taken legal
action against the debtor to recover
the amount due. During the year 31
March 2021, the Group write-off the
credit-impaired debtors provided in
prior year with the carrying amount
of HKS$815,000 (2020: Nil) due to there
is no realistic prospect to recover the
amount.,

During the year 31 March 2021, the
Group reversed the impairment losses
amount of HK$835,000 (2020: Nil) on
one credit-impaired debtor provided
in prior year due to legal action
taken and part of the amount was
recovered during the year.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. $RITH(E)

B BEAMETEEERKE (E)

=B R R BEFE ()

HMEENETRERAERBEY BR
HEYRERITKEASMHW: &
BEREAWERSICEAHERF)
IMEREZRAMES > BHESED
BHBRB=F FEEMHEEKES
R - BE-FE_-_—F=Z=A=+-—
HIEFE FIRMHE4{E1,583,000%
T(ZZBZFF :2,669,0008 7T) 2
FERBERKERRECERZRE
/&5 181,683,000/ T(=Z & = & F:
2,669,000 7T)  XEBRABKEA
HEFEEAMBRE  WE@mZzEHEA
KECEETE BB ZHRIE - RE
E_ZEZ_—H=A=+—HILEE"
AEEMBERBEFETRZEER
BEREWERR  HIEHEMEARS815,000%
T(ZEZZF  8) REANYTHE
HAA Uk B FRIE o

REBE-ZE=-—F=A=+—HILE
E >  ARRBGERTE AEEEE
RBEFEN —EHEEREBEREKER
R ZREEE 8350008 T (=& =
TF . |) MARFESKREDBS K
18 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38.

(Continued)

38b.Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following table show reconciliation
of loss allowances that has been
recognised for other receivables:

TRITAE)

.Y BEEREEEERBE(E)

=B R R B EFE (E)

TRETEEIAEMERITIRZEE
BEHEk

12m ECL

128 A B8

EEER

HKS$000

FiERT

At 1 April 2019 R=—Z—AEMA—AH —
New financial assets originated R zHEmERE 395
At 31 March 2020 RZTE-_ZEF=A=+—H 395
New financial assets originated FRIzHEemEE 625
Impairment loss reversed S0 2 REEE (378)
At 31 March 2021 RZEBE-—-F=B=+—H 642
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38. €W T A (&)

(Continued)

38b.Financial risk management B KEREEREREE(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk,
the Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents by
the Directors to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The Directors regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements
to ensure it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and bank balances
and adequate funding from its
shareholders to meet with its liquidity
requirements.

Bank borrowings with a repayment
on demand clause, including the
bank borrowings that are repayable
on demand due fto breach of loan
covenants as disclosed in Note 30,
are included in the earliest fime band
regardless of the possibility of the bank
choosing to exercise ifs rights.

The following table details the Group’s
remaining contfractual maturity for
its financial liabilities based on the
agreed repayment term. The table
has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to
pay. The table includes principal cash
flows.

MEBELEE

AETEERDESAR  AEEER
RERESIARUERANEBLE
FEATIBERBLZEY UR
HERESRERD2FE -

EETHERRKLAYRBEST
R UBRAEEFSEH RS RIEIT
EEREBUARRBEEHBRRZARZE
T URmRERBESER -

BERIBITEOIRBEETEELER
MEREBREERAVRITER(BER
MEIOWEBERNERERREMARE
REEZBITHEI) T AREHEE
g0E -

TRALASEVBEERBEHEE
RBZHRTENEHA - ZRDIIRE
rEBANFRzRANREREE
CRBBRREREFH - ZREBEL
SHERE o

F3j 2020-2021 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

38b.Financial risk management

objectives and policies
(Continued)

38. $RITE(E)

.Y BEEREEEERBE(E)

Liquidity risk (Continued) TEEZERE (E)
Liquidity table HEEZH
Repayable In the
Weighted  on demand second fo Total
average or within fifth year  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year inclusive cash flows amounts
RERY $-FR%F AER
MEFHFE R-FREE (BEEEWME) BRERELEH RE®
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$"000
TR TR TR TR
2021 “BCI-F
Trade and other LRECEE e
payables FE5E - 17,239 - 17,239 17,239
Bank borrowings RITER 4.45 36,064 — 36,064 35,495
Lease liabilities HESE 4.73 4,541 974 5,615 5,359
Total B 57,844 974 58,818 58,093
2020 g g 22
Trade and other Gt
payables R — 23,934 - 23,934 23,934
Bank borrowings RATER 457 8,749 - 8,749 8,749
Lease liabilities HESE 4.89 2,063 769 2,832 2,806
Total 5 34,746 769 35,615 35,489
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38. €W T A (&)

(Continued)

38b.Financial risk management B KEREEREREE(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) TEEZERE (E)
Liquidity table (Continued) MEE L7 (&)

Bank borrowings with carrying amount
of HK$23,664,000 (2020: HK$4,375,000)
that are repayable on demand
due to breach of loan covenants
are included in the “repayable on
demand or within one year” time
band in the above maturity analysis.
The Directors are still in negotiation
with the bank for the terms of the
borrowings. For the remaining bank
borrowing with a carrying amount of
HK$11,831,000 (2020: HK$4,374,000) as
at 31 March 2021, taking info account
the Group’s financial position, the
Directors do not believe that it is
probable that the bank will exercise
their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The Directors
believe that the undiscounted amount
of HKS$24,717,000 (2020: HK$4,424,000)
of such bank borrowings will be repaid
within one year after the end of the
reporting period in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set
out in the loan agreements.

HERERRwMAREREE ZR
17 f& SBR[ 1B 23,664,000 8 T (= &
—Z % 14,375,000 T )5 A Lt 5
MBSO REBREEIRN -FRHE
2 |RER - ES MR ERIERERT
EEm- R -_T-—-F=A=+—H
ZIREEA 11,831,000 BT (=8=%
% 14,374,000 7T ) 2 HERIR 1T B K

5 ZRIAEENTHMRR - E
ERRR|RITAIARTETEAHBREE
RYUBER - EFHE ZFAUEA
RATE 24,717,000 T(=Z & =&
% 14,424,000 ) S RBEER I E
Fre et 8ER A B RNBEH KRR -
FREE-

F3j 2020-2021 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

38. $RITE(E)

on a recurring basis

The level in the fair value hierarchy
within which the financial asset

38c.Fair values 38c. AT EE
Fair value of the Group’s financial BEEMBEENULNFEETSEZLAE
assets that are measured at fair value EBt@EEZ L FEE

TRHMEEREMERAZAVEER
RAZER DERYLXFEEE

is categorised in its entirety is BEEEREZ2REEBRHAZIE -
based on the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value

measurement.

Valuation
Fair value technique(s)
Financial asset Fair value hierarchy and key input(s)
HELERER
tHEE ATEE ATEEER BAYE
2021 2020
—BC--F —E2CER
Listed equity securities HK$3,022,000 HKS$715,000 Level 1 Quoted bid prices
classified as financial assets in an active
at FVTPL market
PERRATEETABRE 3,022,000 % 7t 715,00087w HE14 ERMEMEZEAER
ZEREEZ EMRAES

The fair value of other financial assets
and financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring
basis are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounfted cash
flow analysis.

WHREEHREEUQATFTEEFEZ
HttemEEREMBEZ QA FEE

ED T TMHEE °

The Directors consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their
fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/ 9. EREALRS #Hth
BALANCES

(a) Compensation of key () TEEEAE 2 HH
management personnel
The key management of the Group rEECETEEBAEEEMEBE
comprises all Directors, details of their E HMEFBRAMT16KE - ES
emoluments are disclosed in Note MedHARARFMEESREBAAE
15. The emoluments of the Directors B-FAEEREARBABED - TEFH
are decided by the remuneration EERRITHRMEE °

committee of the Company having
regard to individual’s performance,
the Group’s performance and
profitability, remuneration benchmark
in the industry and prevailing market
condition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/ 9. FREALRS HEER(E)
BALANCES (Continued)

(b) Related party transactions (b) EBEEALRS
Except as disclosed elsewhere in the BRAGREMERREMIT I MIFEE
consolidated financial statements, S RER AEBEHENUTHEBREA
the Group entered into the following TEHTURS :

fransactions with a related party
during the year:

Nature of transaction/

Related party balance 2021 2020
EREAL REME —E-—F T EF
HK$’000 HKS$"000
FTHET FHET
CMEL Royalty income 500 100
FRFEUT A
CMEL Intferest expense on lease
liability (Note) 37 16
HESBEZAEMAXZ (M)
CMEL Lease liability (Note) 540 540
HESE (M)
Beijing WeiResearch Info Licensing expense
Technology Limited*(dt =#4 ¥
BRIGEERERNBRAT) — 210
R BAEER RN REZEH
BIRATA
* English name is for identification purpose * HEBEMET
only

Note: Culturecom Limited, a subsidiary of the
Company, leased an office premise from
CMEL, an associate of the Company, with
the lease term of two years.

MizE : XALBEARAB (KA ZWBERFR)
BARFBEERARNCMELEERLE
¥ HEIME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. KRR 2T EHEB AT
COMPANY

40a.General information of A00.fiB AR Z—RER
subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal KPR =—BE-—FE=A=+—H=F
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021 are as EfB AR ZFMAEROT ¢
follows:
Place/country Issued and Proportion of nominal
of incorporation  fully paid value of issued share
or registration/ share capital/ capital indirectly held
Name operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
AMATRER/  CRORMERA/  AALAMEREZ
8 gEHY /B &R ERTRAEELS  TTER
2021 2020
SS--F CECEf
% %
Citicomics Limited (iif) Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 10 70 Publishing and IPs licensing
B2 LBRAR() gk LER2ET EREARERRE
Culturecom Centre Limited (ii) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Provision of management services fo
WLEERLERA (i) e LER2ER group companies
RUEERRETRELT
Culturecom Enterprises Limited (iif)y ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Provision of management services fo
WLEELEBRAR (i) A LER2ET group companies
RUEEERETREALA
Culturecom Limited (i) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 95 95 Investment holding and publishing
UL EEERA (i) o EER1,0005T and IPs licensings
REERAREMEASERRE
Culturecom Investments Limited (iif) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Investment holding and securifies
WL BERERRA i) g8 LER2ET trading
REBRRESEE
Culturecom Media Limited (iif) Hong Kong Ordlinary HK$2 100 100 Provision for multimedia service
EERERAA (i) E# EER2ET RESERERE
Culturekid i-shop (HK) Limited (iil) ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Trading of wine
TEREBEHE(BRERARM) BB LBR2ER EEEE
Winway H.K. Investments Limited (fif) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Investment holding and securities
KEAEBREBRA (i) Bh LRR2ET frading
REERRESEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. KRR 2T EMB LR (E)
COMPANY (Continued)

40a.General information of AVaMBRATRZ—KEH(E
subsidiaries (Continued)
Place/country Issued and Proportion of nominal
of incorporation  fully paid value of issued share
or registration/ share capital/ capital indirectly held
Name operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
aMEYRER,  CRORARRE/  ARLAIEENEZ
tH gEHE /A% g BRTRAEELS  FEEH
2021 2020
SRC-F CECEE
% %
Ucan.com Group Limited (iif) Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 Investment holding
gk HK$10,000 REER
ZBR10000%T
ENR-BEFRAEBRAF(), (i) PRC Registered - 55 Operation of digital cinema
] RMB5,010,000 GedEEYR
AMERARY
5,010,000t
THE ONE Comics Publishing Hong Kong Ordinary 5] 51 Publishing and IPs licensing
Limited (i) £ HK$1,618,900 HRR AR EERE
—BEMRARA (i) Bk
16189007
Egmen (i) PRC Registered 55 55 Digital marketing business
CELI) i RMB833,000 HELMAERER
AMERARE
833,000
Beling Skyvior (iii) PRC Registered 55 55 Digital marketing business
FREE (i) ] RMB10,000,000 BT EREY
AMERARK
10,000,000 ¢
Hyperchannel Info (iif) PRC Registered 55 55 Digital marketing business
E S (i) hE RMB10,000,000 HELmAERER
AMERARN
10,000,000 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

40a.General information of
subsidiaries (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

40. XARIZEEMBAE (&)

400.F B A A 2 —RE R (F)

Place/country Issued and Proportion of nominal
of incorporation  fully paid value of issued share
or registration/ share capital/ capital indirectly held
Name operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
AMAuRER/  CRORMRRA/  mALAMEREZ
8 gEHY /A% &R ERORFEELA  IEXH
2021 2020
SS--F CECEf
% %
FRREER L ERARDF (i) PRC Registered 55 —  Digital marketing business
HE RMB1,000,000 BT ERER
AMEAARS
1,000,000
VB(RE)RELE(BRAH(V)  PRC Registered 100 100  Digital marketing business
] RMB50,000,000 HELMFERER
AMERARE
50,000,000
B RE)REARAR (), (i) PRC Registered 100 100 Digital marketing business
G RMB100,000,000 HELMAERER
AERARS
100,000,000t

0] Subsidiaries are wholly foreign owned
enterprises established in the PRC.

(i) A subsidiary of Polluquin Group which was
disposed of during the year ended 31

March 2021.

(iiy These subsidiaries are limited liability
companies incorporated in Hong Kong/

established in the PRC.

(iv) This subsidiary is a limited partnership

established in the PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt
securities outstanding during the year
or at the end of the year.

() ZEWBLAAARTERIZIEBEER

S

(i) PolluguinEBZHELR > HEEREBE
—EC-FE-A=+—-HLEEHE -

(i) ZEWBATABREBEMAL RPH
R ZBRAT

(v) ZMEBABRRPERIZBRABRE -

FEMBARMERFARFLER
TEZEMEBES -

F ¥k 2020-2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40.

COMPANY (Continued)
40a.General information of

subsidiaries (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period,
the Company has other subsidiaries
that are not material to the Group. A
majority of these subsidiaries operate
in Hong Kong and British Virgin Islands
("BVI"). The principal activities of these
subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

Principal activities
FEXK

Principal place of business
FTEEXRMH

ARFZEEMRBLR(E)
400 B ARz —RER(E)

RBEMR > RARBAFHEAREH
MEBERZEMHE DT o LLEH
BREAXZHEREBRAEABELES
((RBELZBFESNEE - LEWEB R
Al EEEBBMMT -

Number of subsidiaries
MEAREA
2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-EF

Investment holding BVI, Hong Kong 20 21
REEZER REBELZEE BB

Dormant/Inactive companies BVI, Hong Kong, PRC 4 7
Tmez REELZEE &% H1E

The Directors are of the opinion that
a complete list of the particulars of
all subsidiaries would be of excessive
length and therefore the above list
contains only the subsidiaries which
principally affect the results or assets
or liabilities of the Group.
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ESRR/BIN2AMNBLAZFAE
HEERBEARTR Bt EREH
NEBEFEAKRECXEASLEERE
BZHBAT -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

40b.Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material
non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group
that have material non-conftrolling

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
—H5=A=1+—-HLFE

BE-®=

40. XARIZEEMBAE (&)

40b.3F 2 EMIE A BERER EAIFE
MR 2 1R

TRINAEEFRZEWE 2 ISR
BERFERER ZFE

interests:
Place of
incorporation Proportion of ownership
and principol interests and vofing Loss allocated Accumulated
place of  rights held by non-controlling fo non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business interests interests interests
ARAIHER FERESRAL
KELAER TRERHE FRRRERRZR LD AREXERRELER EithRER
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 20
t8o-f TE0EE i TE0EE 8% TE0EE
HK$ 000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS'000
T T Thn Thn
Eqmen 750 PRC 45% 45% (2,638) 2n 16,778 18,09
g
Hyperchanne! Info EERY PRC 45% 45% (4512) (1187) (4,949) (523)
e
Individually immaterial BRFEANBL T:ERER
subsidiaries with
non-confrolling interests (d,545) N9
1,284 14,850
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

40b.Details of non-wholly owned

40. KRR ZEEMBAE (&)

40032 EWEA TR EAKS

subsidiaries that have material RER B (E)
non-controlling interests
(Continued)
Egmen ZEF
2021 2020
—E--F C"Z-BF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets RBEE 36,729 40,761
Non-current assets (included IRBEE(BEHE)
goodwill) 1,800 11,706
Current liabilities REIEE 1,245 2,530
Non-current liabilities FRBEE — —
Equity aftributable to owners of RAREE AEERER
the Company 20,506 31,845
Non-controlling interests of EQmen 5 %92 JEiERER 16,778 18,092
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

BE-ZE-_—%=A=

+—BLEE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. R R RIZEEWMB AR (&)

COMPANY (Continued)

40b.Details of non-wholly owned 40b. 2 EMB A RIEEE E AT
subsidiaries that have material RER B (E)
non-controlling interests
(Continued)
Eqgmen (Continued) ZEFI (&)
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
BZE BZE
—E=-—F —E-EF
=A=+—H =ZA=+-—H
LFE IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET

Revenue N 14,921 34,819
Expenses (53 (32,185) (49,787)
Loss for the year FEEE (17,264) (14,968)
Loss attributable to owners of the AATHEE AEIGEE

Company (14,626) (12,256)
Loss attributable to the non- SEMZFEREREMN

conftrolling interests of Egmen g (2,638) (2,712)
Loss for the year FEBEB (17,264) (14,968)
Other comprehensive income RATBEBAEGEEM

(expense) attributable to owners  ZEW (FAx%)

of the Company 1,619 (1,616)
Other comprehensive income ZHEM 2 IR AL

(expense) attributable to the Htt2mEE (k)

non-conftrolling interests of

Egmen 1,324 (1,322)
Other comprehensive income FEHMEZEKEZ (BX)

(expense) for the year 2,943 (2,938)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

40b.Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material
non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Egmen (Continued)

40. KRR ZEEMBAE (&)

400,352 M A T e B A SR
R > B (4R

BEFI(E)

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2021 2020

BZE BHE
25 —EEF
=A=+—H =A=+—H

IEFE IEFE
HK$°000 HK$"000
TERT FHExT
Total comprehensive expense AAREEAEGEEZE
attributable to owners of the F 85
Company (13,007) (13,872)
Total comprehensive expense BEP 2 R R A
attributable to the non- T HBAXAE
controlling interests of EQmen (1,314) (4,034)
Total comprehensive expense for FEZEE XA
the year (14,321) (17,9006)
Net cash outflow from operating L& XEWEFHHH B
activities (6,839) (8.079)
Net cash outflow from financing MEEXBRSRHE EE
activities (11,824) (10,791)
Net cash outflow BHE&RH F5E (18,663) (18,870)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. KRB 2T EMB LR (E)
COMPANY (Continued)

40b.Details of non-wholly owned 40b. 2 EMB A RIEEE E AT
subsidiaries that have material iR B (E)
non-controlling interests
(Continued)
Hyperchannel Info [EAZH 4%
2021 2020
—E--F C"Z-BF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHBT
Current assets RBEE 65,890 21,948
Non-current assets (included IRBEE(BEHE)
goodwill) 4,893 3,953
Current liabilities REIEE 80,386 23,808
Non-current liabilities FREBEE - 862

Equity aftributable to owners of RAREEAEEER

the Company (4,654) 1,754
Non-controlling interests of EEARZFERER
Hyperchannel Info (4,949) (523)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

40b.Details of non-wholly owned

40. KRR ZEEMBAE (&)

40032 EWEA TR EAKS

subsidiaries that have material RER B (E)
non-controlling interests
(Continued)
Hyperchannel Info (Continued) B (E)
Period from
8 November
Year ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
—ZE-hF
BHZ +—ANRZE
—E=-—F —E-FF
=A=+-8B =A=+-8H
ILFE HA
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Revenue ON 148,782 68,621
Expenses 53 (160,011) (71,258)
Loss for the year/period FE HEEIE (11,229) (2,637)
Loss attributable to owners of the AAT#HE AEIEEE
Company 6,717) (1,450)
Loss attributable to the non- EERAKFERER
controlling interests of FEREE
Hyperchannel Info (4,512) 1,187)
Loss for the year/period FE HEEE (11,229) (2,637)
Other comprehensive income RATHEE AEGEEM
(expense) attributable to owners  ZHEUWE (BIx)
of the Company 106 37)
Other comprehensive income BEER&FERES
(expense) aftributable to the R E 2wk
non-controlling interests of (BAX)
Hyperchannel Info 86 (30)
Other comprehensive income FE /HEHMEEKE
(expense) for the year/period (FE%) 192 (67)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. KRB 2T EMB LR (E)
COMPANY (Continued)

40b.Details of non-wholly owned 40b. 2 EMB A RIEEE E AT
subsidiaries that have material RS B (E)
non-controlling interests
(Continued)
Hyperchannel Info (Continued) EEHHE)
Period from
8 November
Year ended 2019 to
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
—E-NF

BZ +-—ANRZE
—E-—F —ECEEF
=BA=+—H =A=+—H

LHFEE HA [
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Total comprehensive expense RABHEBEAELZE
attributable to owners of the M 4%
Company 6,611) (1,487)
Total comprehensive expense EERAK 2 FERER
atftributable to the non- ER2HEHAXAE
conftrolling interests of
Hyperchannel Info (4,426) 1,217)
Total comprehensive expense for FE HIEZHE 4%
the year/period (11,037) (2,704)
Net cash outflow from operating K& XV ESFRHFEH
activities (46,120) (5.856)
Net cash inflow from financing BEEBRESRNEE
activities 59,211 5,155
Net cash inflow (outflow) HWERACRE) FE 13,091 (701)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the
Group’s liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from

Al ERBELERE YR

TRHALAEEREXBELEB2EE
BRERRENFRSED  REXBELRE
AREREFIRRATRESRAER 25
EHRERERTIEAMEXBRERELZ

financing activities are those for which BE-
cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.
Advances
from an
Lease Bank independent
liabilities  borrowings  third parties Total
—£BY
HEER RITIER E=HBX B
HK$°000 HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$°000
TAERT TET FTAET TAERT
At 1 April 2019 R-ZE-NENA—H 6,138 — — 6,138
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — B2 7 — — 33,989 33,989
Financing cash flows MERSRE (5,084) 8,296 (20,204) (16,992)
Finance costs BKER 190 453 761 1,404
New lease entered MEHEE 1,698 — — 1,698
Exchange realignment EZRHR (136) — — (136)
At 31 March 2020 R-EZEF
=B=+-H 2,806 8,749 14,546 26,101
Financing cash flows BERSHRE (6,466) 23,985 (15,454) 2,065
Finance costs BKER 313 1,234 908 2,455
New leases entered METHE 9,213 — — 9,213
Early termination of REZLILHES
leases (975) — — (975)
Exchange realignment  [EZRFAR 468 1,527 — 1,995
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE=-—F
=B=+-H 5,359 35,495 — 40,854
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. MAJOR NON-CASH
TRANSACTIONS

2021

a)

During the year ended 31 March 2021,
the Group entered info new lease
agreements for offices for 2 to 3 years.
On lease commencement, the Group
recognised right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities of HK$9,213,000.

2020

a)

b)

During the year ended 31 March 2020,
the Group entered into a new lease
agreement for office of 3 years. On
the lease commencement, the Group
recognised right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities of HK$1,698,000.

During the year ended 31 March
2020, the Group used 45% equity
interest of a wholly owned subsidiary,
Beijing Skyvior, as the consideration
to acquired 100% equity interest of
Hyperchannel Info. Upon completion
of the acquisition, the Company
indirectly held 55% effective equity
interest in Hyperchannel Info.

42.

ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

FTEFRERS

—_ZF-—
Q) BEZE-_—%=B=1+-—-HLE
B AEERBRLAZIT LHHEER
wAPWNE=F - RHEHERRKRE
AEERACHAEEERIEBEEES
&9,213,00058 7T °

= i

Q) BEZZE-ZZEFE=ZFA=+-—-HILE
B rAEETUFNHEERZ BB
=F o REERBE  XEEER
AEEERMEBHEESES1,698,000
BT ©

by BE-_E-_BE=F=+—-ALE
EAEEUZENBA DL RS
TARBREARERBEERE 2
100% B - RERZINBBIES - &
DR A E A 2 55% B i 1R
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

a)

D)

On 1 March 2021, the Company
signed a subscription agreement
with an independent third party,
Trinity Gate Limited, a company
incorporated in the BVI, with
limited liability for the subscription
of 278,000,000 shares at HKS$0.15
per share by issuing additional
shares. On 30 April 2021, a special
general meeting has passed, the
Company’s issued shares increased
to 1,668,656,816 and the Company
received approximately HKS$41,700,000
from the subscription. The transaction
is completed on 6 May 2021. Details of
the above fransaction are set out in
the Company’s announcements dated
1 March 2021, 30 April 2021 and 6 May
2021.

On 28 May 2021, the Company and
4 vendors in the PRC (“"Vendors”)
entered into an agreement for
potential sales and purchase of
100% equity interest (“Sale Capital”)
of a company established in the
PRC which is principally engaged in
development and sales of artificial
intelligence hardware and software.
The Vendors have agreed to sell the
Sale Capital for a total consideration
of HKS$63,000,000, which shall be
settled by procuring the Company
to issue and allot 191,000,000 shares.
The fransaction is not yet completed
as at the date of these consolidated
financial statements. Details of the
above transaction is set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 2
June 2021.

43. FEHREIR

a)

b)

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020-2021

R-ZE-_—F=AF—H > AQAHEH—
Z B % = J5 Trinity Gate Limited
(—EAREBEZEETMRL2E
RAB)MEBETHEHINRNDEER
0.157%8 Jt &% B& 278,000,000 f% B&k 4
B —BERBHZE KR=-ZT=-—FMN
B=1tH BEESERBRREFIXSE
FEBB XQATESBITBRMEMNE
1,668,656,8160% » MARATBEREE
HUWEIZ 41,700,000/ 8T - ZRFE
RIEBEZ—FHEAARHEK LR
SRHEBHEHRAARARA=-ZT -~
F=Z=BR—H -ZE=Z—FMA=1+H
—E--FHAARBZAL -

R-ZZF-_—-FHRA=-+N\B ' XQFH
HENERPEZELR(ES )RR
BEE-RBARPERLZAF(EER
EHBNREEATEEEAREMS) 2
100% e R (1 85 & B A 1) 77 3 — IH 1#
Z-BLNCESHEHERS AR
B % 63,000,000 7T - #&EBRER
7] 8% 47 ) B # 191,000,000 AR AR 17
ZHRNEN ZXIRZEFEUE
BRAYPERTHK - LR F 2515
BRARBAEHMB-ZT=-—FA A=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HEZZE-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

44. INFORMATION ABOUT 44. EBAR R R BERR 2 E R
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY
Information about the statement of BRAARQATRBREPR 2 BEMRR K Z2ER
financial position of the Company at the B

end of the reporting period includes:

2021 2020
—E--F C"E-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEBT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RTB DR 2 131,761 152,125
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR T B~ R FRIE 25,353 16,045
Bank balances RITER 10,448 42,149
35,801 58,194
Current liability REBEE
Other payables and accrued Hitt e RIEREGTER
charges 628 814
Net current assets REBEEFE 35,173 57,380
Net assets EEFE 166,934 209,505
Capital and reserves BEXRK#E
Share capital (Note 32) IR 7R (B =£ 32) 13,907 13,907
Share premium and reserves Iz 0 8 & A (e
(Note) 153,027 195,598
166,934 209,505
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE-Z-—F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

44. INFORMATION ABOUT
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

A4. RBAARRBAHBARR 2 EHR ()

Note: Mz -
Movement in the Company’s share premium and AATRDEERFHEEE
reserves
Capital
Share Contribution redemption  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
BRARE BHEH lieN el RitEE Fob ]
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FTERT TER TER TER
At 1 April 2019 R-Z-NEMA—H 2,025,611 262,143 446 (2,013,306) 274,894
Loss for the year FEBR — — — (79.296) (79,296)
At 31 March 2020 RZE-ZEF=HA=+-H 2,025,611 262,143 446 (2.092,602) 195,598
Loss for the year FEBR — — — (42,571) (42,571)
At 31 March 2021 WZZE-—-f=A=1+-H 2,025,611 262,143 446 (2,135,173) 153,027
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M=

The consolidated results and assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the audited financial

statements are as follows:

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1-HLEE

FEERBEAEMRFEZGEXEREER
BENHZAEERVHHRER - HIWOT

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
“E-t¥ ZE-N\F ZEBE-NF CZBZZF ZB--F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$’000
T TET TET TR TR
(Restated)  (Restated)
(E5)) (ZE7))
RESULTS E4
Continuing operations: SELEER
Revenue A 24,026 34,910 18,206 153,288 206,605
Loss before tax BRBLAIE (49,835) (45,889) (21,219) (60,634) (71,042)
Income tax (expense) credit FiEH (Fi%)ER (1,202) (18) 6 155 1,121
Loss for the year from REFELSEER
continuing operations FEFE (51,037) (45,907) (21,213) (60,479) (69,921)
Loss for the year from RELEREEKY
discontinued operations FEERE — (11,889) (10,827) (3,258) (374)
Loss for the year aftributable AR REEABLEEE
to owners of the Company: &
— from continuing — REFELEXR
operations (48,753) (46,153) (20,508) (65,121) (56,889)
— from discontinued — RELKLEEEK
operations - (11,889) (10,827) (3,114) (302)
(48,753) (68,042) (31,335) (68,235) (57,191)
(Loss) profit for the year FEREREEFE
attributable to non- (B8) &7
controlling inferests:
— from continuing — REBELEEK
operations (2,284) 246 (705) (5,358) (13,032)
— from discontinued — REALLEEK
operations — — — (144) (72)
(2,284) 246 (705) (6,502) (13,104)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MEE=E

As at 31 March

R=A=+-8
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
2t ZB-N\F ZE-NF ZTZEF ZBZ-§
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THET THERT TET TET TAERT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE
Property and equipment  ¥ERH%E 2,029 805 837 993 473
Right-of-use assets TREEE — — — 1,825 2,260
Film right and film EXMERRERFES
production in progress 31,600 1,620 117 — —
Rental deposits Here 3,796 555 555 108 1,333
Interests in associates N =RNCIPR — 1,143 1,390 1,218 1,195
Goodwill EE — — 19,949 12,126 1,396
Intangible assets BYEE 1,385 1,385 6,162 7,454 5,366
Financial assets at fair RAFEESAESR
value through profit or ZERMEE
loss — — 5,379 715 1,802
Net current assets REBEEFE 325,210 305,872 269,187 213,834 160,377
364,020 311,380 303,576 238,273 174,202
Non-current liabilities kRBEE (712) (698) (1,384) (2,554) (1,628)
363,308 310,682 302,192 235,719 172,574
Share capital [N 13.907 13,907 13,907 13,907 13,907
Share premium and BiDEERHE
reserves 354,816 302,234 270,842 206,962 151,383
Equity attributable to AR HEEAELER
owners of the Company 368,723 316,141 284,749 220,869 165,290
Non-controlling interests  JEiZRRER (5,415) (5,459) 17,443 14,850 7,284
363,308 310,682 302,192 235,719 172,574

The comparative information for each of year
ended 31 March 2017 and 2018 has not been
restated on initial application of HKFRS 9, HKFRS

15 and HKFRS 16.

BE-Z—tER-Z-\F=ZA=1+—-HLHF
EEF LRENVTERNEEATBHBRS
EREOR BRMBRELANF1SRKRERY

BRELEE16RED -
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